

Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Dissertations Graduate College

5-2010

Assessing Michigan School Counselors' Preparedness to Meet the Needs of Attractional/Sexual Minority Students

J. Frederick Bland Western Michigan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations

Part of the Counseling Commons, Counseling Psychology Commons, and the Educational Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Bland, J. Frederick, "Assessing Michigan School Counselors' Preparedness to Meet the Needs of Attractional/Sexual Minority Students" (2010). *Dissertations*. 649. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations/649

This Dissertation-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.



ASSESSING MICHIGAN SCHOOL COUNSELORS' PREPAREDNESS TO MEET THE NEEDS OF ATTRACTIONAL/SEXUAL MINORITY STUDENTS

by

J. Frederick Bland

A Dissertation
Submitted to the
Faculty of The Graduate College
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the
Degree of Doctor of Philosophy
Department of Counselor Education and Counseling Psychology
Advisor: Gary H. Bischof, Ph.D.

Western Michigan University Kalamazoo, Michigan May 2010

ASSESSING MICHIGAN SCHOOL COUNSELORS' PREPAREDNESS TO MEET THE NEEDS OF ATTRACTIONAL/SEXUAL MINORITY STUDENTS

J. Frederick Bland, Ph.D.

Western Michigan University, 2010

This study assessed the attitudes, skills, knowledge, graduate counseling training, and willingness to engage in professional development of Michigan school counselors regarding issues and concerns of students who identify as lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender, and students who are questioning their attractional orientation (LGBTQ).

A total of 120 Michigan school counselors completed useable surveys either online or a paper-and-pencil version at a Michigan school counseling conference.

Descriptive statistics were calculated for the demographic variables age, gender, ethnicity, attractional/sexual orientation, and professional characteristics such as years of school counseling experience, school level, and school location (urban, suburban, rural). One-way ANOVAs were used to determine statistical significance for the previously mentioned independent variables with the dependent variables being the Attitudes, Skills/Experiences, and Knowledge subscales of the Sexual Orientation Counselor Competency Scale (SOCCS; Bidell, 2005), and overall rating of graduate school counseling training.

Results indicated: (a) no statistically significant differences regarding *attitudes* among the independent variables; (b) statistical significance regarding *skills/experiences*

was found only with the collapsed variables for ethnic background and attractional orientation, with White and nonheterosexual participants scoring higher on this subscale; and (c) regarding knowledge, statistical significance was found only with attractional/sexual orientation, with nonheterosexual participants scoring higher on knowledge of LGBTO issues. Overall, school counselors in this study believed that their graduate school counseling training programs did not adequately prepare them to competently work with attractional minority students. Participants believed they were better prepared to work with gay males and less ians and less prepared to work with biattractional, transgender, and questioning youth. The 30-39 age group believed themselves to be better prepared than older groups, and the 60 and above age group reported being the least prepared to work with LGBTQ students. Participants indicated they were willing to participate in professional development activities in this area and rated the top three continuing education activities as taking a course, attending an inservice training, and reading professional literature on LGBTQ issues. Implications for school counselor education programs and continuing education are presented, and recommendations for future research are offered.

	-	
	4.4	

UMI Number: 3410421

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3410421
Copyright 2010 by ProQuest LLC.
All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 Copyright by J. Frederick Bland 2010

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This section is dedicated to those who have contributed to my achieving this doctoral degree. Many have contributed through words, deeds, thoughts, and prayers.

Therefore, if I inadvertently omit a name, please know that it is a mistake of the head and not the heart. Everyone's contribution(s) to my completing this doctorate is highly treasured.

First, I give praise and honor to my Savior and Lord Jesus Christ whose love lifted me. I give glory to God the Father for blessing me with the desire and perseverance, as well as the emotional, psychological, and financial means, to accomplish the goal of earning this doctorate. To God Be the Glory!

I give honor and respect to the following individuals for being major spiritual influences in my life. The late Adrian Travelle Davis, a school-aged youth, whose life inspired this dissertation topic. The late Dr. Mattie Moss Clark, who taught me how to sing as a choir member and as a lead singer—it was through Dr. Clark that I learned and accepted the love of God in my heart through gospel music. The late Elder Reuben T. Branch, Founding Pastor of the Glad Tidings Church of God in Christ, Detroit, Michigan, who, before mentoring became popular, mentored me and spoke success into my life when I was 14 years old and instructed me by precept and example how to become a responsible man. Elder Frank Hampton, Jr., Pastor of the Church of God, Jackson, Michigan, through whom I learned that God hears and answers prayers and that "God is

everything that He says He is or He's nothing that He says He is." I appreciate Rev. Dr. Addis Moore (Senior Pastor, Mt. Zion Baptist Church, Kalamazoo, Michigan); Rev. Lenzy E. Bell (Pastor, First United Baptist Church, Kalamazoo, Michigan); and Rev. Neal C. Smith III (Pastor, Allen Chapel African Methodist Episcopal Church, Kalamazoo, Michigan), under whose pastorates I joyfully served as Music Director during my doctoral program. Finally, I wish to thank the Rev. Dr. Charles C. Warfield who spoke success into my life when he said to me, "Frederick, there's a doctorate in you." Dr. Warfield saw in me what I did not see in myself and, eventually, his faith became my sight.

I pay homage to historic individuals of the past and present who inspired my doctoral pursuit, which include: the late Bayard Rustin—same-gender attracted civil rights activist and primary figure in organizing the 1963 March on Washington; the late Medgar Evers—slain civil rights/human rights activist; the late Rev. Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.—slain Drum Major for Justice and Peace; Daisy Bates and the Little Rock Nine—Ms. Bates coordinated the integration of nine African-American students into the Little Rock Central High School in Little Rock Arkansas in 1957; James Meredith, the first African-American student to be admitted to and graduated from the University of Mississippi ("Ole Miss") in 1962; and Dr. Elson S. Floyd, who became the first African-American president of Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo, Michigan, in 1998.

I honor two educators who influenced my early childhood: Ms. Morgan, my second grade teacher and first African-American female teacher, and Mr. William J.

Colden, my fourth grade teacher and first African-American male teacher. Both teachers showed a remarkable understanding of children and taught with love and compassion at the Willard Elementary School, Highland Park, Michigan. As an African-American male child, I saw in Mr. William J. Colden the type of adult man I wanted to become.

I give recognition to the late Mr. Richard "Dick" Heystek, former supervisor in the Department of Public Works (Sewer Construction) for the City of Kalamazoo, who saw my academic and professional potential and "strongly encouraged" me to cease digging ditches, get back in college, and accomplish my undergraduate education.

Many wonderful people traveled with me through this doctoral journey, including Larry A. Bland (eldest brother) and Rev. Fletcher Bland (twin brother), Noah Bland (father), and Ida Louise Bland ("Godmom"), whose support has been invaluable. In addition, I thank Aulanda R. Banks, Thelma Barnum, Andre L. Breeding, Ashanti J. Bryant, Minister Thomas L. Butler, Grant Chandler, Myron E. Cobbs, Thomas D. Cobb, Dee Caudle, LeAnne Daglow, Alan D. Dozier, Barbara Jean Harris (affectionately called "Big Sis."), Paralee V. Harris, Eunice F. Johnson, Kalamazoo Central High School school counselors and staff, James E. Madden II, David L. Mayer, Renard T. McFarland, Gayle S. McMillon, Steven A. Meeks, James J. Nichols, Dr. Amorie Robinson (a.k.a. Kofi Adoma), Susan Schewe, Gregory D. Takyi, and Carey J. Whitfield. Thank you.

I give a special tribute to my mother, Josephine Bland, who is my shero! To my mother who taught me to pray, love God, have self-respect and respect for others, and value education. To my mother, who believed in me when others doubted and cheered me

on to experience many successes. To my mother, who, as a single parent, created a safe home where my siblings and I could develop to our fullest potential. To my mother, who prayed with me and stayed with me through my ups and downs, through sunshine and rain, and through huge smiles and bitter tears. To my mother, who always told me to "Have some get up about yourself!" Mom, I am who I am, because, in you, I saw an excellent example of "get up," perseverance, faith, and humanity.

I extend words of appreciation to my fellow doctoral students at Western Michigan University, which include Sherrie Y. Fuller, Joe Johnson, Ladel Lewis, Walter T. Malone, Candy S. McCorkle, and LaSonda Wells. I thank the following people who have provided advice and encouragement during my doctoral pursuit: Linda M. Comrie, Griselda Daniel, Dr. Lonnie E. Duncan, Dr. Theresa O'Halloran, Dr. Beulah Lateef, Dr. Robin E. McKinney, Dr. Joseph R. Morris, and Dr. Donna M. Talbot. I extend love and appreciation to the Young Black Males Support Network (YBMSN) at Western Michigan University, who allowed me to serve as their Senior Graduate Advisor since 2004. The YBMSN is an awesome group of goal-oriented and goal-directed collegiate young men of color who provided me with encouragement and support throughout my doctoral studies. A special "shout out" to the following YBMSN presidents whose administrations I served: Charles C. Golden, Ron Roberts, Justin A. Campbell, and Rashad Thomas. Additionally, I extend peace and blessings to The Voices of Western Michigan University Gospel Choir who, for over thirty years, has been a source of spiritual inspiration on the

campus of Western Michigan University, to the surrounding communities, as well as in my personal life.

I extend an attitude of gratitude to Drs. Markus P. Bidell and Julia C. Phillips for the use of their survey instruments for this dissertation study. I extend heartfelt thanks to Patty Horning, President of the Michigan School Counselor Association (MSCA), and Jaymes Pyne, also from MSCA for greatly assisting me during the data collection phase of this dissertation study. I thank the Michigan School Counselor Association and the Association of Michigan School Counselors for assisting me with obtaining research participants. I extend words of appreciation to Dr. Marianne Di Pierro, Director, Graduate Center for Research and Retention, and Mr. Tony O. Dennis, Director, Graduate Student Recruitment and Retention at Western Michigan University, for guidance, advice, encouragement, and support. A special thank you to Dr. Jessie L. Grant and Dr. Glinda J. Rawls, two phenomenal people, whose phone calls and e-mails provided invaluable knowledge, inspiration, and support during the "last lap" of my dissertation research. Finally, I thank Hope Smith for her professionalism in the editing and formatting of this dissertation.

Finally, I wish to thank my dream team dissertation committee: Drs. Gary H.

Bischof, Suzanne Hedstrom, and Mark Orbe, who believed in me and guided me through the comprehensive examination and doctoral dissertation processes. I am honored that Dr. Gary H. Bischof served as my dissertation chair. Dr. Bischof witnessed a range of my emotions as I faced many academic and life challenges. He allowed me to be

"authentically me" and exhibited unwavering commitment relative to assisting me with completing this dissertation study. Dr. Bischof has been more than a dissertation chair, but also a mentor and one to emulate as I seek to enter the professoriate. I thank Dr. Suzanne Hedstrom, who has provided guidance, support, and inspiration through the years, during both my master's and doctoral programs. Dr. Hedstrom is very much appreciated and I hold her in the highest esteem. I thank Dr. Mark Orbe for always making himself available for consultation, whether contacted via telephone or e-mail. Dr. Orbe further spoke success into my doctoral pursuit and is an excellent example of a student-centered educator, an example to be emulated.

Once again, I extend a heartfelt "Thank You" to everyone (mentioned or not mentioned) who has contributed to the completion of this doctoral program and/or other successes in life. I bid everyone peace and blessings.

J. Frederick Bland

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	xvi
CHAPTER	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Background of the Problem	2
Statement of the Problem	9
Statement of Purpose	12
Significance of the Study	14
Re-definitions of Key Terms	16
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	22
Adolescent Tasks	23
Adolescent Attractionality	24
Heteroattractional Bias	25
Heteroattractional Privilege	28
Adolescent Homoattractionality	29
Prevalence of Attractional Minority Students	32
Homoattractional Identity Formulation in Adolescents	34
The Cass Six-Stage Model of Homoattractional Identity Development	35

The Coleman Five-Stage Model of Homoattractional Identity Development	40
The Troiden Four-Stage Model of Homoattractional Identity Development	42
Transgender Identity Development	45
Validation of the Stage Models	47
Other Models of Homoattractional Identity Development	48
Attractional Identity Development in Racial and Ethnic Minorities	51
Attractional Orientation and U.S. Public Schools	56
The Hetero-sexualized Context of U.S. Public Schools	57
U.S. Public Schools and Attractional Minority Youth	59
School Experiences of Attractional Minority Youth	61
School Climate	62
Victimization	66
Social Isolation and Alienation	71
School Attendance and Dropping Out	74
School Curriculum and Resources	76
Attractional Minority Youth At-Risk	77
Suicide	78
Substance Abuse	80
Family Conflict and Homelessness	82

Sexually Transmitted Diseases	84
Attractional Minority Youth and Resilience	85
School Counselors and Attractional Minority Students	88
School Counselors' Attitudes Regarding Attractional Minority Students	89
School Counselors' Experiences Working With Attractional Minority Students	91
School Counselors' Training Related to Attractional Minority Students	93
Attractional Minority Students' Perception of School Counselors	96
Legal Responsibilities of Schools Toward Attractional Minority Students	99
Title IX of the 1972 Federal Education Amendment	99
The Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protection Clause 1	l 00
Ethical Responsibilities of Schools Toward Attractional Minority Students	105
School Counselors' Responsibility According to ASCA 1	05
The Preamble of the ASCA Ethical Standards	l 0 6
The Purpose of the ASCA Standards	l 0 7
ASCA Ethical Standards Applied to Attractional Minority Students 1	09
A.1 – Responsibilities to Students	l 09
A.3 – Counseling Plans	l 11
A.5 – Appropriate Referrals 1	11

	C.2. – Sharing Information With Other Professionals
	E.2. – Diversity
	F. Responsibilities to the Profession
	School Counselors' Responsibility to Attractional Minority Students According to MSCA
	Transforming School Counseling for Social Justice
	Social Justice
	School Counseling for Social Justice
	American Counseling Association – Advocacy Competencies
	The Education Trust – Transforming School Counseling
	Summary
Ш.	METHODOLOGY
	Research Design
	Participants and Sampling
	Data Collection Procedures
	Research Context: Online Survey and Paper-and-Pencil Survey 132
	Online Survey Procedure
	Paper-and-Pencil Survey Procedures
	Survey Response Rate
	Instrument: The Survey
	Demographic Information

	Human Institutional Review	5
	Research Questions for the Current Study	5
	Statistical Analyses	9
	Summary	0
IV.	RESULTS	2
	Demographics and Professional Profile	3
	Age	3
	Gender and Ethnic Background	4
	Attractional/Sexual Orientation	5
	Graduate Counseling Program	5
	School Counselor Credential	6
	School Counseling Association Membership	6
	Years of School Counseling Experience	8
	Years of Counseling Experience Outside of School Setting	9
	Type of School and Current School Level(s)	0
	School Locale and County of School	2
	Gay Straight Alliance (GSA)	2
	Data Analyses	4
	Descriptive Statistics	4
	SOCCS Total Score	5

	Research Question 1 – Attitude	. 167
	Research Question 2 – Skills/Experiences	. 169
	Research Question 3 – Knowledge	. 172
	Research Question 4 – Training	. 176
	Research Question 5 – Professional Development	. 180
	Professional Development Activities	. 181
	Most Helpful Continuing Education Activities	. 182
	Additional School Counselors' Perspectives on LGBTQ Issues and Training	. 184
	School Counselor Role With LGBTQ Students	. 185
	Estimates of LGBTQ Students in Their School	. 186
	Experiences With LGBTQ Issues in Graduate Counseling Programs	. 187
	Course Solely Devoted to LGBTQ Counseling Issues	. 189
	LGBTQ Concerns Infused Into Courses	. 190
	Preparation by Coursework to Work With Types of LGBTQ Students	. 194
V.	DISCUSSION	. 197
	Demographics and Professional Profile Information	. 198
	Age	. 198
	Gender	. 199
	Ethnic Background.	. 199

	Attractional/Sexual Orientation	200
	Graduate Counseling Program	201
	Overview of the Study's Significant Findings	201
	Descriptive Statistics	201
	Attitude	202
	Skills/Experiences	203
	Knowledge	206
	Overall Graduate Counseling Program Training	207
	Professional Development	208
	Additional School Counselors' Perspectives	210
	Role of School Counselor	210
	Experiences With LGBTQ Issues in Graduate Counseling Programs	212
	Limitations of the Study	217
	Recommendations for Future Research	219
	Implications for Graduate School Counselor Education	223
	Implications for Professional Development and Continuing Education	225
	Conclusion	227
APPEN	NDICES	
A.	Western Michigan University Human Subjects Institutional Review Board Letters of Approval	228

APPENDICES

B.	E-mail and Letter Granting Permission to Use Instruments	231
C.	Text of E-mail for Recruitment of Participants	234
D.	Informed Consent	237
E.	Online Survey	241
F.	Paper-and-Pencil Survey	257
RIRI	IOGR APHY	267

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Demographics of Study Participants
2.	Details of Graduate Counseling Program and School Counseling Credentials
3.	Professional School Counselor Association Membership
4.	Years of Counseling Experiences
5.	School Types and Levels
6.	Location of Schools
7.	Gay Straight Alliance
8.	One-Way ANOVAs—Total Score
9.	One-Way ANOVAs—Attitudes Subscale of the SOCCS
10.	One-Way ANOVAs—Skills Subscale of the SOCCS
11.	One-Way ANOVAs—Knowledge Subscale of the SOCCS
12.	SOCCS Mean Scores of Counselor Competency
13.	Overall Belief Regarding Graduate Counseling Training Toward LGBTQ Students
14.	One-Way ANOVAs—Overall Perception of Adequate Graduate Training on LGBTQ Issues
15.	Post Hoc Tests—Overall Perception of Adequate Graduate Training— Age of Participants
16.	Post Hoc Tests—Overall Perception of Adequate Graduate Training— Years of School Counseling Experience (Collapsed)

List of Tables—Continued

17.	Willingness to Participate in Professional Development Activities Regarding LGBTQ Issues	
18.	Most Helpful Continuing Education Activities Regarding LGBTQ Issues	183
19.	School Counselors' Role With LGBTQ Students	186
20.	Issues in Graduate Counseling Training	188
21.	Course Devoted to LGBTQ Student Issues	190
22.	LGBTQ Concerns Infused Into Courses	191
23.	One-Way ANOVAs—LGBTQ Concerns Infused Into Courses	192
24.	Preparation by Coursework to Work With Types of LGBTQ Students	195

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

On a daily basis, school counselors are responsible for executing a myriad of activities that are designed to enhance the intellectual, career, psychological, physical, and social development of all students. Students will self-refer or are referred to school counselors to receive assistance with a number of issues through counseling activities including, but not limited to, career planning, college selection, academic counseling, values clarification, course scheduling, developing decision-making skills, parents and teachers' conferences, group counseling, and counseling for personal/social considerations. Locke (1979), in his study assessing the functions and competencies of school counselors in North Carolina, found that at least 80% of the respondents reported being able to perform the previously mentioned counseling activities "with ease" (p. 24). Campbell and Dahir (1997) state, "school counselors work with all students, school staff, families, and members of the community as an integral part of the education program" (p. 8). However, there is a significant body of literature that suggests that the developmental needs of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender youth, and youth who are questioning their sexual orientation (LGBTQ; also referred to as sexual minority youth or same-gender attracted youth) are not being met or even addressed by the majority of school counselors in public, private, and parochial schools (Bailey & Phariss, 1996; Pollock, 2006; K. E. Robinson, 1994). As a result, sexual minority youth are considered

to be at-risk for dropping out of school, substance abuse, running away from home, sexually transmitted diseases, and suicide (Hershberger & D'Augelli, 1995; Jordan, 2000; Rotheram-Borus, Rosario, et al., 1994; S. T. Russell, 2003; Savin-Williams, 1994).

This study focuses on school counselors' abilities to meet the developmental needs of sexual minority students in Michigan schools. Specifically, this study assesses:

(a) the attitudes, knowledge, and skills of school counselors regarding issues of sexual orientation and sexual minority students; (b) the training that school counselors have received as it relates to working with sexual minority students in Michigan schools; and (c) school counselors' willingness to engage in professional development as it relates to issues of sexual orientation and sexual minority students. Implications for school counselor education programs and comprehensive school guidance counseling programs are discussed.

Background of the Problem

Adolescence is a challenging time when teens are attempting to master cognitive, social, and developmental tasks (Hetrick & Martin, 1987). Often, they are expected to make adult-like decisions when faced with adult experiences without the necessary tools, resources, information, and guidance to do so. During this phase of life, the adolescent begins to ask questions that are existential in nature such as "Who am I?" and "What is my purpose in life?" The focus is on the physical, cognitive, psychological, and social tasks of development. This can be a tumultuous period in the life of an adolescent with or without adequate and available resources to consult and confer (Fontaine & Hammond, 1996).

One of the major tasks of adolescence is identity formulation and consolidation: discovering oneself and the purpose of being (Fontaine & Hammond, 1996). According to Erikson (1963), identity formation is the most important developmental task in adolescence because it serves as a trajectory to peer group interaction and acceptance, which further aid the adolescent in continuing to consolidate his or her self-concept. Another major component of this identity formation is sexual identity formulation: who one is as a sexual being (Fontaine & Hammond, 1996). Research regarding the development of sexual identity indicates that the process can begin during pre-puberty, puberty or early adolescence (Bailey & Phariss, 1996; Cass, 1979; Fischer, 1995; Uribe, 1994) and could possibly continue well into the post high school years (i.e., college) where the environment allows for freedom to explore issues of sexual identity (Fischer, 1995; Morrison & L'Heureux, 2001; Savin-Williams, 1995).

Sexual identity formulation for heterosexual adolescents can be a time of affirmation, praise, and positive self-imaging, having adequate and ample support, counsel, role models, and resources for building a positive self-concept. Due to societal and peer affirmation and the availability of literary and human resources, development of a heterosexual identity requires very little thought or conscious effort (Fontaine & Hammond, 1996). However, what about those adolescents who are struggling with the possibility of same-gender attraction? In what numbers do such adolescents exist? When does the process of sexual identity formulation begin for such adolescents?

Estimates suggest that there may be approximately 3,000,000 youth between ages 10–20 who are either predominantly or exclusively homosexual (Herring & Furgerson, 2000). Yet a study conducted in a five-county area in the southeast region of the state of

Michigan found that some high school counselors denied that their schools had any samegender attracted students (Gay, Lesbian and Straight Teachers Network of Detroit [GLSTN-Detroit], 1996).

Kissen (1993) surveyed gay and lesbian students attending public and parochial high schools in 17 states and one foreign country to assess perceptions of their teachers regarding sexual minority student issues. This study concluded that teachers who ignored or derided homosexuals (gay males and lesbians) might have been unaware that they had homosexual students in their classes. This denial of gay youth was also one of the findings of a more recent study assessing urban services providers' perspectives on school responses to sexual minority students (Varjas et al., 2007). Varjas et al. quoted one of the service providers' account of a school principal who expressed, "like, come on, are there gay kids? A lot of people can not wrap their minds around . . . that there are gay youth" (p. 115). Ginsberg's (1998) study sought to answer the question, "To what extent do middle and high school educators contribute to the problems of gay/lesbian adolescents?" (p. 3). The results of that study indicate that each time a middle or high school teacher addresses a class, there is likely to be one or more sexual minority students in attendance and the educator could, unknowingly, be contributing to their pain.

When does the process of sexual identity development begin for LGBTQ youth? Fischer (1995) posits that between the ages of 11 and 16, sexual minority adolescents begin to realize that there is something different about them. However, a study conducted by D'Augelli and Hershberger (1993) found that 13% of the sample of youths 21 years and younger reported awareness of same-gender attraction by age 5. Furthermore, Anderson (1998) studied a sample of gay male youths taken from 4-year college and

community college support groups to assess strengths and resilience. Results indicated that 89.6% of the respondents experienced preadolescent sense of difference at an average age of 7.2. Therefore, research supports the reality that same-gender attracted individuals do not all of a sudden appear in adulthood, but their same-gender affection may have started very early in life.

Just as heterosexual youth go through a period of identity formulation, clarification, and consolidation, so do LGBTQ youth. This period of formulation, clarification, and consolidation of sexual identity is accomplished through several processes including peer comparison, affirmation from peers, and confirmation from society (Fontaine & Hammond, 1996). Micro-systems such as family, community, church, and school also influence this process. In addition, these micro-systems are greatly influenced by macro-systems, which include politics, judicial systems, mass media, national and state policies, and prevalent cultural values (Morrison & L'Heureux, 2001). The avenues that are openly available to heterosexual adolescents that tend towards a healthy sexual identity (e.g., peers, family, church, and school), are, in most instances, unavailable to most adolescents who are dealing with same-gender attraction and feelings of differentness (Anderson, 1998; Telljohann & Price, 1993). Further, school libraries are generally bereft of positive and relevant information on same-gender attraction (Fischer, 1995). When information regarding same-gender attraction is given, in most instances, it is presented in such a negative, derogatory, and dehumanizing way (e.g., fundamentalist religion) that the adolescent's exploration is bombarded with feelings of guilt, shame, and fear. In many instances, such feelings lead to depression and

insecurity, which may serve as trajectories to school problems, substance abuse, running away, prostitution, and suicide (Savin-Williams, 1994).

Sexual identity issues have been noted as one of the key risk factors for adolescent suicide (Rotheram-Borus, Hunter, & Rosario, 1994; S. T. Russell, 2003; Schneider, Farberow, & Kruks, 1989), with gay and lesbian youth being three times more likely to commit suicide than heterosexual youth (Gibson, 1989). A study conducted by Gibson found that 30% of teen suicides completed were committed by youth dealing with sexual identity issues. A more recent study indicated that homosexual and bisexual adolescent males were seven times more likely to have attempted suicide than their heterosexual peers (Remafedi, French, Story, Resnick, & Blum, 1998). In most instances, the primary reason for suicidal attempts and suicide was not the realization of samegender attraction but the debilitating effects of growing up in a homophobic society (Savin-Williams, 1994). Additionally, studies indicate that sexual minority youth (a) are confronted with physical and verbal abuse (Anthanases & Larrabee, 2003; Cato & Canetto, 2003; Harris Interactive & GLSEN [Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network, formerly known as GLSTN]), 2005; Henning-Stout, James, & Macintosh, 2000; Human Rights Watch, 2001; Safe Schools Coalition of Washington, 1995); (b) have a disproportionately high dropout rate compared to the general student population (GLSEN, 2005b; 2006; GLSTN-Detroit, 1996; Uribe, 1994); (c) suffer from comorbid alcohol and drug abuse (Blake et al., 2001; Jordan, 2000; Orenstein, 2001; Thompson & Johnston, 2003; Wu et al., 2004); and (d) find the educational milieu to be more stressful than their heterosexual peers (Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; GLSTN-Detroit, 1996).

Sexual minority adolescents, once an invisible group, are becoming increasingly visible (Bailey & Phariss, 1996). The visibility of LGBT television personalities living openly, the media coverage of political and religious debates on the topics of same-sex marriage and civil unions, as well as an increasing number of LGBT individuals "coming out" to their families and friends, thus living openly and very visible in their neighborhoods, have raised awareness regarding same-gender attraction. Further, an increased emphasis on tolerance, embracing multiculturalism, and respecting diversity are helping to create an atmosphere wherein an increasing number of school-age youth are able to "recognize and label same-gender attractions at a very early age" (Floyd & Stein, 2002, p. 170). Therefore, sexual minority youth are accepting their sexual orientation, embracing it, and disclosing it to significant others at very young ages (Denizet-Lewis, 2009; Sanders & Kroll, 2000). Unfortunately, the increase in the number of visibly sexual minority students is also resulting in an increase in verbal harassment and various abuses towards these students coming from family, peers, and adults in the school setting (D'Augelli, 1998; D'Augelli & Hershberger, 1993; Evans, 1998). Dunham (1989) states, "What helping professionals are beginning to realize is that these 'invisible' students are becoming more visible each day through increased numbers of referrals to school counselors, school social workers, substance abuse personnel, and varied support staff" (p. 5). Dunham's statement made 20 years ago appears to hold true today. Unfortunately, in spite of the increase in violence toward sexual minority students, school administrators, faculty, counselors, teachers, religious leaders, parents, and other helping professionals are not adequately responding to the problem (Thurlow, 2001).

In school settings, sexual minority youth, those perceived as being such, and, in some instances, those who simply associate with sexual minority youth (Malinsky, 1997), are frequently discriminated against, prejudged, verbally harassed, and physically and emotionally abused by both peers and adults. Often, the perpetrators of the harassment and abuse continue to do so without consequences for their behavior, sending a message to the harasser that his or her behavior is sanctioned, and to the harassed that his or her life has no sanctity (Human Rights Watch, 2001).

With an increasing number of self-identified sexual minority students in the school setting, there is an increased need for affirming literature, resources and support groups on behalf of the students as well as skills training and understanding on the part of those who are currently working in schools or will be employed in the future (e.g., administrators, teachers, school counselors, school psychologists, bus drivers) (Pope, 2003).

As previously stated, sexual minority students in the school setting are frequently discriminated against, face physical and emotional abuses by peers and adults, and are becoming more visible each day through increased numbers of referrals to school counselors. Therefore, how are school counselors responding to referrals regarding sexual minority students? What are the attitudes of school counselors toward sexual minority students? What perceptions do school counselors hold regarding their ability to effectively and competently work with sexual minority students? Do school counselors believe that they have been appropriately prepared and adequately trained to meet the needs of sexual minority students? Do school counselors believe that specialized training regarding sexual minority students is necessary and currently needed?

Statement of the Problem

Graduate school counseling training programs and comprehensive school guidance programs are designed to prepare school counselors to competently meet the academic, personal, social, and vocational needs of all students (American School Counseling Association [ASCA], 2004; Pelsma & Krieshok, 2003). However, do graduate school counseling training programs provide school counselors with the necessary education and training to adequately prepare them to meet the academic, personal, social, and vocational needs of sexual minority students?

GLSTN-Detroit (1996) conducted a study assessing the school climate for sexual minority students in five southeast counties in the state of Michigan. Data were gathered from a questionnaire that assessed heterosexual and LGBTQ students' perceptions regarding the school climate for sexual minority students. Results indicated that verbal harassment, the use of gay slurs, isolation due to rejection, and emotional and psychological stress were "common problems" in the K-12 public, parochial, and independent schools of those counties surveyed (p. 6). Nearly 10 years later, Kosciw and Diaz (2006) conducted a study assessing the school climate for sexual minority students in all 50 states and the District of Columbia. During the Kosciw and Diaz study, the school climate for sexual minority students in Michigan was simultaneously assessed and data were collected. The findings of the Michigan school climate assessment reported by GLSEN (2005b) mirrored the findings of the GLSTN-Detroit (1996) study. The GLSEN (2005b) key findings indicated that (a) bullying, name calling, and harassment are serious problems; (b) biased and demeaning language (e.g., "faggot," "dyke," "that's so gay,"

"you're so gay") is a considerable problem; (c) physical harassment and assault "were not uncommon"; (d) most sexual minority students did not feel safe in school; (e) sexual minority students were experiencing poorer academic outcomes than their heterosexual peers; (f) sexual minority students lacked access to LGBTQ affirming resources and support in their schools; and (g) Michigan public schools lacked school personnel who worked openly as lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender to serve as role models. This lack of school personnel working openly as LGBT individuals to serve as role models for sexual minority students in Michigan schools supports the findings that they "may choose to remain hidden because they fear the loss of the their job and rarely receive signs from their administrators that their school is safe" (GLSTN-Detroit, 1996, p. 13).

The data in the Michigan report were consistent with the key findings of the national school climate survey (Kosciw & Diaz, 2006), which found that biased remarks, harassment, and assaults toward sexual minority students were not endemic to Michigan, but pandemic for sexual minority students nationwide. Thus, the phenomenon of an unsafe school climate for sexual minority students is not only a state problem, but also a national one. The GLSEN (2005b) study reporting the unsafe school climate for sexual minority students in Michigan reflects the voices of sexual minority students. To date, however, no study has been identified that solely addresses school counselors' perceptions of their current or potential effect on school climate for sexual minority students in Michigan.

School has a major influence on youths' academic, social, and emotional functioning because it is the primary context for pubescent and adolescent development (Roeser, Eccles, & Sameroff, 2000) irrespective of sexual orientation. The responses of

middle and high school counselors received special attention in this study for several reasons. First, studies indicate that it is in middle school that students are most likely to show poor academic achievement as a result of low motivation to learn as well as the onset of negative peer associations that leads to negative conduct (Carnegie Council, 1995) regardless of sexual orientation. Second, "the acquisition of a homosexual identity is a long process, the critical time often beginning during the middle school years" (Uribe, 1994, p. 169; see also Denizet-Lewis, 2009). The struggle with sexual identity as a middle school and high school issue is supported by a Minnesota study (Remafedi, Resnick, Blum, & Harris, 1992), in which 35,000 junior and senior high school students with diverse demographic backgrounds were surveyed. Findings indicated that the following percentages of children at their respective ages were unsure of their sexual orientation: 25.9% at age 12 years, 17.4% at age 13, 12.2% at age 14, and 7.0% at age 15. These findings suggest that students experiencing sexual identity conflict are greatly represented at both the middle and high school levels. In addition, Weiler's (2004) discussion of the legal and moral obligation that schools have toward sexual minority students posits that "by the time they reach middle school, most sexual minority students realize that they are physically and emotionally attracted to people of the same gender" (p. 40). Jones' (2000) discussion on sexual minority students in his article "The New Minority to Protect under Title IX," suggests that, whether we like it or not, public schools have become part of the coming-out process for sexual minority students. Third, data from an ethnographic study conducted in the United Kingdom on sixth grade students (ages 10/11) suggested that heterosexist and homoprejudice harassment expressed through name-calling, teasing, and bullying, occurred as early as primary

school (Renold, 2002). However, it is during middle and high school years that sexual minority students experience the greatest amount of verbal harassment and physical assaults that lead to missing school, dropping out, and other social ills resulting from academic failure (Weiler, 2004). Fourth, according to the 1989 Department of Health and Human Services Report on the Secretary's Task Force on Youth Suicide, gay and lesbian youth are five times more likely to attempt suicide than their non-gay/lesbian peers and nearly one third of the suicide attempts occurred before age 17 (Gibson, 1989). Finally, junior and/or high school counselors are the counselors that are most likely to work with sexual minority students (Price & Telljohann, 1991) because therapy outside of the school may not be possible. Consequently, developing a trusting relationship with a school counselor may be the only accessible resource for sexual minority students (Uribe, 1994).

Many school counselors report perceptions of being ill-prepared to address the needs of sexual minority youth (GLSTN-Detroit, 1996; Henning-Stout et al., 2000; Phillips & Fischer, 1998; Thurlow, 2001). This study was designed to find out if these perceptions of ill-preparedness are present among school counselors in the state of Michigan.

Statement of Purpose

The purpose of this inquiry was to assess the attitudes, knowledge, and skills/experiences of school counselors in the state of Michigan regarding sexual orientation and students who identify as LGBTQ. This study also assessed the beliefs, perceptions, and evaluations of school counselors regarding their graduate counseling training experiences surrounding issues of sexual orientation in general and sexual

minority students in particular. In addition, this study assessed school counselors' willingness to engage in professional development activities in the next 12 months, as a component of training, to expand their knowledge and enhance their abilities to effectively work with sexual minority students. Further, this study assessed which continuing education activities school counselors would find most helpful in assisting them to work effectively and competently with sexual minority students. Possible differences due to age, gender, ethnic background, sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale were also analyzed. The research method and design for this study involved a quantitative approach, using a survey for data collection.

Given the purpose of this study, the following research questions guided this study:

Research Question 1: What are the attitudes of Michigan school counselors regarding same-gender attractional orientation and sexual minority students?

Research Question 2: What is the level of skills/experiences of Michigan school counselors regarding sexual minority students?

Research Question 3: What is the level of knowledge that Michigan school counselors reflect regarding sexual minority issues?

Research Question 4: Do Michigan school counselors believe that their graduate counseling program adequately trained them to competently meet the needs of sexual minority students?

Research Question 5: Are Michigan school counselors willing in the next 12 months to participate in professional development that expands their knowledge

regarding issues of sexual orientation in general and sexual minority students in particular? And if so, in what activities would they be willing to engage? What activities do Michigan school counselors find most helpful in developing knowledge and competency skills to work with sexual minority students?

A more detailed listing of the research questions for this study is presented in Chapter III.

Significance of the Study

This study is significant for a number of reasons. First, although there is a body of literature that speaks to the need for school counselors to be trained in issues pertaining to sexual minority students, very little of the literature specifically assesses school counselors' attitudes and perceptions of their preparedness and level of competence to work with sexual minority students. Therefore, this study assists in filling a gap in the literature and promotes discussion regarding school counselors and sexual minority students. Second, although bright and talented sexual minority students are suffering to the point of suicide attempts and suicide commissions due to harassment and isolation, school counselors are rarely indicated in the literature as advocating for these students even though they are in a strategic position to influence school climate and provide support through education and consultation. The Ethical Standards of the American School Counseling Association (ASCA, 2004) require that school counselors serve as advocates for all students. The advocacy role of school counselors is further addressed in Chapter II. Third, there is a paucity of research-based literature that provides the perspectives of school counselors regarding issues of sexual orientation and sexual minority students. A comprehensive literature search was conducted regarding school

counselors' attitudes toward sexual minority students. Sears (1988) examined the quality of life for Southern gay and lesbian students based on the attitudes, experiences, and feelings of guidance counselors. Price and Telljohann (1991) collected data from a national survey assessing school counselors' perceptions of "adolescent homosexuality" (p. 433). However, no dissertations or published studies have been identified that examines school counselors' attitudes and perceptions of training and preparedness relative to working with sexual minority students in the state of Michigan. This study fills a void in the body of literature on school counseling and sexual minority youth in the state of Michigan with possible implications for research and practice in other states. Fourth, the first tenet of the American School Counseling Association (ASCA) Ethical Standards emphasizes the right of each student to be respected, treated with dignity "and have access to a comprehensive school counseling program that advocates for and affirms all students from diverse populations regardless of . . . sexual orientation, gender, gender identity/expression . . . " (ASCA, 2004, Appendix L, p. 1). Based on the ASCA Ethical Standards, this study assessed whether school counselors are practicing ethically with regards to sexual minority students. Fifth, from an advocacy and social justice perspective, professional school counselors are to stand in support of all students and create opportunities for equal access and success by serving as collaborators, consultants, and change agents that bring about positive change in the entire educational system (ASCA, 2004; Holcomb-McCoy, 2007; Pelsma & Krieshok, 2003). A review of the literature (Fontaine, 1997, 1998; Sears, 1991; Telljohann & Price, 1993) suggests that school personnel in general and school counselors in particular are not adequately advocating for sexual minority students. Could this lack of advocacy stem from feelings

of ill preparedness due to the lack of training in school counselor education programs (Stone, 2003)? This study seeks to provide an answer(s) to this question. Finally, it is the desire of this researcher that the results of this study will inspire changes in school systems that will ameliorate the plight of sexual minority students. Given that policies and standards about such issues are made at the state level, gathering information specific to Michigan will assist in those efforts. Therefore, this study has the potential to make an important contribution to the literature with possible implications for school counselor education programs in Michigan and other states as well as comprehensive school guidance counseling programs developed at the local, state, and national levels.

Re-definitions of Key Terms

Language is important in any culture because language reflects what thoughts and behaviors are acceptable and permissible, states what the rules of conduct are, and sets the parameters for thinking because "it is impossible to think outside language" (Blumenfield, 1992, p. 43). There is an emergence of literature addressing topics on same-gender attraction that is calling for a re-evaluation of the terminology that has been historically and universally accepted as descriptors of attitudes and behaviors of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and individuals who are questioning their sexual orientation.

Clinical psychologist A. Robinson's (2007) article, "Homosexual or Homoattractional? Re-evaluating Our Terminology," posits that many of the terms used to describe "social identity groups" (e.g., homosexuals, heterosexuals, sexual minority) "are antiquated and pathologizing, therefore disempowering those who are given these labels. They reduce people to strictly sexual beings" (p. 7). Robinson decries the term

homosexual because "anything with the word 'sexual' in it denotes sexual behavior, what one does sexually. It is appropriate to use such terminology when we are specifically talking about sexual behavior" (p. 7). Instead, the term homoattractional is preferred for those "individuals or groups who we know by disclosure to be naturally attracted to the same gender . . ." (p. 7). Also, Robinson favors the term attractional orientation (defined as "one's propensity toward being attracted to others emotionally, physically, sexually, socially, erotically and spiritually" (p. 7) over the term sexual orientation because attractional orientation is not limited to just gay and lesbian people, everyone has an attractional orientation, and attractionality is not exclusively sexual (A. Robinson, 2007).

Another example of terminology regarding gay and lesbian issues that is being challenged is the use of the term *homophobia*. Logan (1996), in her article "Homophobia? No, Homoprejudice," investigated the degree to which anti-homosexual responses were (homo)phobic or (homo)prejudice. (Homo)phobia is categorized as unreasonable, irrational, and excessive fear and anxiety (of homosexuals/homosexuality) based on the criteria for a phobia diagnosis as outlined in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV)*. (Homo)prejudice is categorized as "a hostile or negative attitude toward a distinguishable group [homosexuals] based on generalizations derived from faulty or incomplete information" (p. 34). Logan concluded that

the broad application of the term "homophobia" to describe anti-homosexual responses is inaccurate and inappropriate and should only be used to describe those few individuals who demonstrate a true phobic response to gays and lesbians . . . and the use of the term "homoprejudice" to describe such responses is recommended. (p. 50)

As a school counselor licensed by the State of Michigan and a counselor educator who practices and educates from an advocacy and social justice perspective, this researcher believes that there is a need to use terminology that reflects a contemporary understanding of people and is empowering and affirming. Therefore, this researcher is in agreement with A. Robinson (2007) and Logan (1996), who challenge us to eliminate inaccurate, inappropriate, antiquated, and disempowering terminology by replacing it with terminology that is updated, accurate, and affirming. The status quo is passivity in action; advocacy and social justice are activity in action. Therefore and henceforth, this study will use the following terms that are updated, more concise, and affirming towards same-gender attracted people. Homoattractional will replace the term homosexual. Heteroattractional will replace the term heterosexual. Biattractional will replace the term bisexual. Attractional orientation will replace the term sexual orientation. Attractional minority students will replace the term sexual minority students. Attractional identity development will replace the term sexual identity development. Attractionality will replace the term sexuality when appropriate. Same-gender orientation/attraction will replace the term same-sex orientation/attraction. When quoting or referring to scholarly sources, however, the original terminology used by the authors will be used as appropriate in this study. Definitions of key terms are as follows:

Attractional Minority Youth – For the purposes of this study, the term includes
young people from ages 5 to 19, who are in different stages of their attractional
and identity development and could yet be attending a K-12 public, private, or
religious/faith affiliated school for diploma or GED completion.

- Attractional Orientation An individual's attraction to the same gender, the opposite gender, or both genders (Human Rights Watch, 2001).
- Biattractional Males and females who are physically, romantically, emotionally, sexually, and relationally attracted to both males and females.
- Coming Out The process of becoming aware of one's attractional orientation or gender identity, accepting it, and in time disclosing it to others. A totally integrated homoattractional identity (Cass, 1979; Coleman, 1982; GLSTN-Detroit, 1996; Human Rights Watch, 2001).
- Competence "The attitude, knowledge, and skill competencies that counselors need to provide ethical, affirmative, and competent services to LGB clients"
 (Bidell, 2005, p. 268; see also Fassinger & Richie, 1997; Israel & Selvidge, 2003; Sue et al., 1982). For the purposes of this study this definition will also include providing competent services to transgender students (T) and students who are questioning their attractional orientation (Q).
- Gay Attracted to a person of the same gender. This term is sometimes used to refer only to males who have physical, romantic, emotional, sexual, and relational attraction to males. The word gay "may also be used as a synonym for the more clinical term homosexual" (Human Rights Watch, 2001, p. xiii).
- Gender Expression "All of the external characteristics and behaviors that are socially defined as masculine or feminine, including dress, mannerisms, speech patterns and social interactions" (Human Rights Watch, 2001, p. xiv).

- Gender Identity "A person's internal, deeply felt sense of being male, female,
 (or something other than or in between male and female)" (Human Rights Watch,
 2001, p. xiv.).
- Heteroattractional Attracted exclusively to the opposite gender (also referred to as being "straight") (Human Rights Watch, 2001, p. xiv).
- Homoattractional Attracted exclusively to a person of the same gender. Is interchangeably used with the terms lesbian and gay (Human Rights Watch, 2001).
- Lesbian Females who are physically, romantically, emotionally, sexually, and relationally attracted to other females.
- Out Individuals who live openly as lesbian, gay, biattractional, or transgender
 (Human Rights Watch, 2001).
- Preparedness Refers to the possession of sufficient knowledge and skills to confidently and competently work with a specific clientele. In this study, the clientele are attractional minority students.
- Questioning An individual who is uncertain about his or her attractional
 orientation or gender identity (Human Rights Watch, 2001) and therefore is in an
 exploration phase of attractional identity development.
- Transgender An individual whose identity or behavior is expressed outside of stereotypical gender norms. This term also refers to individuals who are physiologically one gender but are psychologically the opposite gender (Pope, 2003).

Chapter I delineated the rationale for conducting this dissertation study. Chapter II involves a review of the literature on attractional minority student development, their inschool experiences, and their experiences with school counselors. Chapter II also includes a discourse on the legal and ethical issues surrounding attractional minority students and schools. Chapter II concludes with a discussion of advocacy and social justice toward attractional minority students. Chapter III discusses the research method and design for this study. Chapter IV reports the findings from the data analysis. Finally, Chapter V discusses the research findings, the limitations of the study, recommendations for future research, implications for graduate school counselor education, and implications for professional development and continuing education for school counselors.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

This chapter begins with a discussion on the developmental tasks of adolescence as they pertain to the formation of personal identities including attractional identities. More specifically, this chapter presents foundational and contemporary literature regarding both heteroattractional and homoattractional identity formulation in adolescents. Models regarding homoattractional, biattractional, and transgender development are discussed. Also in this chapter, attractional orientation and public schools in the United States are discussed, looking at the heteroattractionalized context of U.S. public schools and how attractional minority students are experiencing such contexts. Furthermore, this chapter reviews the literature regarding middle and high school counselors' attitudes, experiences, and training relative to attractional minority youth. This chapter also addresses both the legal responsibilities that school administrators, counselors, and staff have toward attractional minority students according to the United States Constitution and the ethical responsibilities that school counselors have toward attractional minority students according to the Ethical Standards of the American School Counseling Association and the Michigan School Counselor Association. Finally, this chapter discusses school counseling and attractional minority students from a social justice perspective.

Adolescent Tasks

Adolescence is a challenging time in life when teens focus on the physical, cognitive, psychological, and social developmental tasks. During adolescence, the teen seeks for meaning and purpose in life and asks questions such as: "Who am I?" "Why am I here?" "What is my purpose in life?" and "What does the future hold for me?" There are developmental challenges that appear to be common to most adolescents and, outside of cultural influence, these challenges are basically the same. For example, all adolescents must develop social skills that will allow them to be able to navigate effectively through social and vocational networks. Most adolescents desire to fit into a chosen peer group(s) to fulfill a sense of belonging. Most, if not all adolescents, have concerns about body image; anatomically, how do they measure up to their peers? Most, if not all, adolescents seek to clarify their life's calling by seeking information about careers that the individual feels will reflect his or her life's calling. Furthermore, most adolescents seek to develop a sense of independence and individualism, wanting to try "flapping their wings" with only minimal support from family. Finally, most, if not all adolescents, are concerned with life after high school: "Will it involve college or vocational training? Being employed? Getting married? Rearing children? All of these concerns, in addition to uncertainty about the future, can be enormous sources of anxiety and stress and can lead to depression and suicide. Thus, the adolescent years are filled with searching for identity and purpose in life, concerns about physical strength and appeal, and the desire for independence, all of which appear to be universal for all youth as differentiated by their individual cultures (Diamond & Diamond, 1986; Weiler, 2004).

Adolescent Attractionality

Discovering self and the meaning and purpose of life are major components of identity formulation. However, another major component of this identity formulation is discovering who one is as an attractional being. Some studies regarding attractional identity development indicate that the process occurs during pre-puberty, puberty and early adolescence and could possibly continue well into the post high school years (e.g., college) when the environment allows freedom to explore issues of attractional identity (Cass, 1979; Fischer, 1995; Price & Telljohann, 1991). However, recent studies from the perspectives of developmental researchers report that the onset of attractional identity development occurs prior to puberty with the first awareness of same-gender attractional feelings occurring at about age 10 for males and age 11 for females (D'Augelli, 2006; Graber & Archibald, 2001; Smith, Dermer, & Astramovich, 2005). A youth-based study conducted by D'Augelli and Grossman (2001) reported that the mean age that gay youth (LGBTQ youth) in the study reported experiencing feelings of differentness was 8 years.

Adolescent attractionality is a taboo topic that very few school personnel care to engage in. The implementation of sex education curricula and prevention programs have, in most instances, been met with much opposition from parents, community, and religious leaders (Rienzo, 1987; van Wormer, Wells, & Boes, 2000; Varjas et al., 2007). However, the discussion regarding adolescent attractionality is not only necessary, but vital and critical to the future of our adolescents for several reasons. First, we are facing the reality that young people are becoming sexually active at a much younger age than previous generations (D'Augelli, 2006). Second, teenage pregnancies are occurring to the

extent that one middle school is considering dispensing birth control to its students (CNN Prime News aired October 16, 2007). Third, and extremely important is the fact that the incidence of sexually transmitted disease is on the rise among adolescents (Michigan Department of Community Health, 2006). Furthermore, according to the Epidemiological Profile of HIV/AIDS in Michigan (2006), the numbers of new HIV diagnoses have leveled out for all age groups except for those in the 13–19 year and the 20–24 year age ranges; their numbers are steadily increasing. According to figures provided by the Centers for Disease Control (as cited by the Gay, Lesbian and Straight Teachers Network [GLSTN], 1994-1996), 1 in 5 HIV-seropositive men had a very high probability of being infected during adolescence. Therefore, the reality of sex-related health issues, as they pertain to adolescents, gives relevance and urgency to identifying and responding to the psychological, health, and human service needs of adolescents (D'Augelli, Pilkington, & Hershberger, 2002; Savin-Williams & Cohen, 2007). The starting point for the discussion on adolescent attractionality is attractional identity development and the basic assumption of heteroattractionality (Rich, 1980; Striepe & Tolman, 2003).

Heteroattractional Bias

The discussion regarding adolescent attractionality focuses largely on heteroattractionality. There is a plethora of information on adolescent heteroattractionality (Furman, 2002; Striepe & Tolman, 2003) that is informative, confirming, affirming, and receives familial, peer, and societal approbation and support. Furthermore, this information is, to a great extent, available and accessible in both school and community

libraries as well as overtly observed through mass media and in daily life transactions in a predominantly heteroattractional society (Coleman, 1982).

Adrienne Rich (1980), speaking from a lesbian/feminist perspective, discusses the notion of compulsory heterosexual orientation for women. According to Rich, compulsory heterosexuality is a human-made institution that assumes that women are innately and biologically sexually attracted to men and, therefore, any other attraction between women is deviant and an acting-out of bitterness toward men. Further, compulsory heterosexuality is not women-oriented but is undergirded by male dominance for the purpose of meeting the male's needs, his fantasies about women, and his desire to control women. In addition, Rich contends that male control of laws, theologies, science, and economics, propagates compulsory or institutionalized heterosexuality, thus mandating the woman's sexual, familial, and societal roles. Finally, Rich believes that compulsory heterosexuality convinces women of the inevitability of marriage and attractional orientation toward men.

Compulsory heterosexuality requires no explanation for female heterosexuality but does require an explanation for lesbian attractionality. Thus, as a result of compulsory heterosexuality, strong female relationships, whether social or romantic, are generally marginalized (at best) or altogether invalidated (at worst).

Striepe and Tolman (2003) builds upon Rich's (1980) conceptualization of compulsory heterosexuality by further stating that heterosexuality has been made compulsory and is "part of a universally pervasive patriarchal institution organizing male and female development" (p. 524). Accordingly, compulsory heterosexuality is based on gender ideologies of femininity and masculinity from which heterosexual scripts

containing gender specific and explicit elements that are transmitted to girls and boys. For example, Striepe and Tolman state that regarding sexuality, scripts are written for girls and boys whose behaviors are expected to comply with those scripts. The scripts written for girls state that they are to be sexually pleasing and enticing to males, to believe that womanhood culminates in marriage to a man, and, as a result of being married to a man, motherhood is the apex of the life experiences for a woman. Scripts written for boys state that they are to be aggressive and pursue sexual conquests of females and that becoming a man entails having sex with women. Noncompliance with gender ideologies and the subsequent violation of heterosexual scripts will most likely occur with youth who self-identify as gay, lesbian, biattractional, transgender, and those who yet question their attractional orientation. As a result of noncompliance, the institution of heteroattractionality pathologizes gender-nonconforming youth, making them targets of various forms of harassment and abuse (D'Augelli, 1998).

There is a paucity of research examining the processes of attractional identity development in heteroattractional adolescents (Striepe & Tolman, 2003) partly because there is an assumption of heteroattractionality and heteroattractionality is considered a natural and normal orientation. This is not to say that heteroattractional adolescents sail smoothly through their attractional awareness and exploration period because, as was previously stated, adolescence is a challenging time for all youth, irrespective of attractional orientation. Adolescents in general, however, are not discriminated against and persecuted for identifying as heteroattractional; hence, the paucity of research on heteroattractional identity development appears to reflect "a norm requiring little conscious thought or effort" (Fontaine & Hammond, 1996, p. 819). Research suggests

that due to compulsory heteroattractionality, all adolescents are pressured to comply with traditional heteroattractional gender ideologies and sexual scripts, irrespective of attractional orientation (Isay, 1996; Rich, 1980) and noncompliance results in feelings of differentness as well as differential treatment from a society that is intentional in supporting and maintaining the institution of compulsory heteroattractionality (Haldeman, 2000; Striepe & Tolman, 2003).

Heteroattractional Privilege

"Privilege affords a choice, and a particular power and authority granted by systemic forces and, in the case of heterosexism, by numerical majority" (Fiegenbaum, 2007, p. 5). Heteroattractional persons are able to enjoy the benefits that privilege affords other dominant and majority groups in society (e.g., White, male, physically able) (Allen, 1995; Fiegenbaum, 2007; Goldsmith, 1982). Heteroattractional privilege spares those who are heteroattractional from having to stand up and declare their heteroattractionality to family, peers, and friends because there is a strong cultural expectation to be heteroattractional, making it unnecessary to make such a declaration (Allen, 1995). Further, heteroattractional privilege allows heteroattractional persons not to have to think about their attractional orientation as well as ignore or condemn attractional orientations that are different from their own. In addition, heteroattractional privilege protects those who are beneficiaries of that privilege through denial that they are privileged (Allen, 1995; Fiegenbaum, 2007). Finally, heteroattractional privilege is realized in many ways through federal and state laws that affirm heteroattractional marriages while, in many states, banning same-gender marriages. Is the privilege experienced by heteroattractional

adults in the larger society also experienced by heteroattractional adolescents in the school setting?

Heteroattractional adolescents have an abundance of resources available to them so that this period of attractional identity formulation can be a time of affirmation, praise, and positive self-imaging, with adequate and ample support, counsel, and role models for building a positive self-concept. Heteroattractional adolescents do not have to worry about explaining their attractionality to their parents because, from birth, there is an assumption of heteroattractionality and unless there are overt signs of gender atypical behavior, heteroattractionality is assumed unless otherwise stated (Allen, 1995; Rich, 1980; Striepe & Tolman, 2003). Therefore, because there is an assumption of heteroattractionality from birth, much attention is given to the psychosocial and psychosexual development of heteroattractional adolescents. However, what of those adolescents who identify as lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender, or are yet questioning their attractional orientation (LGBTQ)? Are their developmental trajectories the same as heteroattractional adolescents or do they differ? There is a growing body of literature that is focusing on the developmental needs of LGBTQ youth, also referred to as attractional minority youth. Let us now review foundational and contemporary literature regarding this often "invisible" group of adolescents (Dunham, 1989).

Adolescent Homoattractionality

There are developmental themes that are common to all adolescents while variations in developmental expression and outcome are often influenced by culture and community. Savin-Williams (1995) found that the onset of puberty, sexual activity, and

first orgasm did not differ between homoattractional and heteroattractional adolescents. However, there are additional issues that are particular to attractional minority youth (Kissen, 1993; Weiler, 2004).

Homoattractionality and biattractionality are often the most off-limits topics of discussion within family, church, and school (GLSTN-Detroit, 1996). Responding to the reality and needs of attractional minority students is frequently met with strong opposition. School administrators, faculty, and staff are afraid or unwilling to acknowledge the existence of attractional minority students and, therefore, adolescent homoattractionality is an area that is either approached very delicately or altogether ignored (Uribe, 1994). A primary reason for school personnel in general and school counselors in particular not addressing the needs of attractional minority youth is that they have not been trained to do so (Barret, 1998; Marinoble, 1998). Additional reasons for school personnel inadequately addressing the needs of LGBTQ students include: (a) fear of collegial disapproval (Deisher, 1989); (b) the belief that homoattractionality is only a phase that some youth goes through and they will ultimately outgrow it (Malyon, 1981; Ricketts, 1986; L. H. Robinson, 1980); (c) some researchers wanting to avoid being associated with such a stigmatized subject (Savin-Williams & Diamond, 1999); and (d) North American culture denying the existence of nonheteroattractional children and adolescents (Rofes, 1989; Savin-Williams & Diamond, 1999). Other reasons given for the inadequate response of school personnel to adolescent homoattractionality include: (a) the fact that adults can ignore adolescent attractionality simply because they are adults and can do so (Ricketts, 1986); (b) the fear that discussing homoattractionality in school settings will "create" it (Uribe, 1994) or spread it as a contagious disease (Reed, 1994);

(c) fearing the reaction of the community, especially parents, if issues of attractional orientation are discussed openly (Marinoble, 1998; K. E. Robinson, 1994); (d) "teaching homosexuality" and discussing the topic will violate the rights of parents who want their children to be excluded from such discussions (Macgillivray, 2000); and (e) many parents as well as political, religious, and community leaders believing that discussing the reality of gay and lesbian students will promote and sanction adolescent homoattractionality and cause students to grow up gay or lesbian (MacGillivray, 2004; Rofes, 1989). Societal attitudes and beliefs play a major role in the lack of school personnel responding to the particular needs of attractional minority students. For example, schools and the general public yet show hostility toward homoattractional persons as well as schools' policies limiting or prohibiting discussion on attractionality and attractional identity/expression with adolescents (Davis, Williamson, & Lambie, 2005). Finally, religious persuasion also accounts for the lack of school personnel serving attractional minority students. Personal religious convictions of school personnel prevent them from aiding students who either self-identify as same-gender attracted or are questioning same-gender attraction (Pope, 2003; Sadowski, 2001; Uribe, 1994). Rofes (1989), in his article addressing the needs of gay and lesbian youth, laments the "hush-hush" attitude of society in general and schools in particular:

It has been frustrating to observe critical youth issues enter the field of public debate, while widespread censorship results in the exclusion of the issues of gay and lesbian youth. . . . AIDS prevention counselors working with teenagers in the school frequently find themselves educating young people about how to remain uninfected, yet without giving any training or materials to deal with the issue of male-to-male sexual activity among youth. (p. 446)

The number of youth with same-gender attractions continues to be debated. Studies assessing the prevalence rates of gay adults and gay youth indicate that the number of individuals with same-gender attractions and fantasies or who engaged in same-gender sexual behavior far exceeded those who identified as gay, lesbian, or biattractional (Laumann, Gagnon, Michael, & Michaels, 1994; Savin-Williams & Cohen, 2007). Seidmann and Rieder (1994) suggest that predominant homoattractionality has a prevalence rate ranging from 2 to 4% and possibly greater than 10% in males and 1 to 3% in females. Orenstein's (2001) survey that sought to identify same-gender attracted students as well as assess substance use among gay and lesbian students at one Massachusetts high school found that prevalence rates for same-gender attractions and behavior (11%) far exceeded the rate of those who identified as gay (3%). Lock and Steiner (1999) surveyed 1,769 high school students to determine their self-identification with a particular attractional orientation group as well as determine the level of comfort with identifying with that group. Lock and Steiner found that while 6% self-identified as homoattractional or biattractional, 13% reported being uncertain about their attractional orientation. Barret (1998) reports that "percentages range from 3 to 15%, and the actual number may never be known" (p. 88). It should be noted that prevalence rates of attractional minority students are difficult to assess and determine because many youth do not self-identify as gay, lesbian, or biattractional until after adolescence and many who have a homoerotic orientation may never identify as gay (Savin-Williams & Cohen, 2007).

Statistics indicate that there are approximately 30 million young people between the ages of 10 and 20 in the United States (Herring & Furgerson, 2000) and 5 to 10% of those young people will discover that they are either predominantly or exclusively gay or lesbian before age 17 (Committee on Adolescence, 1993). Herdt (1989, cited in Dunham, 1989) states that "nearly 3 million of our country's 29 million adolescents are gay" (p. 4). Ginsberg (1998) suggests that 1 in 20 adolescents who attend public schools in the United States is likely to be gay/lesbian based on an estimated 2,610,515 gay/lesbian student population derived from the 1995 Digest of Education Statistics. And finally, Regan and Fogarty (2006) reported that the number of school-aged gay, lesbian, and transgender youth exceeds 2 million; this does not include youth who are questioning their attractional orientation or are not yet out about their attractional orientation.

According to data obtained from the Center for Educational Performance and Information (n.d.), there were 1,612,425 students enrolled in public schools in Michigan and 130,169 students enrolled in nonpublic schools during the 2008-2009 school years. Counted in the nearly two million students enrolled in Michigan schools are attractional minority students who are relying on the expertise and services of school counselors to help them during their adolescent development.

The American Friends Service Committee (AFSC), a Quaker-based organization that is comprised of people of different faiths who are committed to social justice, provided a broader perspective on the prevalence rate of attractional minority students by including all students who could possibly be affected by issues of attractional orientation. The AFSC LGBTQ Youth Program (1991) estimated that 9 students in every classroom of 30 are affected by homoattractional issues in one way or another, whether through

having a gay or lesbian parent or sibling, a relative, or personally being gay or lesbian. Students in every classroom can also be affected by homoattractional issues by having a friend or social acquaintance who is homoattractional. Therefore, and in conclusion, the awareness that the number of attractional minority students in any school could be 10% or higher at any time speaks clearly to the reality that the topic of adolescent homoattractionality can no longer be feared, denied, or ignored.

Homoattractional Identity Formulation in Adolescents

Attractional identity models, also referred to as "coming out" models, were developed to understand the process by which individuals became aware of, acknowledged, accepted, and embraced a lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender identity (Dubé & Savin-Williams, 1999). Research and conceptual models regarding same-gender attractional identity formation from the 1970s to the present have produced a number of models that propose that homoattractional identity formation is a process that occurs over time and in identifiable phases or stages, and thus are referred to as "stage models" (Eliason & Schope, 2007). Several foundational studies and stage models were constructed to illustrate and help elucidate the attractional identity formulation of gay, lesbian, biattractional, and transgender youth (Cass, 1979; Coleman, 1982; Devor, 2002; Paul, 1984; Troiden, 1989).

In 1973, the American Psychological Association depathologized homosexuality and removed it from its *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual* as sexually deviant behavior. Therefore, the stage models that will be presented are some of the first models to view homoattractional identity development from a nonpathological stance. In addition to the

stage models, other models were constructed that viewed homoattractional identity development in terms of "milestones" (Floyd & Stein, 2002) and "processes" such as the social identity model (Cox & Gallois, 1996). The literature on homoattractional identity development suggests that the stage models developed by Cass (1979), Coleman (1982), and Troiden (1989) are the most recognized and accepted models; therefore, those models will be discussed in greater detail than the other theoretical models presented. Reviews of these foundational models follow.

The Cass Six-Stage Model of Homoattractional Identity Development

The model that has served as the foundational model for same-gender attractional identity formation, upon which other models have been constructed and future models will most likely be compared (Zera, 1992), was developed by Vivienne C. Cass (1979) and encompasses the developmental experiences of both female and male homoattractional persons. Cass's theory was developed from a psychosocial perspective "within the framework of interpersonal congruency theory" (p. 219). Accordingly, attractional identity development is based upon the individual's interpersonal dynamics interacting with the immediate environment and society at-large. Cass's model has been criticized as being rigid in its progression through the stages as well as being outdated (Degges-White, Rice, & Myers, 2000). Nonetheless, the Cass model continues to serve as the reference point for discussions regarding homoattractional identity development. Cass identifies six stages of development in the formation of a homoattractional identity: Identity Confusion, Identity Comparison, Identity Tolerance, Identity Acceptance, Identity Pride, and Identity Synthesis. A brief description of each stage follows.

Stage 1: Identity Confusion. This stage can occur during pre-puberty, puberty, or early adolescence and is marked by the heteroattractional identity being called into question. The youth wonders, "Could I be homoattractional?" Hollander (2000) suggests that the term questioning youth may be preferred instead of the term confusion. During this stage, issues regarding gay rights, information and media coverage on gay issues, and conversation about gays and lesbianism become personally relevant. Very little information, if any, is accessible in school libraries, but if the youth is inclined to study and seek out information, then during this stage, the youth will seek avenues to gain information regarding same-gender attraction. Few adolescents are trained to seek out other avenues of information, and when literature and information relevant to samegender attraction is available (e.g., in public libraries), many adolescents are too ashamed to inform someone that they are seeking information for themselves on a subject that is considered taboo. Without the availability of literature and/or the courage to access it, adolescents at this stage live in a state of ignorance and confusion. It should be noted, however, that Cass's (1979) model of attractional identity development was developed prior to the Internet and the World Wide Web. Today, through the use of the Internet, students have access to literature on practically any subject and in any language and can access that information in the privacy of their own homes or study quarters. Therefore, today's youth have access to unlimited information and "are exposed to a plethora of sexual styles and behaviors" (Eliason & Schope, 2007, p. 15). In addition, students at increasingly younger ages are being trained to use computers and access information via the Internet. Therefore, today's youth who have questions regarding their attractional orientation, are able to seek out relevant and affirming information without fear of being

embarrassed. This is contrasted with the youth and adults who experienced Identity

Confusion during the time period when Cass initially presented her model of attractional identity development.

Stage 2: Identity Comparison. At this stage comes a greater degree of acceptance of same-gender attraction and the realization that "I might be homoattractional or biattractional" occurs. The youth may look at it as a "passing phase" by rationalizing that his or her same-gender attraction is to "just this one person." The adolescent compares him/herself with peers and society and becomes aware of his/her differences from both. Feelings of isolation and a sense of not belonging sets in and, because other youth who may be experiencing the same confusion and feelings of isolation are not identifiable, thoughts that "I am the only one like this" may be entertained.

Stage 3: Identity Tolerance. This stage is characterized by the thought, "I probably am homoattractional." At this stage, the youth has moved further away from the heteroattractional identity and closer to a homoattractional identity. Internal confusion and turmoil decreases, while feelings of differentness in comparison to other peers increases. Psychosocial needs are met by seeking out the company of other attractional minority persons. Stage 3 can be a difficult time for attractional minority youth if peer approval from a majority heteroattractional population is important to them. Often, attractional minority youth will seek approval from their heteroattractional peers by either dating members of the other gender and/or scrutinizing everything that they themselves say or do. Both are done in order to appear heteroattractional while maintaining secrecy about their same-gender attraction.

defined homoattractional identity and now says, "I am homoattractional." Contact with other attractional minority persons increases, usually with older individuals, because locating and identifying other attractional minority peers is quite difficult at this age. Many attractional minority youth, especially those living in small cities, rural areas, or towns where homoprejudice is intense, will feel the need to move to large urban areas primarily for the purpose of making contact with other attractional minority persons. In addition, due to homoprejudice, individuals at this stage are afraid to talk with their parent(s), school personnel, clergy, and their peers about their feelings of differentness. This stage is a very dangerous and crucial stage for many youth, especially if they meet another attractional minority person who has no interest in their personal growth, development, and welfare, but wants them only for sexual gratification. Such a scenario, in some instances, has resulted in attractional minority youth contracting sexually transmitted diseases, including the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) which could lead to acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS).

Stage 5: Identity Pride. This stage is marked by a "them and us" mentality: "Them straight folks and us gays." During this stage, there is strong identification with the gay culture and a minimizing of heteroattractionality. Youth at this stage have fully accepted their homoattractional orientation and, in some cases, display it overtly with an "in your face" attitude, which is outwardly displayed in the way they dress, talk, walk, and gesture. This stage is especially difficult for some ethnic attractional minority youth to move into due to strong religious beliefs that condemn nonheteroattractional behavior. As was previously stated, the Identity Pride stage is marked by a "them and us" mentality. For

ethnic attractional minority youth, the "them" can include all of their primary support systems (e.g., family, church, school) as well as both heteroattractional and homoattractional White America, and the cultural community, to name a few. This stage can be especially dangerous for ethnic attractional minority youth who, if ostracized, may lack the financial and social support systems that are afforded to many of their White attractional minority peers. The stage of identity pride is earmarked by attractional minority youth wanting to disclose their attractional orientation to their parent(s), trusted friends, and significant adults in their lives, also referred to as "coming out" (Cass, 1979; Coleman, 1982; Human Rights Watch, 2001).

Stage 6: Identity Synthesis. At this stage, the individual moves away from the "them and us" mentality and explores the similarities between the homoattractional and heteroattractional worlds. There is no longer the "in your face" attitude but an "I can live as being homoattractional and you can live as being heteroattractional in the same house" attitude. There are no longer two absolutes or two rigid and polarized views but, instead, a mixture and cohabitating of the two views and everything in between.

In summary, Cass (1979) presents a six-stage model for homoattractional sexual identity formation that begins with the adolescent being *confused* about his or her attractionality, thereby calling his or her heteroattractionality into question. The adolescent then *compares* him/herself to peers and society resulting in increased feelings of differentness and the belief that perhaps the individual is merely going through a phase of homoattractionality. At this point, the adolescent *tolerates* a possible homoattractional identity while yet seeking peer approval from a majority heteroattractional population, which may cause the adolescent to have an opposite gender relationship or be extremely

careful with personal presentation in order to maintain secrecy of same-gender attraction. Depending upon social, cultural, and familial influences, the adolescent may move into *identity acceptance* and self-label as homoattractional and seek contact with other homoattractional persons, the association of which can engender *identity pride* and a sense of belonging to a group. This identity pride results in an "us and them" and "in your face" mentality, but with education and maturation, can be *synthesized* into a belief that homoattractional and heteroattractional persons can coexist and even dwell together in the same space.

It should be noted that Cass (1979) indicates that this is not a linear model of homoattractional identity development where individuals neatly progress from one stage to the next. Cass suggests, however, that individuals can move back and forth and through the stages, sometimes occupying multiple stages simultaneously. Finally, Cass posits that not everyone passes through all of the stages. *Identity foreclosure* can occur wherein the individual can choose not to develop any further, such identity foreclosure being capable of occurring at each stage.

The Coleman Five-Stage Model of Homoattractional Identity Development

Eli Coleman (1982) presented a five-stage model of homoattractional identity formation with the primary tenet being that the individual will work on the stage that is most pressing at that time. Coleman believed that any one or more of the stages could, at any given time and/or context, become unresolved, resulting in the need for revisitation and resolution. Therefore, Coleman, like Cass (1979), rejected the notion of homoattractional identity formulation following a linear path (i.e., individuals going

neatly from one stage to the next) but believed that any stage could be revisited, with the possibility of several stages being worked on at the same time. Stage One of Coleman's model is the *pre-coming out* stage when the individual senses his or her differentness and believes that others are also sensing that differentness.

Stage Two, the *coming out* stage, involves the individual coming out to himself or herself and others but does not necessarily mean that the individual will live as an openly attractional minority person. During this stage, acceptance from heteroattractional friends is very important because this acceptance helps to reverse negative self-images stemming from external and internalized homoprejudice. At Stage Three, the individual has *accepted* that he or she is a homoattractional person and explores this newly embraced attractionality through several sexual encounters. The individual may also self-medicate through the use of drugs and/or alcohol as a means to cope with both the stress of being homoattractional and the stigma attached to it. During this stage, the individual also begins to explore the possibility of genuine and serious romantic and social relationships with other homoattractional persons.

The *first romantic relationships* occur at the Fourth Stage and are usually tumultuous due to internalized homoprejudice, an unstable self-identity, and the fear of not being ready to cope with the consequences of automatically being "outed" as a result of being in a same-gender romantic relationship. Finally, at the Fifth Stage, *integration* occurs, which involves the individual consolidating both the private self and the public self. Also at this stage, self-identity becomes stable, thereby increasing the possibilities of successful same-gender romantic and social relationships.

The Troiden Four-Stage Model of Homoattractional Identity Development

Richard Troiden (1989) presents a four-stage homoattractional identity formation model from a sociological perspective. Troiden posits that attractionality/sexuality and sexual conduct are basically sociocultural in origin and the society with its culture defines the meaning and utility of attractionality as well as the manners and methods that attractionality can be expressed. Thus, according to Troiden, social forces play a major role in shaping attractionality and sexual conduct. Furthermore, Troiden proposes that no one is fixed into exclusive homoattractionality or heteroattractionality but develops attractional identity along any point on the continuum of Kinsey's scale (Sanders, Reinisch, & McWhirter, 1990) and, thus, Troiden's model can accommodate biattractionality. Moreover, according to Troiden, attractional identity develops when individuals are able to interpret what their attractional feelings mean to both themselves and society. Troiden presents a four-stage model of the formation of homoattractional identities. A brief description of each stage follows.

Stage 1: Sensitization. This stage occurs before puberty and is "characterized by generalized feelings of marginality and perceptions of being different from same-sex peers" (p. 50). These childhood feelings and perceptions of being different are socioculturally indicated for the youth. Youth at this stage explain their perceptions of difference with the use of "gender metaphors" (e.g., boys not wanting to be involved in sports; girls not wanting to be prissy) as opposed to "sexual scripts" (e.g., "I'm heteroattractional or homoattractional") while "the socially created categories of homosexual, heterosexual, and bisexual hold little or no significance for them" (p. 52).

Childhood feelings and perceptions of differentness ultimately serve as the foundation for the youth giving meaning to that differentness realized during adolescence.

Stage 2: Identity Confusion. This stage occurs during adolescence (12 years and beyond) when attractional minority youth begin to personalize same-gender attraction. They have not fully adopted a homoattractional orientation and yet have not fully accepted a complete heteroattractional orientation; therefore, they are in a sort of psychosexual purgatory, waiting and longing to understand "Who I am as an attractional being?" and then to be released to express that attractionality. During this stage, the adolescent experiences inner conflict and confusion regarding his or her attractional orientation. Childhood perceptions of differentness influence the degree of confusion at this stage. The adolescent responds to identity confusion in a number of ways including denying the homoattractional feelings and behaviors, trying to eliminate homoattractional feelings by seeking professional help, using various forms of avoidance to inhibit homoattractional feelings and behaviors, redefining behaviors and feelings so as not to contextually appear as homoattractional, and accepting one's homoattractionality and seeking knowledge to understand it.

Stage 3: Identity Assumption. This stage occurs during or after late adolescence when the individual self-identifies as homoattractional and is willing to disclose that identity to others, at least other homoattractional persons which subsequently can serve as preparation for identity disclosure or "coming out." The earmarks of identity assumption are: (a) self-identifying as homoattractional, (b) identity tolerance or acceptance (i.e., a present acceptance of homoattractional feelings and behaviors while holding on to the possibility of a future reality of heteroattractionality), (c) discovery and regular

association with other homoattractional persons, (d) sexual experimentation, and (e) the exploration of the homoattractional culture. Troiden (1989) emphasizes the role that context plays when self-labeling/self-identifying as homoattractional. Females generally self-identify as homoattractional persons in the context of intense affectionate and emotionally meaningful relationships with other women, whereas males generally selfidentify as homoattractional persons in sociosexual contexts; in places where men meet for social and sexual purposes (e.g., gay bars, cruising parks, the Internet). In addition, Troiden posits that during this stage, a negative homoattractional experience (social or sexual) could influence negative attitudes toward homoattractionality, resulting in the adolescent rejecting both the homoattractional identity and the behaviors. On the other hand, positive social or sexual homoattractional experiences could assist in facilitating self-labeling as homoattractional. Finally, Troiden presents the concept of disembodied affiliation derived from the work of Ponse (1978) in which individuals self-label as homoattractional in the absence of affiliation with other homoattractional persons. By the end of this stage, individuals begin to accept their homoattractional orientation. The final stage of Troiden's four-stage model is commitment.

Stage 4: Commitment. Some of the internal and external indicators of this stage include: (a) embracing homoattractionality as a way of life; (b) the synthesis and fusion of same-gender attractionality and emotionality into a significant and meaningful whole; (c) coming out to a broadened arena of significant others ranging from self to a public audience; (d) entering into a same-gender romantic relationship; (e) increased happiness as a result of self-acceptance and feeling comfortable with the homoattractional identity; (f) homoattractional expressions (e.g., romance and sexual gratification) are

reconceptualized and accepted as valid, natural, and normal for the individual; and (g) a rearrangement in strategies to cope with and manage the stigma attached to being homoattractional.

In summary, Troiden (1989) holds the stance that sexual identity is socially learned and influenced by "social scripts of gender role behavior" (Eliason & Schope, 2007, p. 9). Troiden also views homoattractional identity formulation as being a continuous process occurring over a protracted period of time and can possibly span a lifetime. Further, the homoattractional identity is always emerging, never fully developed, and always subject to modifications based on time, place, and context. In addition, the stages in this four-stage model are not linear; in other words, an individual can move back and forth between any stage depending on the time and context. Finally, the overall process of homoattractional identity formation is greatly influenced by personal, social, familial, and professional contexts. Therefore, commitment to a homoattractional identity spans a continuum ranging from high to low levels of commitment.

Research and the literature regarding homoattractional identity formation has primarily addressed identity development in gay, lesbian, and biattractional persons, with little or no mention of transgender persons who are the most visible minority among same-gender attracted persons and "have been emblematic of homosexuality in the minds of most people" (Devor, 2002, p. 5).

Transgender Identity Development

Aaron Holly Devor (2004) presents a 14-stage model of transsexual identity formation—a model where attractional orientation intersects with gender identity. This

model is applicable to "a wide range of transgendered persons—the majority of whom have self-identified as female-to-male transsexed or transgendered" (p. 42). Devor's model is based on two foundational themes. The first theme is witnessing, which involves validation of the transgendered person's gender and sex identities by nontransgendered friends, family, co-workers, and significant others. The second theme is *mirroring*, which involves validation of the transgendered person's gender and sexual identities by other transgendered persons. Devor proposes that transsexuals pass through 14 stages to achieve an integrated transsexual identity. For the sake of focus and brevity, the 14 stages will be only listed and are as follows: (1) Abiding Anxiety, (2) Identity Confusion about Originally Assigned Gender and Sex, (3) Identity Comparisons about Originally Assigned Gender and Sex, (4) Discovery of Transsexualism or Transgenderism, (5) Identity Confusion about Transsexualism or Transgenderism, (6) Identity Comparisons about Transsexualism or Transgenderism, (7) Tolerance of Transsexual or Transgendered Identity, (8) Delay Before Acceptance of Transsexual or Transgendered Identity, (9) Acceptance of Transsexual or Transgendered Identity, (10) Delay Before Transition, (11) Transition, (12) Acceptance of Post-Transition Gendersex Identity, (13) Integration, and (14) Pride. Devor offers a caveat by stating that this model cannot apply to all transgender persons in the same way due to the uniqueness of the person, the individual's worldview, and the individual's experiential base. Devor further contends that (a) the stages are not linear but can occur at different times in life; (b) all of the stages are not necessarily experienced by all people; (c) some people may pass through some stages more quickly or more slowly than others; (d) people will move through the stages in their

own time and in their own order, sometimes repeating some stages multiple times; and (e) "the model may be totally inapplicable to others" (p. 42).

Validation of the Stage Models

Research suggests that these theoretical models for homoattractional identity development are limited in their empirical validation. Eliason and Schope (2007) report that Cass (1979) has "some empirical validation," Coleman (1982) has "no empirical validation," Troiden (1989) conducted "interviews with 150 men," and Devor (2004) has "no empirical validation" (pp. 7-8). Future empirical research should be conducted in order to determine the validity of these stage models. However, despite the existing limitation regarding empirical validation of these stage models, they are yet quite useful to mental health professionals because they simplify developmental processes that are quite complex. Stage theories provide for human service providers (e.g., school personnel, therapists, counselors) guidelines for therapeutic interventions for individuals who are dealing with issues of attractional orientation and need mental health assistance (Eliason & Schope, 2007).

Eliason and Schope (2007) point out that there are themes that are common throughout all of the stage models including (a) identity formation is developmental, (b) the process of homoattractional identity formation starts with feelings of differentness, (c) identity disclosure is an important stage in the process, (d) identity pride and cultural immersion are important and necessary, and (e) there is a need for identity integration.

Models attempting to explain the process of homoattractional identity formation in adolescents have been dominated by stage models. Scholars, however, have recently constructed models that seek to explain attractional identity formation in adolescents in terms of "milestone" experiences (D'Augelli, 2006; Floyd & Stein, 2002).

Floyd and Stein (2002) developed a model indicating four key milestone events of homoattractional identity development based upon the four developmental stages of Troiden's (1989) stage model. According to Floyd and Stein, these milestones are: "first recognition of same-gender attractions, first same-gender sexual activity, first disclosure to someone, and first disclosure to parent" (p. 172). Floyd and Stein proposed that the earlier these milestones are reached, the greater the comfort with having a same-gender attractional orientation and the earlier self-labeling occurs but with the cost of higher levels of emotional distress.

A study of a national sample of 542 youths (62% male and 38% female) conducted by D'Augelli (2006) regarding male and female adolescent attractional orientation development suggests that there are "milestones" related to same-gender attractional orientation and those milestones occur at different ages. According to D'Augelli the milestones are: (a) age of awareness of same-gender attraction; (b) age of self-labeling as lesbian, gay, or biattractional; (c) age at which one discloses his or her same-gender attractional orientation; and (d) age of the first same-gender sexual experience. D'Augelli's study assessed milestones and the age at which the participants reported reaching those milestones and yielded the following results. First, awareness of

same-gender attractional feelings occurred about age 10 for male participants and age 11 for female participants. This finding regarding awareness of same-gender attractional feelings corroborates with the Smith, Dermer, and Astramovich (2005) study, which indicated that (a) youth develops a clear awareness of attractional orientation between 10 and 11 years of age; (b) self-labeling occurred 5 years after initial awareness, thus ages 15 and 16 for male and female participants, respectively; (c) the age of the first disclosure of attractional orientation for male and female participants occurred at approximately 17 with some youths reporting disclosure as early as age 10 and as late as age 21; and (d) about half (49%) reported having their first same-gender sexual experience between ages 15 and 18. Findings regarding the male participants in the D'Augelli study found that 83% of the male participants had their first same-gender sexual experience following their awareness of same-gender attraction with only 4% whose sexual experience preceded awareness. Further, 47% of the male participants' self- identification as gay preceded sex with a male; hence, awareness was followed by sexual experience. Noteworthy is that slightly over half of the male participants had heteroattractional sexual experience prior to self-identifying as gay. Additional findings regarding the female participants in the D'Augelli study found that in 83% of the female youths, awareness of same-gender feelings preceded same-gender sexual experiences, 45% self-identified as lesbian prior to having a same-gender sexual experience, and 53% of the female participants reported having their first same-gender sexual experience between age 15 and 18. Of note, 74% of the female participants reported having heteroattractional sexual experiences, with 68% of the participants having had sex with male partners prior to selfidentifying as lesbian.

The final model of homoattractional identity formation to be presented is a process-oriented model developed by Cox and Gallois (1996). Cox and Gallois developed a model for gay and lesbian attractional identity formation based on social identity theory. Social identity theory looks at the effects of society on identity processes and how those processes affect social structures. Social identity theory is based on the premise that we all have several social identities (e.g., religious persuasion, political affiliation, gender, attractional orientation, ethnicity, socioeconomic status) and all of the identities combined contribute to one's self-concept (Cox & Gallois, 1996). Furthermore, self-concept, being based on the totality of several identities, is influenced by time, popular culture, the ecological environment, and life circumstances (Eliason & Schope, 2007). This model explores two major processes: "self-categorization," which entails self-labeling and the adoption of the behaviors and values of the attractional minority culture, and "selfcomparison," which involves comparing one's group to another's group or comparing one's self to other individuals within and without one's group. According to Cox and Gallois, self-categorization can be made not only on the basis of sexual behaviors, but also on sexual feelings and attractions, all of which can change over time, making this model fluid and applicable to many sexual identities. Hollander (2000) applied this social identity model when addressing the developmental needs of youth who are "questioning" their attractional identity and thus states:

Questioning youths, therefore, may be viewed as engaging in a process of characterization at the individual level, resolving a process of self-estimation within a group, managing dependence needs for a group, and shaping new information and representations for sexual orientation identity. (p. 177)

Most models of attractional identity development are largely based on the experiences and testimonies of middle and upper class White lesbians and gay men (Greene, 1994; K. E. Robinson, 1994) with little or no reference to ethnic minority lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender, or individuals questioning their attractional orientation. Attractional minority youth, who are also members of an ethnic minority, become a minority within a minority, or as Chung and Katayama (1998) penned the phrase, the "invisible of the invisible" (p. 21). Many developmental issues are common to all attractional minority youth (e.g., self-acceptance, coming out, discrimination). Ethnic minority youth, however, face additional issues such as having to synthesize and integrate race, ethnicity, gender, and attractional orientation in a society that discriminates on the basis of those very identity markers. Thus ethnic minority youth face oppression on multiple fronts and "are required to manage more than one stigmatized identity, which increases their level of vulnerability and stress" (Ryan & Futterman, 1997, p. 14). The developmental outcome of ethnic attractional minority youth is largely based on how they deal with heteroattractionalism, homoprejudice, discrimination, oppression, and racism interculturally and intraculturally (Cass, 1979; Chung & Katayama, 1998).

Chung and Katayama's (1998) discussion on ethnic and attractional identity development of Asian American gay and lesbian adolescents speaks of many Asian cultures ascribing to the key concept of "Yin-Yang" which represents harmony, complementarity, and balance. According to the concept of Yin-Yang, two opposites should complement each other and therefore persons of opposite genders should naturally

be attracted to each other. The cultural belief of Yin-Yang intensifies heteroattractionalism and homoprejudice in many Asian cultures to the extent that living openly as a homoattractional person is rarely an option. In such cultures, attractional minority youth have no access to role models or information that can assist them in their attractional identity development (Chung & Katayama, 1998).

According to Chung and Katayama (1998), attractional identity development in Asian Americans follows two parallel psychological processes: (a) development of an integrated ethnic identity which involves accepting one's cultural heritage and other cultures, understanding racism and discrimination, and integrating ethnic and other identities; and (b) development of an integrated attractional identity, which entails accepting one's attractional orientation and the attractional orientations of others; understanding homoprejudice, heteroattractionalism, discrimination; and integrating one's attractional orientation with other personal identities. These parallel psychological processes seem applicable to other ethnic attractional minorities (e.g., African Americans, Latinos) who also must integrate ethnicity and attractional orientation. Regarding Asian-American attractional minority youth, Chung and Katayama posit that attractional identity development in Asian American youth could be easier in the United States than in their homelands and cultures due to the U.S. lesbian and gay community being more receptive to ethnic attractional minorities as manifested by interracial same-gender couples as opposed to many Asian homelands that find same-gender relationships anathema whether interracial or intraracial. However, Chung and Katayama believe that "fitting in the majority lesbian and gay community could be a frustrating experience" (p. 23).

Ethnic attractional minority youth must learn how to navigate and survive among many separate communities, each community governed and grounded by its own set of cultural values and beliefs. For example, African American attractional minority youths and adults must deal with: (a) racism from both mainstream society as well as the majority White lesbian and gay community; (b) homoprejudice from mainstream society and within the African American community; (c) sexism faced by lesbians of color from mainstream society and the African American community; (d) answering the question, "Am I black first or gay?"; (e) heteroattractionalism from all communities and society at large; and (f) rejection based on the religious values and beliefs that are culturally indicated by both the mainstream religious society and the African-American church (Diamond, 1994; Dubé & Savin-Williams, 1999, Eliason & Schope, 2007; Snider, 1996; Weiler, 2003).

In summary, stage models explaining homoattractional identity development suggest that individuals go through identifiable phases, stages, or events that are not necessarily linear and that any stage or combination of stages may need to be revisited at any time during the developmental process. Some models suggest that homoattractional identity formation entails individuals reaching milestones in the developmental process, while other models look at the interplay between the individual's many social identities and his or her developing homoattractional identity. The literature suggests that there are salient themes that are common to all models addressing homoattractional identity formation. A partial summary of these themes are provided by Eliason and Schope (2007) and now will be briefly summarized. First, identity formation is developmental and can occur over the lifespan starting from puberty and possibly continuing well into adulthood.

Second, the onset of attractional identity development is triggered by feelings of differentness ranging from gender atypical behaviors to sexual attraction and fantasies. The origin of this differentness (e.g., innate, environment, life experiences) has not been determined by theorists; neither are youth able to attach meaning at the onset of these feelings of differentness. Third, disclosure of one's homoattractional identity or "coming out" (a) denotes an integration of the private and public self, (b) is necessary for personal empowerment, (c) generally results in an increase in self-esteem, and (d) leads to a healthier state of mind as compared to those individuals who remain closeted and whose lives become dominated by fear of being discovered.

Fourth, pride and immersion in the attractional minority culture can be expressed through both positive and productive behaviors as well as risky and even dangerous behaviors. For instance, individuals can immerse themselves in the positive elements of the attractional minority culture by seeking and gaining more knowledge about their newly accepted attractional orientation and become empowered to work toward self-actualization and social change. On the other hand, youth can immerse themselves in the negative elements of the attractional minority culture and become engaged in sexual promiscuity and drugs and other substances resulting in a downward spiral leading to low self-esteem, depression, and possibly suicide.

Fifth, all models seem to agree on the necessity to synthesize and integrate the homoattractional identity into all of the other social identities that the individual possesses (e.g., ethnicity, religion) so that attractional identity becomes no more and no less salient than the other identities. Unfortunately, ethnic and attractional minority identities seem to be two identities that Western culture keeps in the forefront of

consciousness, conversation, media coverage, and public debate and therefore those identities are not allowed to become less salient than others.

Sixth and finally, none of the models discussed provided any depth of discussion or understanding regarding ethnic minorities having to interface attractional orientation with ethnicity. The developmental trajectories of ethnic minority youth with same-gender attractional concerns present a need for them to establish dual identities as an ethnic minority and as an attractional minority in a climate of systemic racism and heteroattractionalism (Chung & Katayama, 1998; Dubé & Savin-Williams, 1999; Snider, 1996). Often, ethnic attractional minority youth are pressured into choosing between disclosing their same-gender attractionality or participating in their ethnic communities (Dubé & Savin-Williams, 1998). The results of a study on the attractional identity development of ethnic attractional minority male youth (Dubé & Savin-Williams, 1998) indicate that these youth have "ethnic-specific developmental experiences" (p. 1396) that differ from their White attractional minority peers. These ethnic-specific differences include timing of identity milestones, sequencing of identity milestones, disclosure to family members, and opposite-gender romantic relationships. Such a study strongly suggests that all of the homoattractional identity formation models previously mentioned need to be revisited and modified in order to be applicable to ethnic attractional minority youths.

This section on adolescent homoattractional identity development speaks to the need for knowledge and understanding of the developmental issues that are peculiar and specific to attractional minority students. If school counselors are not knowledgeable regarding the developmental issues of attractional minority youth, then they are not able

to adequately serve this student population and address their needs. If there is a lack of knowledge, then is it due to the lack of training in school counseling and counselor education programs? This study hopes to provide answers to questions regarding school counselors' knowledge and training relative to the issues of attractional minority students because the school climate greatly affects the developmental trajectories of these students. The next section explores the sexualized/attractionalized context of American public schools, focusing on attractional orientation, the experiences of attractional minority students in public schools, as well as the experiences of school counselors as they relate to providing services to attractional minority students.

Attractional Orientation and U.S. Public Schools

One of the greatest arenas of controversy in K-12 education is whether discussions on issues of adolescent sexuality should occur in the classroom or should be confined to family discussions at home (Witt & Greene, 2002). One position contends that issues of sexuality should be discussed in a family forum with the parents "having the primary right and duty to educate their children about sexuality" (Rilla, 1998, p. 65). Another position contends that school teachers and counselors, in tandem with parents, should have the conversation about sex education in the classroom where the students can get accurate information and formal learning (Witt & Greene, 2002). One middle school felt that the discussion on sexuality was so necessary that the question went from whether sex education should be discussed in classrooms to whether the school should dispense condoms to middle schools students (CNN Prime News aired October 16, 2007). A greater controversy, however, is whether issues of same-gender attraction should be

discussed in K-12 classrooms. Do public schools in general, have the climate and the context that will allow discussion and discourse on same-gender attraction? Do the climate and contexts of American public schools allow for positive development of attractional minority students? Answers to these questions can be addressed by looking at the context through which public schools operate and in which attractional minority students develop.

The Hetero-sexualized Context of U.S. Public Schools

Donald B. Reed (1994) conducted a study discussing the sexualized context of American public schools, looking at how attractional minority youth in general, and gay male youth in particular, experience this sexualized context. First, Reed reports that U.S. public schools are operated by organizational structures (comprised of formal and informal structures) and governed by organizational beliefs. The formal structure consists of curricula, extra-curricular activities, and the classes through which they are delivered. The primary relationship in the formal structure is between the teacher and student. The informal structure involves social phenomena between students, with the primary relationship being between students. Within the informal structure can be seen friendship groups, cliques, and lone students, all of which whose conduct is dictated and controlled by the students and influenced by the community at large.

Reed (1994) defines organizational beliefs as the collective value orientations of its members as to what is right and good for the organization and the members' relationship with it. Reed contends that the organizational beliefs regarding attractionality in U.S. public high schools is that officially and implicitly, heteroattractionality is normal,

good, and desirable and those students exhibiting heteroattractional behavior should be supported. Conversely, unofficially and implicitly, homoattractionality is abnormal, bad, and undesirable and those students exhibiting homoattractional behavior should not be supported but perhaps, even punished. Therefore, the pervasiveness of official support for heteroattractional behavior translates into schools whose organizational structures (both formal and informal) aid students in establishing healthy and appropriate heteroattractional identities through curricula and extracurricular activities that have heteroattractional themes taught and supervised by presumed heteroattractional staff (Chesir-Teran & Hughes, 2009; Wallis & VanEvery, 2000).

Traditional schooling officially supports heteroattractional identities through textbooks, movies, classroom debates and discussions, field excursions, guest speakers, and social events (Marinoble, 1998). On the other hand, the (unofficial) nonsupport and punishment for homoattractional behavior translates into schools whose formal and informal structures do not assist lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender, or questioning students in establishing healthy and positive identities, but, on the contrary, denigrate and berate those students. The fact that school curricula are explicitly absent of anything alluding to homoattractionality is indicative of an implicit anti-homoattractional position (Chesir-Teran & Hughes, 2009; Reed, 1994; Wallis & VanEvery, 2000). Furthermore, if the members of the school organization have a collective belief system that homoattractionality is abnormal and bad, and if the beliefs of the members mirror the mores of the community within which the school functions, then there is a high probability that classroom discussions regarding attractional minority issues are not allowed for fear of creating or promoting homoattractionality (Uribe, 1994). The fear of

the possibility that homoattractionality can be transmitted through discussion and association with another homoattractional person is one manifestation of homoprejudice, and homoprejudice unchecked in a heterosexualized school environment can become school-sanctioned homoprejudice. Unks (1993/1994) states that U.S. high schools may be the most homoprejudice institutions in society "and woe is to anyone who would challenge the heterosexist premises on which they operate" (p. 2).

U.S. Public Schools and Attractional Minority Youth

Attractional minority youth experience school in much the same way as nongay youth: as a social organization through friendships that are formed through individual and small group affiliation (Reed, 1993). A great portion of a student's waking hours are spent in school and, in most instances, interactions with other students are more diverse, intense, and occur with greater frequency than do interactions with family members. Therefore, since school serves as a primary social organization and socializing agency, the developmental needs of all students must be taken seriously and receive the necessary attention and, when necessary, receive the necessary intervention.

Many schools in the United States are facing the reality of declining safety and an increase in violence, dropout rates, and suicide among their student populations. No schools are exempt: Public, private, and parochial schools located in large urban cities or small rural towns throughout the nation are reporting an increase in the daily amount of violence inflicted on students by other students. The reporting of violence in schools by the mass media has become a constant occurrence and a significant number of students feel unsafe in school (Kenny & Watson, 1996; Morley & Rossman, 1996). School

violence and harassment are generally attributed to the activities of drug dealing and gang members with the largest amount of school violence reported by mass media being presented within the context of drugs and gangs in low socioeconomic communities.

Consequently, drug dealers and gang members are generally the primary targets for intervention strategies promoted in school curricula and dropout prevention programs (Huff & Trump, 1996; Kenney & Watson, 1996; Morley & Rossman, 1996). However, there is a growing body of literature that indicates that there is a population of students who are facing unsafe school environments on a daily basis, and these students have no affiliation or affinity with gangs or drug dealings. Students who self-identify as LGBTQ are being verbally and emotionally abused and physically attacked based solely on their actual or "perceived" attractional orientation. School administrators, faculty, and teachers, who, in most instances, are knowledgeable of the abuses, are not adequately responding to the problems that these students are facing (Thurlow, 2001).

The Massachusetts Governor's Commission on Gay and Lesbian Youth (1993, cited in GLSTN-Detroit, 1996) reported that students who self-identify as gay and lesbian or perceived to be gay and lesbian are confronted with verbal harassment, physical violence, and emotional abuse on a regular basis. A survey conducted by the National Gay Task Force (1984) reported that 45% of the gay men and 20% of the lesbians who participated in the study had experienced harassment during their secondary school years. The findings of surveys conducted by the Gay, Lesbian and Straight Teachers Network of Detroit (GLSTN-Detroit, 1996) and the Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network (Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Kosciw, Diaz, & Greytak, 2008) indicated that the high school environment was most stressful for students who identified as LGBTQ.

School Experiences of Attractional Minority Youth

The school experiences of attractional minority youth are in many ways similar to those of their heteroattractional peers. Issues regarding being accepted, belonging, and fitting in with particular peer groups, family relationships, and ranking oneself according to peer standards become very important for all adolescents (Ginsberg, 1998; Roeser et al., 2000). All students desire a welcoming and safe school environment that is conducive to academic, social, vocational, and personal development. For many attractional minority youth, however, school is all but a safe place to develop and excel. Attractional minority students often endure verbal and physical harassment, physical and sexual assaults from other students, as well as endure ridicule from adult school personnel. Often, school administrators turn a blind eye to the harassment, a deaf ear to their complaints, and an emotional disconnect to their pain (Sadowski, 2001). As a result of this indifference shown on the part of school personnel, school for attractional minority students can be a very frightening and fearful place resulting in these students experiencing feelings of isolation and alienation, low self-esteem, loss of friends, frequent absences from class, truancy, poor academic performance, dropping out, running away, substance abuse, and suicide (Bailey & Phariss, 1996; Ginsberg, 1998; Harris, 1997; Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Kosciw et al., 2008; Rivers, 2000; Savin-Williams, 1994; Sullivan & Wodarski, 2002). At this point, the general experiences of attractional minority youth in the school setting will be presented in terms of school climate, victimization, social isolation and alienation, school attendance and dropping out of school, the lack of exposure to attractional minority persons, and issues in school curricula and resources.

One of the greatest determinants of a school's environment being conducive to learning and growth on the part of its student body is the school's climate. School climate is multidimensional and is comprised of the school's culture, values, available resources (Loukas & Murphy, 2007) as well as social networks, and organizational and instructional components (Roeser et al., 2000). School climate is greatly influenced by the values and beliefs of school administrators, personnel, staff, and the community in which the school serves. Harris Interactive and GLSEN (2005) state that school climate "is established by the behaviors and attitudes of the students, teachers and other school staff as well as the school's official policies" (p. 3). Loukas and Murphy report that when a school climate is perceived by students as being of good quality, then such a climate serves to protect each student, "moderating the impact of individual risk factors on adolescent emotional and behavioral adjustment" (p. 295). In addition, when students perceive that their school climate provides a sense of caring for each student and support for academic achievement and social development, then they are more likely to value school and feel academically competent and emotionally secure (Roeser et al., 2000). Conversely, if adolescents are in a climate where they feel marginalized, unprotected, disrespected, not cared for, disconnected, and academically and socially unsupported, then they are probably more apt to feel depressed, unmotivated, and unhappy; associate with negative peers; and exhibit poor academic and behavioral performances.

Studies indicate that the school climates in U.S. public schools, in general, are negatively impacting the academic, psychological, emotional, and social well-being of

attractional minority students (D'Augelli et al., 2002; Ginsberg, 1998; Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Harris, 1997; Kosciw et al., 2008; Rivers, 2000; Reed, 1993; Savin-Williams, 1994; Sullivan & Wodarski, 2002). Research suggests that attractional minority students are three times more likely than their heteroattractional peers to report feeling unsafe at school due to their actual or perceived attractional orientation and gender expression (Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Kosciw et al., 2008). "School is not just uninviting, it is often dangerous" (Stone, 2003, p. 145). Furthermore, because the majority of the school systems do not have support groups such as Gay-Straight Alliances and openly attractional minority faculty and staff (Tharinger & Wells, 2000), attractional minority students are most likely to feel unsupported with no positive attractional minority identity. According to the 2005 National School Climate Survey (Kosciw & Diaz, 2006) and the 2007 National School Climate Survey (Kosciw, Diaz, & Greytak, 2008), homophobic (homoprejudice) remarks were the most common biased language heard by students at school. Results from the 2007 National School Climate Survey indicated that: (a) 73.6% of the students surveyed reported hearing the words "faggot" or "dyke," (b) 90.2% of the respondents reported frequently hearing the comments "that's so gay" and "you're so gay" in a manner meant to devalue the recipient of the comments and such comments were often made in the presence of faculty or school staff, (c) only 17.6% reported intervention by staff when homoprejudice remarks were made, (d) 63.0% of the students surveyed reported hearing homoprejudice remarks from teachers and other school personnel, (e) 60.8% of the students surveyed reported feeling unsafe in school primarily due to their attractional orientation, and (f) 38.4% felt unsafe due to gender expression. Results from the Harris Interactive & GLSEN (2005) survey indicated that

74.2% reported feeling unsafe due to attractional orientation, gender, or religion, a statistic not provided in the GLSEN 2008 (Kosciw et al., 2008) survey. Finally, GLSEN (2006) reported being appalled that a school board vice president in a school district in Pennsylvania referred to students of a high school Gay-Straight Alliance (GSA) as "faggots" in a public meeting. GLSEN Pittsburgh called for an apology from that board member.

The 2007 National School Climate Survey (Kosciw et al., 2008) analyzed data on school climate in U.S. schools as an aggregate, and also at the individual state level. Data obtained from 217 respondents participating in the national survey who, at the time of the national survey, were also attending schools in Michigan, indicated that the school climate in Michigan schools was not safe for many students who are lesbian, gay, biattractional, and transgender (Kosciw et al., 2008). Demographic descriptors of the 217 respondents in the Michigan survey indicated that 100% identified as lesbian, gay, biattractional, or transgender; 72% White, 9% Native American, 6% Latino, 4% African American, and 3% Asian/Pacific Islander; 94% attended public school, and 22% were in urban and 46% in suburban communities. Major findings derived from the Michigan respondents as they relate to attractional minority students indicate: (a) 97% reported hearing "high frequencies" of homoprejudice remarks (e.g., "faggot," "dyke," and "that's so gay") with little or no intervention on behalf of attractional minority students by teachers and staff; (b) 21% reported regularly hearing homoprejudice remarks from school staff and 21% reported regularly hearing negative remarks from school staff about a student's gender expression; (c) 45% reported physical harassment in school due to their attractional orientation and 31% due to their gender expression; and (d) 21%

reported being physically assaulted in school because of their attractional orientation and 13% because of their gender expression. Of those who reported experiencing verbal and physical harassment and assault due to attractional orientation and gender expression, 72% reported feeling unsafe at their schools, 34% reported skipping class, and 32% reported skipping an entire day of school in the past month due to feeling unsafe.

Additionally, attractional minority students experiencing a negative school climate also experienced diminished academic outcomes as a result of skipping classes and missing days of school for fear of harassment. A final note, LGBT-related resources and supports that could improve school climates (e.g., safe school policies, supportive staff, literature and curricula, GSAs) were inaccessible to the majority of students in Michigan schools.

The 2005 National School Climate Survey (Kosciw & Diaz, 2006) and the Report on School Climate in Michigan Survey (GLSEN, 2005b) discussed teachers' perspectives in relation to attractional minority students but did not mention the role of school counselors, school counselors' perspectives, nor their ability or lack thereof to affect school climate change on behalf of this student population. The 2007 National School Climate Survey (Kosciw et al., 2008) presented neither teachers' or school counselors' perspectives, only the perspectives of students. Therefore, a desired outcome of this current study is to bring the voice of school counselors into the discussion regarding meeting the needs of attractional minority students.

In summary, indicators of a negative school climate are verbal harassment that goes unchallenged; heterosexists texts and curricula which excludes positive images of gay and lesbian persons; attractional minority teachers, counselors, and staff, who could provide role models for attractional minority youth, must themselves remain in hiding;

and the lack of positively appropriate literature in school libraries that could assist in the developmental process of attractional minority students. Homoprejudiced remarks by students and/or teachers that are supported in a heterosexist and homoprejudice school climate can have a deleterious psychological and emotional effect on attractional minority students and serve as precursors to more serious acts of victimization.

Victimization

An estimated 2.9 million gay and lesbian students and an unknown number of heteroattractional students who are perceived to be gay are victims or at-risk for becoming victims of peer harassment (Klein, 2006). The Safe Schools Coalition of Washington State is a coalition comprised of 34 public agencies and private organizations whose primary task is to create a safe environment in all Washington public schools for attractional minority youth, their families, and attractional minority educators. The Coalition's 1995 study documented 27 anti-gay incidents of violence in Washington Public Schools against attractional minority students, including sexual assaults and six incidents of gang rapes. Of the gang rapes, two of the victims were urinated on, one target was vomited on, one target was ejaculated on, and one teen's hand was broken. Anti-gay slurs (e.g., faggot, dyke, queer, etc.) were used by the perpetrators while committing the assaults and rapes. The incidents involved both male and females with 25% of the victims being ethnic minorities. The attacks and constant harassment resulted in four youths dropping out of school, a suicide, and attempted suicides being reported. The qualitative study conducted by The Safe Schools Coalition of Washington State (1999) was grimmer than the 1995 study, reporting 111 documented incidents of anti-gay harassment resulting

in 10 students dropping out of school, 10 students attempting suicide, and 2 students committing suicide. In both the 1995 and 1999 studies, victimization occurred at the elementary, middle, and high school levels, with the youngest victim being 6 years old, and the perpetrators outnumbering the victim 2.5 to 1. A similar study conducted by the Austin [Texas] Human Rights Commission (1995) corroborated the Washington State studies, reporting that gay and lesbian youth in that city shared experiences of being beaten, spat on, and threatened for being gay and lesbian or perceived as gay or lesbian.

Klein (2006) contends that evidence in the high profile school shootings that took place between 1996 and 2001 suggests that the perpetrators of the school shootings were victims themselves of homoprejudice bullying and gay and gender-related verbal harassment in which they were called gay or were implicated as being homoattractional. Data from an ethnographic study conducted in the United Kingdom on sixth grade students (ages 10–11) suggested that heterosexist and homoprejudice harassment expressed through name-calling, teasing, and bullying, occurred as early as primary school (Renold, 2002).

A study conducted by D'Augelli et al. (2002) on the incidence of victimization directly related to attractional orientation and its impact on the mental health of attractional minority students in high school yielded troubling results. More than 50% had been verbally abused, nearly 25% had been threatened with violence, more than 10% had been physically attacked, and over 20% had been threatened with the disclosure of their attractional orientation (also known as being "outed"). D'Augelli's (2006) study on the mental health among lesbian, gay, and biattractional youth identified six "lifetime victimization experiences" (p. 45) along with their reported frequencies of occurrence.

Eighty-one percent of the youth reported experiencing verbal abuse (54% experiencing three or more incidences); 38% reported threats of physical attacks (14% having been threatened with violence three or more times); 22% reported having objects thrown at them; 15% reported assaults (punched, kicked, or beaten); 6% reported threats with weapons; and 16% reported having been sexually assaulted. Further results from the D'Augelli study indicated that male participants had been threatened with violence more often than females; peers were identified as the most common assailants, followed by parents, with fathers being more verbally abusive toward sons than toward daughters. More mothers were perpetrators of physical attacks than fathers, with the attacks being directed at daughters more than sons. Additionally, the youth in this same report expressed fear of verbal harassment and attacks at school from other students. Finally, D'Augelli (2002) and D'Augelli et al. (2006) found that youth who had early awareness, self-identification as LGBT, gender atypical behavior and expression, and disclosed their same-gender attraction to others, reported more direct victimization due to attractional orientation over the lifespan. All of the previously mentioned studies are consistent with the national study conducted by GLSEN (Kosciw & Diaz, 2006; Kosciw et al., 2008) on school climate in the U.S. The in-school shooting death of Larry King, an openly gay eighth grade student at the E. O. Green Junior High School in Oxnard, California, committed by a 14-year-old fellow student named Brandon McInerney, is another horrific, sad, and tragic example of a school being a deadly place for an attractional minority student (Setoodeh, 2008).

The deleterious effects of the daily victimization of attractional minority students or those perceived as such can be clearly understood in the tragic deaths of two 11-year-

old boys. On April 6, 2009, 11-year-old Carl J. Walker-Hoover of Springfield, Massachusetts, committed suicide and the suicide was attributed to constant harassment and bullying. Carl, a middle school student and Boy Scout who played on the football, basketball, and soccer teams, did not identify as gay but was constantly taunted and called gay. Ten days later in Decatur, Georgia, 11-year-old Jaheem Herrera, a student who had all A's and B's on his report card, also committed suicide. Jaheem's suicide was attributed to constantly being taunted and called gay by bullies (Tresniowski, Driscoll, Thomas, Helling, & Breuer, 2009).

GLSEN (Kosciw et al., 2008) surveyed students regarding the school climate in U.S. schools. The major findings of the study indicate that (a) 73.6% of the teens reported frequently hearing homoprejudice remarks made in school by students; (b) 63% of the students reported hearing homoprejudice remarks made in school from teachers or other school staff; (c) 86.2% of the students reported being verbally harassed in school due to their attractional orientation and 66.5 had been verbally harassed in school due to gender expression; (d) 44.1% reported being physically harassed (e.g. shoving, pushing) in school due to attractional orientation and 30.4% due to gender expression; (e) 22.1% report being physically assaulted due to attractional orientation and 14.2% due to gender expression; (f) 9 in 10 reported hearing "that's so gay" or "you're so gay" in which gay is referred to as something derogatory; (g) attractional orientation and gender expression were cited as being the most prominent reason for frequent harassment at school with 90% of the students reporting harassment due to their attractional orientation; and (h) 54.8% of the respondents reported that their personal property (e.g., car, clothes, books) were stolen or deliberately damaged at school.

The impact of victimization on social interactions and relations were also assessed in the GLSEN (2008) study. Their findings indicated that 87.6% of the respondents reported being victims of "relational aggression" in which they were the targets of vicious rumors and lies for the purpose of damaging social relationships with peers. Also regarding relational aggression, 55.4% of the respondents reported "cyberbullying" in which they received threatening and harassing e-mails and/or text messages.

Comparing the National School Climate Surveys (Kosciw & Diaz, 2006; Kosciw et al., 2008) reporting the findings of 2005 and 2007 provide some positive trends. Biased language decreased slightly from 2005 (76%) to 2007 (73.6%). Intervention by staff, upon hearing biased language, slightly increased from 2005 (16.5%) to 2007 (17.6%) and feeling unsafe due to gender expression slightly decreased from 2005 (40.7%) to 2007 (38.4%). However, there are also some reasons for disappointment when comparing the two surveys. Homoprejudice expressions (e.g., "that's so gay") increased from 2005 (89%) to 2007 (92%), and feeling unsafe due to attractional orientation significantly increased from 2005 (40.7%) to 2007 (60.8%). However, there were no significant changes from 2001 to the present, regarding verbal harassment and assault relative to gender expression. The findings of other studies on the victimization of attractional minority students in school are congruent with the GLSEN findings. Charles (2000) interviewed 190 lesbian and gay young adults regarding their school experiences and found that 40% of those bullied because of their attractional orientation attempted suicide or harmed themselves. In this same study, many dropped out of school and 1 in 6 suffered posttraumatic stress disorder later in life.

GLSEN's report (Kosciw & Diaz, 2006) on school climate also assessed the attitudes of teachers regarding the victimization of attractional minority students. Sixty four percent of the middle school teachers and 53% of the high school teachers surveyed described bullying as a serious problem at their schools. In addition, 73% of the teachers strongly agree that they have a responsibility to ensure that the educational milieu is a safe learning environment for attractional minority students, and 47% of those teachers believe that anti-harassment and anti-discrimination policies would assist in making the environment safer.

The GLSEN study (Kosciw & Diaz, 2006) surveyed teachers and students and reported their perspectives regarding the safety of attractional minority students in U.S. schools. However, the GLSEN study provided no perspective from school counselors. It is the intent of this study to assist in filling that lack of perspective from school counselors regarding attractional minority students in Michigan schools.

Social Isolation and Alienation

"No [hu]man is an island, entire of itself" (John Donne, 1572–1631). This statement can be understood to mean that human beings do not thrive when they are isolated from others but are interconnected to the extent that one person's demise diminishes everyone. Regarding adolescents in general not wanting to be an island, Ginsberg (1998) states succinctly, "The need to belong is the quintessential adolescent imperative" (p. 1). Opportunities to talk with family, significant adults, and peers and to share thoughts and feelings with them are common needs for all adolescents, especially

attractional minority adolescents who desire support and acceptance (Omizo, Omizo, & Okamoto, 1998).

School should be a place where students learn how to appropriately interact with peers and adults (Marinoble, 1998) and daily attendance at school provides students with lessons on acceptance, sharing, conflict resolution, and collaborating with others. School is generally recognized as "the predominant setting for adolescents' socialization" (Pollock, 2006, p. 31). As previously mentioned, the heteroattractionalized context of U.S. public schools provides an atmosphere for positive social interactions with peers and adults for heteroattractional youth because heteroattractionality is in sync with what is considered normal and praiseworthy. It also reflects what is expected and accepted in society and in the communities that public schools serve. However, the explicit heteroattractionalized context of school with its implicit (and sometimes explicit) antihomoattractional nature can be a lonely, alienating, and hostile milieu for many attractional minority youth who in fear feel the need to hide and conceal their authentic selves. D'Augelli and Hershberger (1993) studied 194 lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth, ages ranging from 15 to 21 who attended programs in 14 community centers. This study reported that 46% of the gay youth who "came out" to friends lost at least one friend due to their revealed attractional orientation. Marsiglio (1993) conducted a national survey of heteroattractional young people whose ages ranged from 15 to 19 regarding their attitudes about homosexual activity and having gays as friends. Results of the study found that 89% of the male respondents held negative stereotypes against gays, describing sex between two men as "disgusting," and therefore were unlikely to have gays as friends.

Youth are taught from a very early age to be honest and authentic (i.e., "Be yourself" and "March to the beat of your own drum"). However, when students, in fear of their same-gender attraction being discovered, have to live dishonestly through concealing their same-gender attraction, guilt and shame can become both emotionally and psychologically dominating. Furthermore, because attractional minority youth fear being their authentic selves, the lack of authenticity (i.e., living a lie) becomes pervasive in all of their social relationships thus, leading to the development of a deceptive self (Cooley, 1998; Hetrick & Martin, 1987; Reed, 1992; Tasker & MCann, 1999; Zera, 1992). This deceptive self can lead to attractional minority youth withdrawing from many social events with peers resulting in increased feelings of social and psychological isolation and alienation (Tharinger & Wells, 2000). Feelings of isolation and alienation are exacerbated when family relationships are disrupted after the student discloses to his or her family that he or she is same-gender attracted.

While some attractional minority youth discover total acceptance by their families, others experience total rejection which can be manifested in the school setting through isolation, poor academic performance, lack of concentration, depression, and unexplained anger and hostility (Marinoble, 1998). Furthermore, feelings of isolation and invisibility may increase when school curricula make no positive reference to LGBT individuals and their historical as well as contemporary contributions to U.S. society and the world. In conclusion, the school experience for most attractional minority students involves being educated to remain invisible (Dunham, 1989). Social isolation and alienation can lead to attractional minority students becoming disenchanted and

disenfranchised with school possibly resulting in total withdrawal from academic pursuits.

School Attendance and Dropping Out

The Massachusetts Department of Education (as cited in Ireland, 2000) questioned approximately 4,000 high school students and determined that self-identified attractional minority students were seven times more likely than other students to have skipped school due to feelings of being unsafe. The dropout rate among attractional minority students is disproportionately high compared to their heteroattractional peers. Bart (1998) estimated the drop-out rate for attractional minority students to be three times the national average.

A study conducted in Seattle, Washington, by the Seattle Commission on Children and Youth (1988) estimated that 40% of the youth who dropped out of public schools and became "street children" in urban cities were youth who identified as lesbian, gay, and biattractional. A major study conducted by Virginia Uribe (1994) in one of the 10 largest school districts in the United States found that the dropout rate for gay and lesbian students "is disproportionately high in comparison to their statistical incidence in the general population" (Uribe, 1994, p. 11).

Schwartz (1994) summarized the findings from several studies conducted by the federal government and private organizations regarding youth dropping out of school. In Schwartz's listing of "Who is at risk for dropping out?" and "Reasons why youth drop out," there was no mention of gay and lesbian students or students struggling with attractional orientation issues as being at-risk for dropping out. However, Schwartz did

mention that one of the reasons that youth dropped out of school is that they did not feel safe in school; nevertheless, she failed to indicate the reason(s) for the students not feeling safe. Could the issue of attractional orientation have been one of the reasons for students not feeling safe in the Schwartz summary?

The 1993-94 drop out study reported by the School District of the City of Saginaw, Michigan (Claus & Quimper, 1995) gave 15 reasons why students dropped out of school. Once again, as in the Schwartz summary, there was no mention of attractional orientation issues or harassment of peers due to attractional orientation as possible factors influencing dropping out. A matter of fact, the School District of Saginaw reported that no one dropped out of school due to poor relationships with peers.

According to the National School Climate Surveys (Kosciw & Diaz, 2006; Kosciw et al., 2008) and McFarland and Dupuis (2001), attractional minority students, when compared with the general secondary school population, were (a) five times more likely to report skipping school in the previous month for fear of their safety than heteroattractional students; (b) twice as likely to report that they were planning not to finish high school or go to college; and (c) if frequently victimized, had a grade point average a half of grade lower than those who experienced less harassment. Furthermore, students who experienced frequent harassment based on attractional orientation and gender expression reported grade point averages significantly lower than students who experienced less harassment. In conclusion, when students do not feel safe in school, they are more likely to avoid an unsafe environment either through truancy or dropping out altogether.

In a heteroattractionalized school context, the identity of heteroattractional students is constantly reinforced through the school curriculum, the media resources used as teaching tools in-class; library resources; and school administrators, teachers, staff, and guest speakers who all serve as heteroattractional role models. Furthermore, curricula and course content are primarily taught by heteroattractional instructors who teach as though they are only instructing heteroattractional students (Fontaine, 1998). An instructor teaching as though he or she is teaching only to heteroattractional students is problematic because, in such an instance, the heteroattractional viewpoint will most likely be the only viewpoint presented, with the possibility of saying words that may be damaging to those of other attractional identities. As homoattractional forms of identity, behavior, and relationships are ignored in curricula and classroom discussions, an assumed heteroattractional paradigm is perpetuated (Ginsberg, 1998). Telljohann and Price's (1993) examination of adolescents' life experiences as they relate to secondary school personnel indicated that 50% of the female and 37% of the male respondents reported that classroom discussions on homoattractionality were "handled negatively" to "pretty negatively," "briefly," "not very well," and with "no response by the teacher" (p. 49). Unfortunately, in most schools there is a wall of silence that prevents any positive reference to attractional minority issues (Bailey & Phariss, 1996; Rofes, 1989). For example, history textbooks make little or no reference to the contributions that attractional minority individuals have made in this country and the world. Sex education classes rarely, if ever, make positive mention of same-gender affection. Most school

library resources do not provide affirming and accurate information on homoattractionality. And very few public schools will allow guest speakers who are gay, lesbian, biattractional, transgender, parents who are gay or lesbian, or parents of attractional minority youth, to come as guest speakers and share their experiences.

Appropriate and accurate information along with positive role models will assist youth, gay or nongay, in developing into a fully functioning person (Jennings, 1995). Any segment of the school population that does not receive the needed resources for academic, social, vocational, and personal development is not receiving an appropriate education.

Powell (1987) wrote on "Homosexual Behavior and the School Counselor" over 20 years ago and posits that school counselors should "take the lead" in choosing literature on gay issues to be placed in school and local libraries as well as educating "officials" as to the need for this literature (pp. 206–207). When students in general and attractional minority students in particular do not receive accurate and appropriate information from an educational institution, there is the potential for students to become at-risk for many personal problems and social ills. In conclusion, the literature suggests that traditional public schools are doing little towards contributing to the positive identity development of attractional minority students which can increase these students' propensity to engage in at-risk behaviors.

Attractional Minority Youth At-Risk

Research indicates that attractional minority youth are disproportionately at-risk for many personal and social ills as compared to their heteroattractional peers.

Attractional minority youth are at-risk for suicide, substance abuse, family conflict and homelessness, and sexually transmitted diseases.

Suicide

Attractional minority youth are among the most likely to report suicidal ideation, plans, and attempts (S. T. Russell, 2003), and suicide is considered the number one cause of death in U.S. gay and lesbian adolescents (Marinoble, 1998). Gibson's (1989) study of teen suicides, funded by the United States Department of Health and Human Services, found that suicide is the leading cause of death among attractional minority youth, they are 2 to 3 times more likely to attempt suicide than their heteroattractional peers, and attractional minority youth "may comprise 30 percent of completed youth suicides annually" (p. 110). The statistics in the Gibson study were once debated due to criticism that the samples consisted of self-identified gay and lesbian youth who were opportunistic and nonrepresentative and the study offered no comparison group or control group (S. T. Russell, 2003). However, the statistics Gibson cites regarding the suicide rate of attractional minority youth were later corroborated by the findings in subsequent studies (D'Augelli & Hershberger, 1993; Rotheram-Borus, Rosario, et al., 1994; Schneider et al., 1989). The results of a national study on adolescent attractional orientation and suicide risk (Russell & Joyner, 2001) indicates that suicidal ideation was reported by the respondents to have occurred between 48 and 76%, while 29 to 42% of the respondents had attempted suicide.

Kourany (1987) suggested several risk contexts as causative factors leading to the high incidence of suicidality among attractional minority youth. The risks contexts

include "adolescent intrapsychic distress" (e.g., feelings of isolation, rejection, low self-esteem, identity confusion); socioenvironmental pressures such as external distress manifested in difficulty to communicate with peers and at school; psychiatric disorders (e.g., depression, character disorder); media exposure to suicide as a viable option; and drug and alcohol abuse. Other risk factors related to suicide among attractional minority students include a hostile school environment (Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Kosciw et al., 2008; Price & Telljohann, 1991); multiple minority status (e.g., homoattractional and Latino/a, homoattractional, African American, and female) (Lebson, 2002); verbal and physical abuse attributed to attractional orientation (Savin-Williams, 1994); gender nonconformity; early awareness of homoattractional feelings; disclosure to family and friends; and the combined influence of lack of family support and lack of self-acceptance (Hershberger & D'Augelli, 1995).

However, Shaffer, Fisher, Parides, and Gould (1995) challenge the claim that suicidal ideation and suicide completions are the direct result of stigmatization and gay youth being unsupported. Shaffer et al. seem to purport that "suicide is most common in individuals with a psychiatric illness, rather than in individuals with a 'hard life'" (p. 71). Furthermore, Shaffer et al. suggest that the suicide rate among attractional minority youth is not "significantly" higher than heteroattractional youth, nor do the risk factors for suicide among attractional minority youth differ when compared to those indicated for heteroattractional youth. The perspective posited by Shaffer et al. is also shared by Safren and Heimberg (1999), who, in comparing factors related to suicide between attractional minority and heteroattractional adolescents, suggested that other environmental factors (e.g., lack of social support, coping skills, stress related to coming out to family or being

discovered) which can be identified and changed through prevention and intervention, played a more salient role in suicidality than attractional orientation itself. Nonetheless, most published research suggests that the primary struggle that potentially leads to suicide is not the issue of same-gender attraction that students are experiencing, but living in a homoprejudice, homo-negative, and homo-hostile society that discriminates against and stigmatizes LGBT persons while failing to recognize that a substantial number of its youth have a gay or lesbian orientation. Savin-Williams (1994) referred to the factor most affecting gay adolescent suicide as the "debilitating effects of growing up in a homophobic society" (p. 266).

Substance Abuse

Many gay and lesbian youth will not choose suicide as a way of escaping the harsh realities of trying to develop a positive homoattractional identity in a school environment and a society that is homoprejudice, homohostile, and heterosexist (Bailey & Phariss, 1996; Johnson, 1996). However, there are those who choose other self-destructive behaviors including the use of illicit substances, in an attempt to cope with isolation, alienation, and internalized homoprejudice. Research indicates that attractional minority youth have a greater propensity to use and abuse cigarettes, alcohol, and drugs than their heteroattractional peers. Rosario, Hunter, and Gwadz (1997) conducted a study examining substance use and abuse among attractional minority youth in New York City. Their findings indicate that females were 6.4 times more likely to abuse substances than their heteroattractional female peers; furthermore, gay and biattractional males were 4.4 times more likely to use drugs than their heteroattractional male peers.

There are many reasons why attractional minority youth use and abuse alcohol and other drugs. Leading influences in the abuse of substances are internalized homoprejudice (the negative view that attractional minority youth have of themselves due to negative external influences) and externalized homoprejudice (the negative view that society acts out on attractional minorities in general). Other causative factors that lead to the abuse of alcohol and/or drugs among attractional minority youth include attempts to (a) defer feelings associated with self-hatred, low self-esteem, low self-image, and rejection by family and peers; (b) be accepted by heteroattractional peers that also encourage drinking and substance abuse; (c) decrease anxiety associated with the stigma felt in developing a homoattractional identity (Kus, 1988); (d) discharge sexual impulses more comfortably; (e) decrease feelings of depression and isolation; and (f) escape the pain of exclusion and ridicule. Additionally, although the Internet has provided an electronic means for social networking among all youth (e.g., chat rooms, instant messaging), there is often a lack of age-appropriate social outlets for attractional minority youth to meet face-to-face. Therefore, the secluded nature of the gay bar and its importance as a social center may become a social milieu for many attractional minority youth (Jordan, 2000). Unfortunately, the role models for many attractional minority youth who are just coming into the stage of integrating and synthesizing their homoattractional identity are attractional minority adults who use and abuse substances. Abuse of alcohol and other substances has been associated with many life problems including depression, which can ultimately lead to suicide (Wu et al., 2004).

The family serves as the primary socializing institution for the transmission of morals and values, for providing psychological and emotional support, as well as being the primary means for supplying basic physical needs (e.g., food, shelter, sustenance) (Mallon, 1999). Often, attractional minority youth face major family disruption upon disclosure of their same-gender attraction or deciding to live openly as gay, lesbian, biattractional, or as a transgender person. The results of a qualitative study conducted by Telljohan and Price (1993) examining adolescent homoattractional life experiences indicated that 42% of the female and 30% of the male interviewees reported that their families negatively responded to their disclosure of their same-gender attractional orientation. Another qualitative study conducted by Mufioz-Plaza, Quinn, and Rounds (2002) indicated that during high school, most participants reported not having come out to their parents because family members would have offered only limited love and care, limited accurate information, and limited financial support. In this same study, one gay male interviewee stated that his primary fear of disclosure to his parents was being disowned, "having the doors changed, having the locks changed literally" (p. 56).

The negative response from parents upon learning of their child's same-gender attractional orientation is sometimes fueled by their own personal feelings of guilt and fear, causing them to question as to whether their parenting skills were to blame (Telljohann & Price, 1993). In some instances, when youth "come out" to parents, the parents deny their claims with statements such as "You just haven't met the right guy/girl yet." Such a response is problematic because when attractional minority youths'

disclosures are strongly and/or consistently denied by family members, then discussion on the subject of attractional orientation eventually ceases. This hampers a positive relationship between parent and child (Pisha, 1996). In addition, some families simply refuse to discuss the issue of attractional orientation, resulting in possible psychological harm due to emotional ostracism of the adolescent who is now living in an environment that does not even acknowledge a major component of his or her being. In many instances, the emotional ostracism is so great that attractional minority youth will remove themselves from the home based on not feeling loved, accepted, or welcomed.

Attractional minority youth from families with very conservative religious and moral persuasions who believe that same-gender affection is sinful, are often placed in "reparative" or "sexual orientation conversion therapy" (psychotherapy or counseling aimed at eliminating or suppressing same-gender sexual desires) or "ex-gay" or "transformational ministries" (the use of religion to change attractional orientation) (Just the Facts Coalition, 2008; Karslake, 2007). Attractional minority youth whose families do not place them in therapies to "set the kid straight," often force them out and push them away from their homes and into the streets where day-to-day survival becomes their preoccupation. These homeless youth may relocate to larger cities and find "houses" where other attractional minority youth have been taken off of the streets and provided food and shelter. Often, these houses are headed by older gay or lesbian persons who, depending on many factors, will either guide the ostracized youth in pathways that will lead to education, independence, and a productive life, or to a life of partying, nonproductivity, and sexual promiscuity. Due to limited education, these runaway or pushed away youth may be forced into prostitution with its potential dangers of physical

and sexual assaults as well as the constant threat of exposure to sexually transmitted diseases including HIV/AIDS (Marinoble, 1998; Savin-Williams, 1994).

Sexually Transmitted Diseases

A great number of attractional minority youth are able to accept their same-gender attraction and ultimately synthesize and integrate that identity into all aspects of their lives. Not all attractional minority youth, however, accept their homoattractional orientation but, instead, try to deny or suppress it by becoming hypersexual with the opposite gender, thereby potentially heightening the likelihood of exposure to all types of drug-resistant sexually transmitted diseases including syphilis, gonorrhea, and HIV/AIDS. Other attractional minority youth, upon feeling unsupported in their search for understanding of their newly discovered attractional orientation, will seek out supportive adult relationships through impersonal casual sex which can also increase exposure to sexually transmitted diseases (Tellhohann & Price, 1993). Research indicates that many adults who are HIV positive were possibly infected during their adolescent years (GLSTN, 1994-1996). It is important to recognize, however, that not all attractional minority youth take the path of substance abuse, dropping out of school, sexual promiscuity, and other self-defeating behaviors when coping with their newly discovered same-gender attractional orientation. There are attractional minority youth who are resilient and choose a path of survival, productivity, and excellence.

Attractional Minority Youth and Resilience

A great number of attractional minority youth develop into intelligent, emotionally strong, and productive adults. A substantial amount of literature, much of it previously reviewed in this chapter, discusses the developmental issues of attractional minority youth. In most instances, the literature is written from a problem-focused perspective, focusing on the problems that attractional minority youth face such as negatively influenced homoattractional identity development, hostile school environments, running away, prostitution, substance abuse, familial and peer rejection, and suicide, which have been summarized above. Due to the majority of the literature being problem-focused, it is easy to assume and believe that all attractional minority youth follow a singular developmental trajectory that leads to personal ills and dysfunctional behaviors. However, this does not appear to be the reality for all attractional minority youth. There are many attractional minority youth who are well adjusted and receive unconditional love and support from their families, schools, and communities (Macgillivray, 2000).

Unfortunately, there is a paucity of research-based literature that discusses attractional minority youth from a strength-based perspective: focusing on their strengths, competent social skills, coping skills, and resilience. Rhee (2004) conducted a study comparing the resilience of attractional minority students and heteroattractional students who were recent high school graduates and had been victims of school violence. The study involved exploring a possible linkage between school violence victimization and students' ability to cope, seek and use social support, and engage in healthy behaviors.

Results indicated that attractional minority students experienced greater amounts of victimization and exhibited a greater degree of resilience and coping skills than their heteroattractional peers.

Webb's (2004) study of a national sample of young women who self-identified as being attracted to other women found that they were highly resilient at all stages of attractional identity development based on the results of several inventories assessing childhood gender role behavior, self-identity, daily hassles, and resilience using the Washington Resilience Scale. This same study found no correlation between pre-adolescent feelings of differentness and resilience level. Dubeau and Emenheiser (1999) discuss adolescents becoming aware of their attractional identity and suggest strategies that individuals, schools, organizations, and community resources can use to help build the resilience in attractional minority youth that will assist them in the coming out process.

Sanders and Kroll (2000) take a family systems approach when discussing resilience relative to gay and lesbian youth and their families. Sanders and Kroll suggest that when a child exhibits gender atypical behaviors and/or expresses the possibility of being transsexual, gay, or lesbian to his or her family, then the entire family along with the gay youth must be empowered to accept and work with all of the possibilities presented. Sanders and Kroll also provide strategies and suggestions that can foster resilience in gay and lesbian youth and their families.

Anderson's (1998) study of self-identified gay, urban, middle-class White males in their late adolescence, the majority of whom were recruited from support groups for attractional minority youth, provides examples of attractional minority youth who

demonstrated (a) self-esteem levels greater than youth overall (with non-White attractional minority youth scoring the highest); (b) competent social skills and good judgment in seeking out and utilizing those significant others who would be safe and supportive (e.g., parents, significant adults, gay and nongay peers) and sensing the appropriate time to seek such support; (c) reframing their attractional orientation by viewing it as a source of strength instead of a source of shame; (d) that their struggle was not with their same-gender attractional orientation but with trying to manage that identity in the midst of societal homoprejudice; and (e) the development of "crisis management skills that non-gay youth may not achieve until later in life" (p. 67). This same study also noted that youth of color reported that experiences with racism assisted them in dealing with discrimination associated with attractional orientation. Anderson's study, however, has limitations due to the use of a nonrandom population. Therefore, he notes that the findings cannot be generalized to all gay youth, particularly youth of color. Nevertheless, the study does seem to suggest that, from a strengths perspective, "gay youth have insights into life-management skills that can be helpful to other young people" (p. 69).

There is a growing thread in the literature that presents attractional minority students from a strengths perspective. However, in many instances, the strengths of attractional minority students are not recognized until late adolescence when the students are at the end of high school, out of high school and attending college, or have transitioned from school to the world of work. The Anderson (1998) study indicates that the majority of participants was part of a support group and had strong and long-standing support from parents as well as support from other significant adults and nongay peers. The majority of the research, however, seems to suggest that such support is not typical

and not generally realized at the middle and high school educational levels. Also, the majority of the research appears to suggest that most attractional minority youth lack support and support groups with whom they can meet to receive encouragement. Therefore, the focus of this study continues to be on school counselors meeting the developmental needs of attractional minority students in Michigan schools who are most likely to receive little to no support from family, significant adults, and nongay peers. Unsupported attractional minority students genuinely speak to the need for school counselors to be able to competently assist them with their developmental needs.

School Counselors and Attractional Minority Students

Researchers indicate that attractional minority students and those students questioning their attractional orientation could possibly be the largest minority group represented in many schools (Cooley, 1998; Fontaine, 1998). In addition, attractional minority students may be one of the most persecuted groups in the school environment facing negative attitudes from peers, school administrators, teachers, and staff (Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Stone, 2003), and possibly one of the most underserved student populations in the entire educational system. The literature previously reviewed in this study suggests that as a result of being verbally, emotionally, and physically victimized, attractional minority students may develop feelings of self-hatred, low-self esteem and low self-worth, which places them at a greater risk for poor academic performance, social isolation, depression, dropping out of school, running away, and suicide (Harris, 1997; Rivers, 2000; Savin-Williams, 1994). In addition, the literature provides supporting evidence that, not only do attractional minority students experience

harassment from their peers, but also from teachers and school personnel who actively or passively engage in the harassment (Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Rivers, 2000). It is during this time of adolescent attractional identity development, that they need understanding and support from professional school counselors (Price & Telljohann, 1991; vanWormer & McKinney, 2003) especially since school counselors may be the first line of contact for attractional minority students to disclose to or explore the possibility of a nonheteroattractional orientation (Bailey & Phariss, 1996).

School counselors are in a strategic position to serve as advocates for attractional minority students, helping to create a safe and equitable learning milieu for all students to survive and develop into mature and healthy adults (Monier, 2000). Stone (2003) contends that school counselors, who are trained in communicating and developing interpersonal relationships, should be socially active, serve as agents for change, and address negative educational practices that can have a deleterious effect on students.

School Counselors' Attitudes Regarding Attractional Minority Students

The counselor's attitude regarding homoattractionality plays a major role in the adolescent's attractional identity development (T. G. Russell, 1989). Researchers suggest that, in general, smaller populations only mirror the attitudes of the society at large. Therefore, the negative attitudes that attractional minority youth face in educational institutions are similar to or the same as those experienced by adult homoattractional persons living in a homoprejudice, homo-hostile, and heterosexist society (Stone, 2003; Weiler, 2004). Sears (1991) surveyed 142 middle and high school counselors in South Carolina and found that nearly two thirds of those surveyed held negative attitudes or

feelings about homoattractionality. GLSTN's (1994-1996) Just the Facts: On Gay, Lesbian, and Bisexual Students and Schools provided data on school counselors and attractional minority students. The findings indicated that two thirds of the school counselors in the study held negative feelings toward gay and lesbian people.

More recently, Monier's (2000) study of school counselors in Washington State found that the majority of them held "relatively" positive beliefs about attractional minority students and were more likely to perform covert or private acts of assistance to those students (e.g., individual counseling). However, they were much less willing to engage in overt gay affirming behaviors (e.g., initiate a support group, advocate for attractional minority students in staff meetings). Satcher and Leggett (2007) assessed homonegativity among 215 female professional school counselors in a single Southern state (data from the 13 male participants was excluded due to the sample being too small to make gender comparisons). The results of the Satcher and Leggett study found the lowest measure of homonegativity among professional school counselors who (a) had a gay or lesbian friend or personal acquaintance; (b) had participated in training regarding gay and lesbian issues; (c) had worked with a client(s) who was gay, lesbian, or questioning his or her attractional orientation; (d) reported no monthly church attendance; (e) were African American; and (f) who identified as Democrats.

Bailey and Phariss (1996) purport that some school counselors, due to their own prejudices and biases regarding homoattractionality, do harm to attractional minority youth by refusing to acknowledge or support their exploration of same-gender attraction and/or by providing attractional minority students with inaccurate information, thereby reinforcing myths about homoattractionality. Research suggests that school counselors

need to undergo self-examination and challenge and confront their own heteroattractionalism (Pollock, 2006; K. E. Robinson, 1994) because when a school counselor's negative or ambivalent feelings about same-gender attraction have not been resolved, then the counselor could possibly meet attractional minority students with criticism, inaccurate information, condemnation, disapproval, and rejection, all of which can be damaging to the youth (Gibson, 1989). Professional school counselors must realize that their attitudes play a key role in being able to objectively and competently work with attractional minority students as well as educating others on attractional minority issues (T. G. Russell, 1989).

School Counselors' Experiences Working With Attractional Minority Students

School counselors regularly come into contact with self-identified attractional minority students and those who are questioning their attractional orientation (Cooley, 1998). Price and Telljohann (1991) surveyed 289 middle and high school counselors and found that 71% of the respondents reported having counseled at least one attractional minority student during their careers. In spite of the inevitability of school counselors having contact with at least one attractional minority student, research suggests that school counselors, in general, are unwilling to address issues of attractional orientation with these students. A study done by Sears (1991) surveying 142 middle and high school counselors in South Carolina found that a great majority of the school counselors would not choose to counsel students on matters of attractional orientation. Interestingly, in the Price and Telljohann study, 16% of the school counselors reported that there were no attractional minority students in their schools and 63% reported that no more than 1 to

5% of the students attending school were homoattractional. A report from school counselors that there are no attractional minority students in their schools gives a strong indication that there are attractional minority students who are afraid to "come out," are living in fear of being discovered, and are attending school in a climate that do not respect diversity nor welcome it.

Fontaine (1998) surveyed 101 elementary, junior, and senior high school counselors in Pennsylvania and found that 51% of the junior and high school respondents reported that they had worked with at least one student who was questioning his or her attractional orientation and 42% reported having worked directly with at least one self-identified gay or lesbian student. Fontaine also reported that among the elementary school counselors, 21% reported awareness of students in their schools who were either self-identified as gay or lesbian or were questioning their attractional orientation.

The Fontaine (1998) study differed from the Price and Telljohann (1991) study in that Fontaine included elementary school counselors who reported having "seen" a total of nine fifth and sixth grade students who were questioning their attractional identities. Monier (2000) surveyed elementary, middle, high school, and alternative school counselors in Washington State regarding their experiences of counseling attractional minority students within the preceding 2-year time period. The school counselors surveyed included both members and nonmembers of the Washington School Counselor Association. Results indicated that 73.3% of the respondents reported that they had talked with at least one student about attractional orientation issues during their career and felt "relatively" comfortable doing so. Approximately 27% reported that they had never addressed issues of attractional orientation with a student. Regarding counseling self-

identified attractional minority students, more than half of the respondents (58.6%) indicated that they had not counseled any students, while 24.1% reported having counseling one or two students, and 17.3% reported having counseled three or more attractional minority students. Finally, regarding counseling students who were questioning their attractional orientation, Monier reported that 46.5% of the counselors surveyed indicated that they had not counseled any students questioning their attractional orientation, while 38.9% reported counseling one or two students, and 14.6% reported counseling three or more students questioning their attractional orientation. In conclusion, the data strongly suggest that school counselors will inevitably work with some attractional minority students during their careers (consciously or unconsciously). Therefore, there is a need to ensure that school counselors receive training that will adequately prepare them for the task of meeting the developmental needs of attractional minority students.

School Counselors' Training Related to Attractional Minority Students

Research assessing school counselors' beliefs about their competence to work with attractional minority students is limited. The literature that exists gives a strong indication that the majority of school counselors do not feel competent and comfortable working with students with issues of attractional orientation. For instance, Sears' (1991) study of 142 middle and high school counselors in South Carolina found that the majority of those surveyed reported not feeling prepared to work with attractional minority youth due to lack of training. Price and Telljohann's (1991) study of 289 middle and high school counselors discovered that the majority of the respondents reported obtaining

information about same-gender attraction from professional journals, mass media, gay/lesbian friendships, workshops and professional conferences and textbooks, with only 2% reporting obtaining information from in-service training. A positive note in this same study is that 89% of the respondents indicated interest in obtaining additional training in matters of counseling and attractional orientation, Monier's (2000) survey assessing training and the perceived level of knowledge regarding attractional orientation among school counselors in Washington State found that the two most common sources of information on attractional orientation issues were (a) self-education through the reading of books and journal articles (72.1%), and (b) interacting and communicating with attractional minority friends or family members (66%). In this same study, respondents reported additional ways of obtaining information regarding attractional orientation issues including having attended a seminar/workshop (49.7%), lectures or presentations in graduate classes (34.7%), mass media information (27.2%), a formal class that was part of their graduate training program (15%), and attending a school in-service training (15.6%). Only 9.5% reported not having received any training regarding attractional orientation issues and none reported having been offered a course that exclusively addressed issues of attractional orientation.

Phillips and Fischer (1998) examined the training experiences of graduate students relative to lesbian, gay, and biattractional (LGB) issues. The participants were graduate students in counseling psychology and clinical psychology doctoral programs that were in the last year of their programs prior to internship. Phillips and Fischer developed a survey instrument, *The Survey of Training Experiences* (STE), which assessed a number of areas of training as they relate to gay, lesbian, and biattractional

issues. Regarding LGB issues, the STE assessed graduate students' experiences with LGB issues in coursework, course content, hours in didactic training, supervisor's expertise in LGB issues, self-exploration assessing heterosexist biases, number of LGB clients, presence of "out" LGB faculty, feelings of competence, and other dimensions of experiences in LGB issues. The findings of this study indicated that (a) training in LGB issues was inadequate, (b) "the vast majority of respondents did not feel adequately prepared by their graduate coursework to work with LGB clients compared to heterosexual clients" (p. 725), (c) LGB issues were not integrated into doctoral level coursework in either counseling psychology or clinical psychology programs, (d) the majority of the respondents could not identify an "out" faculty, (e) the respondents could not identify one faculty member with expertise in LGB issues, (f) 50% of the respondents had not been encouraged to explore their own heterosexist biases, and (g) training in LGB issues during practicum was "less than adequate" (p. 728). It should be noted that these findings were substantiated both quantitatively and qualitatively. The participants responded to the survey that was sent to them and the surveys were supported by 30 respondents submitting "unsolicited comments" attached to their surveys. The conclusion to the whole matter of graduate student training in LGB issues is that graduate programs are not adequately preparing counselor trainees to be able to effectively and competently work with attractional minority individuals.

The Phillips and Fischer (1998) study is extremely significant to this study in that it assesses many of the same dimensions of practice and training in attractional minority issues that this study wishes to assess. The Phillips and Fischer study, however, assessed doctoral students in counseling psychology and clinical psychology training programs but

did not assess graduate students in school counseling programs whose future jobs and duties will be to guide all students into pathways of self-determination and self-actualization. Currently, there are no identifiable research studies assessing school counselors' attitudes, work experiences, and training experiences in LGBTQ issues in the State of Michigan. This study endeavors to fill that void in the literature. Robert Earl Powell (1987), who authored an earlier article titled "Homosexual Behavior and the School Counselor," saw the necessity for change in counselor education training for school counselors regarding attractional orientation issues. Thus, his statement of over 20 years ago still remains true today:

Counselors, therefore need to try to overcome the results of a "benign neglect" in counselor education and teacher education programs: an inadequate preparation of professionals for this challenging task. They should be aware of the need for their own continuing education and for continuous involvement with the issues of adolescent homosexuality. (p. 207)

Attractional Minority Students' Perception of School Counselors

Attractional minority youth often feel an overall disconnect when it comes to adults addressing issues of adolescent attractional orientation. Ireland (2000) provides statements from a 19-year-old lesbian and a 22-year-old gay male from Texas who lament the lack of inclusiveness of young gays and lesbians in the adult gay community. The 19-year-old lesbian stated that the older gay community is afraid of them and looks at them as "jailbait" due to societal images of adult gays being pedophiles. The 22-year-old gay male feels that not only are homoattractional adults not building relationships with attractional minority young people but also they fail to create a comfortable atmosphere for those young people who attend their local meetings. These testimonies of feeling

marginalized reflect the general perception that attractional minority youth have towards adults in the gay community. What are their perceptions regarding the school community in general and school counselors in particular?

Telljohann and Price (1993) conducted a qualitative study examining the life experiences of homoattractional adolescents as they related to high school personnel, including counselors. One of the questions asked in the study that relates to this current study is "If they [attractional minority students] had been able to talk to their school counselor concerning their homoattractional orientation and, if they had, whether the counselor was helpful?" (p. 48). The results of this study (1993) indicated that nearly 1 in 4 females (23%) and males (25%) reported being able to talk to their school counselor regarding their attractional orientation, and the majority of those students reported the experiences to be "helpful" or "supportive" (p. 48). Furthermore, the Telljohann and Price study reported that 86% of the females and 64% of the males, of those who reported being able to talk to their school counselor, stated that the interaction with their counselor regarding their attractional orientation was "a positive experience" (p. 48). However, a couple of questions that remain unanswered from this Telljohann and Price study are, What was the plight of the three in four females and males (nearly 75%) who did not report being able to talk to their school counselor regarding their attractional orientation?, and What were the reasons or circumstances behind them not being able to talk to their school counselor regarding their attractional orientation?

Attractional minority students will self-refer to school counselors to discuss personal issues related to attractional orientation if they feel a sense of unconditional positive regard. For example, the results of a study conducted by Fontaine (1998)

indicated that 50% of the attractional minority students were self-referred and the majority of those who self-referred were male students. On the contrary, if attractional minority students (or any student) do not feel that a counselor will be receptive and understanding of their presenting issue(s) in general terms, then that student will most likely avoid discussing intimate matters with that counselor.

Mufioz-Plaza et al. (2002) conducted a qualitative study examining the perceived social support systems available to 12 sexual minority students in their respective high school environments in North Carolina. The definition of social support in the Mufioz-Plaza et al. study was based on House's (as cited in Mufioz-Plaza et al., 2002) description of four types of social support behaviors: (a) emotional support manifested through affective behaviors (e.g., love, trust, listening); (b) appraisal support manifested through positive feedback or affirmation; (c) instrumental support manifested through the sharing of resources and assistance (e.g., money, time, labor); and (d) informational support exhibited through the giving of advice and information. Results of the Mufioz-Plaza et al. study indicated that the 12 attractional minority youth respondents perceived that in their respective high school milieus (a) heteroattractional and LGBT-identified friends and nonfamily adults provided emotional and instrumental support; however, heteroattractional peers to whom they disclosed their attractional orientation provided limited emotional support; (b) LGBT-identified peers and adults provided emotional, instrumental, and valuable informational supports; and (c) the respondents believed that during high school, family members would have offered only limited emotional, appraisal, and informational support; therefore, most participants reported refusing to come out to parents during high school. Furthermore, the attractional minority students in

this study perceived that school administrators, faculty, and staff, including counselors, put great effort into upholding the "heterosexual model as normative, a perspective that was in direct conflict with the participants' emerging sense of sexual identity" (p. 56). In conclusion, attractional minority students perceive an overall disconnect and unresponsiveness on the part of school counselors to the needs of students in general and to the developmental needs of attractional minority students in particular. Do schools have a legal responsibility towards attractional minority students? The next section will seek to answer this question.

Legal Responsibilities of Schools Toward Attractional Minority Students

Title IX of the 1972 Federal Education Amendment

Schools have a legal and ethical responsibility to provide equal access to a quality education, in an environment that is safe and affirming, for all students (Weiler, 2004).

Title IX of the 1972 Federal Education Amendment was the first comprehensive federal law to prohibit discrimination based on sex, against students and employees of educational institutions receiving federal funds. Title IX guarantees equal protection from sex discrimination and the various forms of sexual harassment and it applies to all elementary and secondary schools, colleges and universities, as well as activities affiliated with schools that receive federal funds. Because public schools are among those educational institutions that receive federal funds, Title IX is applicable to any form of sexual harassment in schools, whether the harassment comes from students or teachers because, in any case, sexual harassment creates a hostile learning environment. It should

be noted that Title IX does not specifically bar harassment or discrimination based on attractional orientation; however, it does prohibit any harassing behavior of a sexual nature irrespective of attractional orientation. Considering, in most instances, that harassment toward attractional minority students involves behaviors with sexual underpinnings (Jones, 2000), Title IX is applicable to attractional minority individuals in such cases.

The Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protection Clause

Schools are required to provide equal protection for all students. The United States Constitution's Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protection Clause requires equal protection under the law for all students regardless of race, ethnicity, gender, religious affiliation, socioeconomic status, attractional orientation, gender identity, or gender expression. Research suggests, however, that in spite of the Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protection Clause, many attractional minority students find school to be a major source of stress and day-to-day survival, an environment where they do not feel protected. As reported earlier, surveys conducted by GLSEN (2001; Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005) indicate that attractional minority students, students who are questioning their attractional orientation, and heteroattractional students who are perceived as being gay or lesbian, are victimized in many ways including verbal and physical harassment, physical assaults, being spat on, urinated on, ejaculated on, threatened and assaulted with weapons, having their clothes pulled off, and even gang-raped (Jones, 2000; Weiler, 2004). In many instances, school administrators and personnel witnessed the

victimizations or were informed of the harassment and assaults and either blamed the victim or simply did nothing at all (GLSEN, 2001; Weiler, 2004).

The landmark case for equal protection under the law for attractional minority students in public schools is Nabozny v. Podlesny (1996). Jamie Nabozny, of Ashland, Wisconsin, had experienced anti-gay harassment from other students throughout middle school and partly through high school. Forms of harassment against Jamie because of his same-gender attractional orientation included verbal harassment, being mock-raped in a classroom, urinated on, kicked, and beaten so badly that he required hospitalization. Jamie and his parents often complained to school officials but were reportedly told by one school official that he had to expect that kind of harassment because he was "homosexual" (Jones, 2000). Eventually, Jamie was beaten to the extent that he required surgery to stop the internal bleeding and at that point, in 1995, Jamie filed a lawsuit against the Ashland School District. The U. S. Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit in November 1996 upheld his lawsuit and a jury ruled that the abuse that Jamie had suffered was a crime and that school officials had violated the Fourteenth Amendment's Equal Protection Clause. The Ashland School District was found liable not only because the district failed to protect Jamie, but also because school officials had responded appropriately, according to policies, to other forms of peer-to-peer in-school harassment directed at others but did not enforce those same policies to the same extent for Jamie. The school district was ordered to pay \$900,000 in damages to Jamie Nabozny.

This landmark case resulted in many lawsuits and threat of lawsuits being filed due to negligence on the part of school officials to protect attractional minority students from victimization. A GLSEN (2005a) publication, *Fifteen Expensive Reasons Why Safe*

Schools Legislation Is in Your State's Best Interest, presents summaries of 15 cases brought against school districts for failing to protect students from discrimination and harassment on the basis of attractional orientation. In the case of Flores v. Morgan Hill Unified School District (N.D. Cal.), six former students who, on a daily basis, faced threats of violence and actual violence based on real or perceived same-gender attractional orientation, were awarded \$1.1 million. In addition, training regarding discrimination and harassment based on attractional orientation and gender identity was mandated for all administrators, teachers, school counselors, and other personnel who work with students.

In *Theno v.Tonganoxie Unified School District of Kansas* (2005), Dylan J. Theno, a heteroattractional student, endured being taunted as being gay beginning in the 7th grade and into high school. He endured being taunted and threatened for 4 years. Students who perceived him as being gay spread rumors about him resulting in verbal and relational harassment. School administrators ignored his complaints and failed to take action to stop the harassment. The harassment became so severe that he dropped out of school in the 11th grade. According to the American Civil Liberties Union, Dylan was originally awarded \$250,000 in August of 2005, but as a result of the school district appealing the decision and losing the appeal, in December, 2005, Dylan won the appeal and the award was increased to \$440,000 (C. Hampton [GLSEN], personal communication, January 23, 2008).

In the case of Ramelli and Donovan v. Poway Unified School District in California (2005), Joseph Ramelli and Megan Donovan were two attractional minority students in high school who were repeatedly threatened and harassed. Ramelli was spat

on, kicked and punched, in addition to his car being vandalized. School officials were informed of the harassment but failed to take action and therefore were found liable. A jury awarded Ramelli and Donovan a total of \$300,000. In another case, Derek Henkle (Henkle v. Gregory, 2001), an attractional minority student in Nevada, was harassed for years due to his same-gender attractional orientation. Harassment towards Henkle took the forms of name calling, assaults, threats, being punched in the face, lassoed around the neck, and being told to "keep silent about his sexual orientation" (GLSEN, 2005a, p. 2). Due to the severity of the anti-gay harassment, he was eventually placed in an adult education program. Derek Henkle sued and the school district settled to pay him \$451,000 along with agreeing to implement LGBT-inclusive safe school policies as well as implementing anti-harassment training for school personnel.

Timothy Dahle, an attractional minority student in the Titusville Area School District in Pennsylvania (*Dahle v. Titusville Area School District*, 2001), was forced to drop out of high school and attempted to commit suicide because the anti-gay harassment he endured became so severe. Timothy's complaints about the harassment went ignored; therefore, he filed a lawsuit against the school district. According to the American Civil Liberties Union document *The Cost of Harassment* (n.d.), the Titusville Area School District initially denied that Timothy had complained to them about the harassment but "suddenly" ended the lawsuit, paying him \$312,000.

The lawsuits against school districts that were previously discussed share two common points that are noteworthy. First, all of the plaintiffs won their lawsuits based on either the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, the Civil Rights Act of

1964, or a combination thereof. Secondly, regarding the lawsuit settlements reported by GLSEN (2005a), several of the case settlements involved "injunctives" requiring mandatory training of school personnel on issues of diversity, LGBT-specific issues, and sensitivity training and/or amending anti-harassment policy to include actual or perceived attractional orientation.

In short, schools have a legal obligation to provide a safe learning environment for all students irrespective of race, creed, gender, ethnicity, religion, socioeconomic status, and attractional orientation. A number of legal cases involving lawsuits were presented which indicate that school districts and school personnel can be held personally liable if they fail to appropriately respond to any form of harassment irrespective of whether the harassment comes from a student or adult. Again, as the court cases show, financial retribution can be costly, but the emotional and psychological costs of anti-gay harassment toward attractional minority students cannot be quantified by dollar amounts. School counselors are in a strategic position to present accurate information to school administrators, faculty, staff, students, and parents regarding issues that pertain to attractional minority students so as to avoid lawsuits claiming negligence on the part of school personnel to respond to the harassment of these students. In addition, school counselors have an ethical obligation to advocate for attractional minority students. In order to advocate, however, school counselors must first be armed with awareness and knowledge regarding the developmental needs, struggles, and resilience of attractional minority students and then present that awareness and knowledge to schools via inservice training to all personnel who work with these students.

Based on the legal right of all students to be equally protected under the law from bullying and harassment, it is in any school district's best interest to voluntarily seek training for all school personnel regarding anti-gay harassment rather than have the training made mandatory as a result of litigation by students. Most important, school personnel should be knowledgeable of the needs of attractional minority students because they are members of the student population that deserve to be in a learning environment where they can survive, strive, and thrive as any other student. If school counselors, who are in the first line of the school setting to provide guidance for all students, cannot advocate and assist attractional minority students, then who can and will? In conclusion, school counselors have a legal responsibility to meet the needs of all students irrespective of any demographic including attractional orientation, gender identity, and gender expression. Schools not only have a legal responsibility to meet the needs of attractional minority students, but an ethical responsibility as well.

Ethical Responsibilities of Schools Toward Attractional Minority Students

School Counselors' Responsibility According to ASCA

The American School Counseling Association (ASCA) is the professional organization that establishes and governs the professional practices and conduct of school counselors. ASCA's Ethical Standards, approved June 26, 2004 clearly outline the responsibilities and obligations that school counselors have to all students as individuals and as a collective student body. Do the ASCA Ethical Standards address school counselors' role regarding attractional minority students? This question can be answered

through a review and discussion of those sections of the Ethical Standards that are relevant to school counseling and attractional orientation/attractional minority students. The review and discussion will begin with the Preamble of the ASCA Ethical Standards (2004).

The Preamble of the ASCA Ethical Standards

The Preamble of the ASCA Ethical Standards (2004) has four tenets of professional responsibility, three of which are applicable to school counselors and attractional minority students. The first two tenets speak to school counselors' responsibilities to all students, including attractional minority students.

The first tenet states in part that each student has a right to be treated with respect and dignity "and have access to a comprehensive school counseling program that advocates for and affirms all students from diverse populations regardless of . . . sexual orientation, gender, gender identity/expression" (ASCA, 2004, Appendix L, p. 1). Tenet 1 clearly states that school counselors are to serve as advocates, addressing the needs of attractional minority youth, and affirming their being.

The second tenet states in part that each student has "the right to receive the information and support needed to move toward self-direction and self-development and affirmation within one's group identity" (ASCA, 2004, Appendix L 1). This tenet appears to indicate that as heteroattractional students are provided access to information that is designed to assist them in their psycho-social and psycho-sexual development, the same access to relevant and appropriate information in the forms of literature, audio and visual media, counseling, and role models should be provided to attractional minority students

both individually and collectively as individual members of a minority group (group identity). The second tenet also states in part that "special care be given to students who have historically not received adequate educational services: students of color, low socioeconomic students, students with disabilities and students with nondominant language background" (ASCA, 2004, Appendix L 1). The second tenet, however, does not identify or mention attractional minority youth as students who, historically, have not received adequate services in spite of the fact that the literature presented in this chapter strongly suggests that attractional minority youth have historically and currently are being grossly underserved in U.S. schools (Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Marinoble, 1998; Reed, 1992; Savin-Williams, 1994; Savin-Williams & Cohen, 2007; Tharinger &Wells, 2000; Uribe, 1994). The tenets of the Preamble to the ASCA Ethical Standards that are relevant to school counselors and attractional minority students have been briefly discussed; there will now be a discussion on the purpose of the ASCA Ethical Standards as they relate to attractional minority students.

The Purpose of the ASCA Standards

Three purposes are given for developing the ASCA Ethical Standards. The first purpose of the Ethical Standards is to "serve as a guide for the ethical practices of all professional school counselors" regardless of level (i.e., elementary, middle, high school), area (e.g., urban, suburban, rural), and population served (including sexual minority students) (Appendix L 1). According to this purpose, unethical practices are occurring if attractional minority students are being underserved, poorly served, or not being served at all by school counselors. The second purpose states that the Ethical Standards are to

provide "self-appraisal and peer evaluations regarding counselor responsibilities to students, parents/guardians, colleagues and professional associates, schools, communities, and the counseling professions" (Appendix L 1). Self-appraisal and peer evaluations should cause each counselor to ask himself/herself two questions: "Am I practicing in accord with the Ethical Standards by competently meeting the needs of attractional minority students?" and "Are my fellow counselors practicing in accord with the Ethical Standards by competently meeting the needs of attractional minority students?" If the answer to either the self- or peer-appraisal question is "yes," then the follow-up question that should be asked is, "How am I and my colleagues competently meeting the needs of attractional minority students?" If the answer to the self- or peer-appraisal questions is "no," then the follow-up question should be, "Why am I and/or my colleagues not competently addressing the needs of attractional minority students?" According to the second purpose of the Ethical Standards, another self- peer-evaluative question that school counselors should be answering is, "Am I, as a professional school counselor, executing my responsibilities by serving as an advocate for attractional minority students and as a consultant to parents/guardians, colleagues, schools and other institutions and others who work with attractional minority students?" If the answer is "yes," then the follow-up question that should be asked is, "What are measurable indicators that I am serving as an advocate?" If the answer is "no," then the follow-up question that should be asked is, "Why am I not serving as an advocate for attractional minority students?"

The third purpose of the Ethical Standards (2004) speaks of "acceptable counselor practices and expected professional behavior" (Appendix L 1). The Ethical Standards clearly indicate that accepted counselor practice involves advocating, supporting, and

affirming all students regardless of attractional orientation, gender identity, and gender expression. Expected professional behavior should reflect school counselors performing "accepted counselor practices."

ASCA Ethical Standards Applied to Attractional Minority Students

A.1. – Responsibilities to Students

A.1.a. states that the school counselor "has a primary obligation to the student, who is to be treated with respect as a unique individual" (p. L 2) Therefore, if that "uniqueness" lies in attractional orientation and/or gender identity/expression, then such uniqueness *must* be treated with respect.

A.1.b. states that the counselor is to be concerned with all phases of a student's development, which includes the "educational, academic, career, personal and social needs [italics added] . . . of every student" (p. L 2). In addition, the counselor is to encourage "the maximum development of every student [italics added]" (p. L 2). This standard suggests that school counselors are required to do what is necessary to facilitate the maximum development of each and every student. All humans develop as a result of receiving, synthesizing, and integrating the information that is received from many different sources under many different circumstances. Attractional minority students are no exception. They must also receive affirming information from different sources as well as the assistance as to how to integrate and apply that information to their lives. School counselors are in a strategic position to provide accurate, appropriate, and affirming

information for attractional minority students and to assist them in the practical application of that information to their lives.

A.1.c. This section of the standard states in part that the school counselor "respects the student's values and beliefs and does not impose the counselor's personal values" on students (p. L 2). Studies indicate that there is a significant amount of homoprejudice, or anti-homoattractional sentiment, among school counselors (GLSTN, 1994-1996; Sears, 1991). This Standard suggests that in spite of school counselors' religious convictions, spiritual persuasions, and personal beliefs regarding homoattractionality, the etiology of homoattractionality, and attractional minority students, none of these personal convictions should be imposed on students nor hinder the school counselor from executing the tasks that will lead to the maximum development of all students.

A.1.d. states in part that the school counselor is "knowledgeable of laws, regulations and policies relating to students and strives to protect and inform students regarding their rights" (p. L 2), especially those laws that relate to sexual harassment and discrimination. Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 and the Civil Rights Act of 1964 prohibits sexual harassment toward both heteroattractional and homoattractional students. The United States Constitution Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protection Clause provides equal protection under the law for all students. Legal issues were discussed in the previous section.

A.3. – Counseling Plans

Item a. states that the school counselor "provides students with a comprehensive school counseling program that includes a strong emphasis on working jointly with all students to develop academic and career goals" (p. L 3). *All students* infer that every student is to be included and no student is to be excluded. Without comprehensive school guidance counseling programs that include addressing the needs of attractional minority students, then these students, who are considered by some as the most verbally, physically, and sexually harassed group among the school-age population, are at greater risk for poor academic performance and career failure.

A.5. – Appropriate Referrals

Section a. states that the school counselor "makes referrals when necessary or appropriate to outside resources" (p. L 3). This Standard seems to suggest that if school counselors do not choose to work with attractional minority students whether due to personal beliefs or feelings of incompetence or ineffectiveness, then, at the least, they should be knowledgeable of local, county, and state resources (e.g., Gay and Lesbian Resource Center, Triangle Foundation, PFLAG) where these students can go for support and information. However, if the school counselor has a bias against attractional minority persons, be it personal or religious, then the school counselor is most likely to generalize those biases to organizations that would support and assist those students and, thus, a referral is less likely to occur. Nevertheless, this Standard clearly states that the professional school counselor is to be aware of and utilize "related professionals,

organizations and other resources to which the student may be referred" (p. L 6).

Therefore, it is incumbent upon all school counselors to be knowledgeable of those resources that will assist attractional minority students *and* refer students to those resources. School counselors have an additional responsibility to share information with other professionals.

C.2. – Sharing Information With Other Professionals

Section b. states that the professional school counselor provides "professional personnel with accurate, objective, concise and meaningful data necessary to adequately evaluate, counsel and assist the student" (p. L 6). This Standard seems to suggest that regarding attractional minority students, school counselors should be providing in-service training for all school personnel that work directly with students (i.e., teachers, school psychologist, school social workers, and administrators). Further, this Standard appears to suggest that practicing school counselors should provide pre-service training for school counselor trainees regarding issues related to attractional minority students. In addition, this Standard seems to strongly suggest that the professional school counselor is responsible for educating students, colleagues, school personnel, professional associates, schools, and the community at-large regarding the developmental needs of attractional minority students. We will now consider the ASCA Ethical Standards and school counselors' professional and ethical responsibilities to attractional minority students in terms of the overall theme of diversity.

Section E.2.a. indicates that the school counselor "affirms the diversity of students, staff, and families" (p. L 8). Students who self-identify as gay, lesbian, biattractional, transgender, and students who are questioning their attractional orientation, have parents who are gay or lesbian, as well as faculty/staff who identify as an attractional minority, are covered by the umbrella of diversity. Therefore, as the Standard requires affirmation in spite of religious, socioeconomic, and ethnic diversity, the Standard seems to also require affirmation among "attractionally" diverse students, their families, and staff.

Section E.2.c. states that a school counselor "possesses knowledge and understanding about how oppression, racism, discrimination and stereotyping affects her/him personally and professionally" (p. L 8). Very few historians would dispute the fact that historically, attractional minority persons have faced discrimination. New York's Stonewall riot in June 1969 occurred primarily because the gay and lesbian community grew tired of harassment and discrimination (Armstrong & Crage, 2006). GLSTN (1994-1996) indicates that two thirds of the school counselors they surveyed held anti-homoattractional sentiment. Therefore, school counselors must be aware of their own prejudices, biases, and attitudes toward attractional minority students and how their attitudes affect their service toward these students.

Section E.2.d. explicitly states that the professional school counselor "acquires educational, consultation and training experiences to improve awareness, knowledge, skills and effectiveness in working with diverse populations: ethnic/racial status,

... sexual orientation, gender, gender identity/expression, family type, religious/spiritual identity and appearance" (p. L 8). This standard appears to be one of the capstones of the ASCA Ethical Standards. This standard clearly states that school counselors are responsible for acquiring the information and necessary skills, whether through education, consultation, or practicum, to meet the needs of diverse student populations. Intentionally and explicitly included in the roll call of diversity is attractional orientation and gender identity/expression. This final section will discuss school counselors' responsibilities to the school counseling profession regarding attractional minority students.

F. Responsibilities to the Profession

Section F.1.d. states that the professional school counselor "adheres to ethical standards of the profession, other official policy statements, such as ASCA's position statements, role statement and the ASCA National Model, and relevant statutes established by federal, state, and local governments, and when these are in conflict works responsibly for change [italics added]" (p. L 8). This standard explicitly validates school counselors' roles as both advocates and agents of change. School counselors should do all that is possible to comply with professional standards and the laws of the land and when there seems to be a conflict between the two, then school counselors should work to bring about a resolution that will serve the best interest of all students. This standard works in conjunction with Standard G – Maintenance of Standards, which states in part that all professional school counselors, both association members and nonmembers, are expected to adhere to the standards at all times. Furthermore and most important, Standard G states that "if counselors are forced to work in situations or abide by policies that do not reflect

the standards as outlined in these Ethical Standards for School Counselors, the counselor is "obligated" [italics added] to take appropriate action to rectify the condition" (p. L 9).

Unethical behavior of counselors is primarily thought of in terms of dual relationships with the most common being a counselor having an intimate relationship with a client. However, should it be regarded unethical if school counselors are not addressing the needs of a population of students who are at-risk for dropping out, running away, substance abuse, sexually transmitted diseases, prostitution, and suicide? Should it not be determined unethical if school counselors do not acquire the knowledge and the skills necessary to assist attractional minority students in maximizing their potential during their developmental years at all school levels?

The research on the plight of attractional minority students spans several decades. The statistics on attractional minority students have been gathered, analyzed, published, and discussed. What has emerged from the data is a predominantly grim picture regarding the past and current states of attractional minority students in U.S. public schools. The key findings of GLSEN's biannual National School Climate Surveys (1999, 2001, 2003, 2005) (GLSEN, 1999; Kosciw & Cullen, 2001; Kosciw, 2004; Kosciw & Diaz, 2006), which have documented the experiences of attractional minority students in U.S. high schools, indicate that verbal and physical harassment, discrimination, and violence continue to be the rule—and not the exception—in U.S. schools. Could this downward trend be due to school personnel in general and school counselors in particular, not accepting the obligation to "take appropriate action to rectify the condition?" Therefore, several questions arise: Do the policies and procedures that the ASCA Ethical Standards provide, that serve as a guide to dealing with unethical conduct, apply to school

counselors who are not willing and/or not able to address the needs of attractional minority students? Further, is it unethical at the training level for school counselor education programs to not have an educational component (didactic and experiential) that is specific to the needs of attractional minority youth? Finally, is it unethical on the part of each school administrator to not seek in-service training for practicing school counselors on issues related to attractional orientation in general and attractional minority students in particular? School counselors are in an important position to bring about change that will ameliorate the educational milieu for lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender students, and students who are questioning their attractional orientation.

We have discussed ASCA's ethical stance regarding school counselors' responsibilities toward attractional minority students. Let us now look at what the Michigan Comprehensive Guidance and Counseling Program, as developed by the Michigan School Counselor Association, has to say with regards to school counselors and attractional minority students.

School Counselors' Responsibility to Attractional Minority Students According to MSCA

The Michigan School Counseling Association (MSCA) formally adopted the American School Counselor Association's (ASCA) Ethical Standards for School Counselors as its code of ethics. Therefore, the ethical responsibilities of professional school counselors with regards to attractional minority students as discussed in the previous section are applicable to all school counselors practicing in the state of Michigan. Nevertheless, let us look at some specific items in the Michigan's guidance

and counseling program as they relate to working with attractional minority students in Michigan schools.

Based on the ASCA National Model, there are two underlying assumptions on which the Michigan Comprehensive Guidance and Counseling Program (MCGCP/MSCA, 2005) is based. The MCGCP assumes that (a) each student is unique, and (b) that individuals *normally* [italics added] grow and develop in ways similar to other students their same age. Though both assumptions are considered true regarding attractional minority students, there are developmental issues that are specific to attractional minority students (Fontaine, 1998; Weiler, 2004). Therefore, does the use of the word *normally* as it relates to "other students their same age" imply that attractional minority youth "abnormally" develop in ways different from their heteroattractional peers?

The professional school counselor, as defined by the Michigan Comprehensive Guidance and Counseling Program (MCGCP, 2005), is certified/licensed and trained to address the academic, personal/social, and career developmental needs of *all* students. Accordingly, the role of the professional school counselor involves (a) attending to the developmental stages of student growth; (b) promoting equal access to educational opportunities for all students through leadership, advocacy, collaboration, and cooperation; (c) supporting a safe learning milieu; (d) working to protect the human rights of all students; and (e) addressing the needs of all students through prevention and intervention.

According to the MCGCP (2005), the role of the school counselor is carried out through three areas of service. The first area of service is the *school guidance curriculum*,

which consists of structured lessons designed to equip all students with developmentally appropriate knowledge and skills. The second area of service is response services, which are preventative and interventative in nature, the purpose being to help students deal with personal life issues. Response services include individual and/or group counseling, consultation with parents/guardians and educators, referrals to school and community resources, providing appropriate information, and providing peer assistance. In addition, response services require the school counselor to develop confidential relationships with students in order to assist them with developmental problems and issues. The area of response services is the most germane area of service for school counselors working with attractional minority students because it requires direct contact, counseling, referrals, and providing pertinent and accurate information. Therefore, the question arises: "Do school counselors feel competent and/or are willing to take advantage of this opportunity to assist attractional minority students?" Finally, the third area of service that assists school counselors in fulfilling their roles is systems support, which includes professional development, consultation, collaboration, program management and operations (MCGCP, Appendix M). This area of system support is an important area of service that school counselors can utilize to develop training modules that focus on issues specific to attractional minority youth. LGBTQ-specific training modules can be used for in-service training of school teachers and other school personnel as well as used for classroom lessons on appreciating, accepting, and respecting student diversity.

In conclusion, the role of the professional school counselor according to the Ethical Standards of both ASCA (2004) and MSCA (2005) is clear regarding school counselors' responsibility to attractional minority students. School counselors are to assist

students in discovering their authentic selves and help them develop strong positive social, ethnic, cultural, and attractional identities that will contribute to them becoming successful and productive citizens in society (Pope, 2003). According to the ASCA Ethical Standards, professional school counselors are expected to be knowledgeable regarding attractional minority issues in order to advocate for attractional minority students. As appropriately stated by Pope, "Failing to create a safe environment for all children is criminal and unethical behavior, whether it comes from a school board member, a principal, a teacher, or especially a school counselor" (p. 51).

Transforming School Counseling for Social Justice

The Pledge of Allegiance is often recited in public schools by both students and school personnel stating the ending words "with liberty and justice for all." Liberty and justice for all translate into just and fair treatment of every citizen and for the purpose of this study, every student regardless of race, religion, creed, socioeconomic status, attractional orientation, or any other demographic. The literature previously discussed in this chapter, however, indicates that LGBTQ students are not receiving just treatment as they are denied the same educational opportunities and developmental support that are provided to heteroattractional students. The academic, personal, social, and vocational needs of attractional minority youth are not being adequately met by the public school system in the U.S. for whom the Pledge of Allegiance was originally written to be recited by—"with liberty and justice for all." Therefore, the need for school counselors to advocate for attractional minority students is not only a matter of principle but also an issue of social justice.

Social justice is a concept embedded in the idea of human rights in which individuals and groups of people at every level are respected and have fair access to opportunities (Holcomb-McCoy, 2007). Social justice promotes the notion of a just society in which all people are treated with equity to the extent that the effects of all forms of systematic oppression (e.g., racism, heterosexism, sexism) are minimized and ultimately eliminated. School counseling with a social justice emphasis works to eliminate those systemic oppressive "isms" that can potentially result in student underachievement, low self-esteem, low self-worth, conditions that impede psychological and emotional well-being (Holcomb-McCoy, 2007).

Social justice addresses issues in which people are demeaned and marginalized and the studies mentioned throughout this chapter support a grim reality that attractional minority students in public schools are demeaned, marginalized, ignored (Fischer, 1995), verbally and physically harassed (D'Augelli & Grossman, 2001), and oppressed and underserved (GLSEN, 2005b; GLSTN, 1996). Social justice also addresses the issue of quality of life for students at school. Research indicates that the quality of in-school life for many attractional minority students in U.S. public schools is less than desirable compared to their heteroattractional peers. In fact, the quality of life for attractional minority students in the school milieu can be so poor that the effects are manifested through poor academic performance, skipping classes, truancy, and ultimately dropping out of school (GLSEN, 2005a, 2005b, 2007; Human Rights Watch, 2001). The reality of attractional minority students dropping out of school due to a negative educational

environment makes the plight of attractional minority students in U.S. public schools not only a quality of education concern, but also a quality of life concern (Holcomb-McCoy, 2007; Howard & Solberg, 2006).

School Counseling for Social Justice

The traditional approach to counseling focuses on cognitions and affect (the intrapsychic forces of clients) whereas the social justice approach to counseling brings attention to what Kiselica and Robinson (2001) refer to as the "many extrapsychic forces that adversely affect the emotional and physical well-being of people" (p. 387). Lee's (1998) exposition on counselors as change agents states that social justice work involves "helping clients challenge institutional and social barriers that impede academic, career, or personal-social development" (pp. 8-9). Social justice targets groups of people who are marginalized, disadvantaged, and have suffered "systematic oppression in the forms of racism, sexism, heterosexism, classism, and other biases" (Holcomb-McCoy, 2007, p. 17). Heteroattractionalism, hetero-normativity, homonegativity, homo-prejudice, compulsory heterosexuality, and a heterosexualized school context are systematic challenges that adversely affect identity development in attractional minority youth (Barret, 1998; Macgillivray, 2000, 2004; Oesterreich, 2002; Reed, 1994; Rich, 1980; Stone, 2003). Macgillivray's (2000) discourse on educational equity promotes the notion that LGBTO students "like all students, deserve social justice, equal representation, and developmental support into adulthood from America's schools" (p. 303). A social justice approach to school counseling focuses on reducing the effects of oppression on students

and making educational services equitable and accessible to all students (Holcomb-McCoy, 2007).

American Counseling Association – Advocacy Competencies

In March 2003, the Governing Council of the American Counseling Association (ACA) endorsed Advocacy Competencies for all counselors of all clients and students. A set of 43 Counselor Competencies were established under the following six advocacy domains:

Client/Student Empowerment – identifying strengths and resources in the client and in his or her environment to produce systems change and skills for self-advocacy.

Client/Student Advocacy – identifying external barriers that impede students' growth, connecting them with needed resources for success.

Community Collaboration – developing alliances by identifying resources within the community and with the individual members that can bring about systemic change.

Systems Advocacy – using data to justify the need for change and developing a sequential plan to implement and assess the change process.

Public Information – understanding the effects of oppression on healthy development and disseminating public information to awaken the general public regarding the macro- and micro-systemic issues that adversely affect human dignity.

Social/Political Advocacy – identifying those problems that can best be resolved through social/political recourse and aligning with those who will help build alliances for change (American Counseling Association, 2003).

The Education Trust was established to make equitable education a reality for all students.

The Education Trust - Transforming School Counseling

The Education Trust was established as a nonprofit organization in 1990 by the American Association for Higher Education "to encourage colleges and universities to support K-12 [educational] reform efforts" (The Education Trust, 2007, p. 1) and to effect systemic changes that would affect all aspects and all levels of education. The primary goal of The Education Trust is to bring attention to the achievement and opportunity gap between low-socioeconomic students and students of color compared to other students. The Education Trust functions on the premise that reform in postsecondary education is paramount to achieving reform in K-12 education and therefore must occur simultaneously. The Education Trust is comprised of staff with experiences in pre-K-12 and postsecondary education as well as advocacy and community-based organizations who, in turn, collaborate with local education and community activists in order to "improve the education of all students, and particularly those students whom the system has traditionally left behind" (p. 1), namely minority and low- income students. Finally, The Education Trusts provides: (a) advocacy that encourages community-wide collaboration to assist all students to reach high academic achievement; (b) analysis and expert testimony to help institute policies that will improve education along with writings and presentations aimed at addressing etiological factors that affect achievements gaps between groups of students; (c) research and wide public dissemination of data that identifies patterns of achievement among different groups of students; and (d) assistance

towards the efforts of school districts, colleges, and community-based organizations to raise student achievement levels with a primary focus on minority students and students living in poverty (The Education Trust, 2007).

The Education Trust recognizes that the public education school system in the U.S. will change only as the result of systemic reform at all levels of education (pre-K-12 and postsecondary) and within all personnel ranks. Therefore, in June 2003, the National Center for Transforming School Counseling (NCTSC) was established by the Education Trust and the MetLife Foundation based on the premise that "school counselors are ideally positioned to serve as advocates for students and create opportunities for all students to reach these new high academic goals" (The Education Trust, 2003, p. 1). It should be noted that, although research has identified poor, ethnic minority and attractional minority students as being "underserved," yet attractional minority students are not mentioned by The Education Trust or the NCTSC as a target population for interventions.

Do school counselors possess the knowledge, attitudes, experience, and training to competently advocate for attractional minority students in Michigan schools? It is of utmost importance that this question be answered because not only is this population atrisk for many personal and social ills including academic failure, but they also comprise a potential talent pool that will be essential for the future economic growth of the state of Michigan and the United States of America. This study will endeavor to answer this question.

Summary

Adolescence is a time of exploration and discovery. The developmental tasks of adolescence include discovering one's purpose in life, understanding who one is as a social being, and exploring and discovering who one is as an attractional being. Heteroattractionality is assumed and affirmed by family, peers, and society unless otherwise indicated or suspected. Developmental issues of attractional minority students are similar to those of their heteroattractional peers with the exception that attractional minority students must come to terms with their same-gender attraction in a family, community, school, and societal environment that is often heterosexist, homoprejudiced, homo-negative, and homo-hostile. The identity development of attractional minority youth can begin pre-pubertal with feelings of differentness that are usually not attached to attractional orientation and can continue well into adulthood. Developmental researchers and theorists attempting to clarify and explain homoattractional, biattractional, and transgender identity development in adolescence have proposed a number of developmental models. Some developmental models suggest that adolescent homoattractional identity development occurs in stages while other models purport that homoattractional identity development occurs as a result of achieving milestones. Nevertheless, these developmental theorists seem to agree that same-gender attractional identity development, whether occurring in phases or milestones, does not occur in a linear fashion and can involve movement between stages, working on several stages simultaneously, and revisiting earlier stages based on the current environment and situations.

Attractional identity developmental processes occur during a period of mandatory school attendance in which attractional minority youth must come to understand themselves as sexual/attractional beings in a heteroattractional school context where heteroattractionality of all students is assumed, considered normal, and thus explicitly sanctioned through school personnel, school curricula, and extra-curricular activities. On the contrary, homoattractionality in a heteroattractionalized school context is implicitly considered abnormal and thus demonized and condemned. As a result, attractional minority youth and those perceived to be, suffer verbal and physical harassment and physical assaults (often with school personnel being actively or passively engaged in the harassment), which has a deleterious effect on the academic performance and school attendance of those being harassed and assaulted. As a result of the harassment and assaults experienced in school, attractional minority youth often experience social isolation and alienation both at school and at home, placing them at greater risk for dropping out of school, substance abuse, running away, prostitution, exposure to STDs/HIV, and suicide attempts and completions vis-à-vis their heteroattractional peers.

Much of the literature regarding attractional minority students and their school experiences speaks from the perspectives of theorists, researchers, teachers, and attractional minority students themselves. What is lacking in the literature is the voice of professional school counselors relative to their attitudes, experiences, knowledge, and training with regards to attractional minority students. A search of the literature revealed that Phillips and Fischer's (1998) study assessed the training programs of doctoral students in counseling psychology and clinical psychology regarding lesbian, gay, and biattractional issues but did not assess graduate students in school counseling programs.

Other studies regarding school counselors and attractional minority students (Fontaine, 1998; Price & Telljohann, 1991; Sears, 1991) are 10 years old and beyond; therefore, more contemporary studies are needed. The GLSEN National School Climate Surveys (1999, 2001, 2003, 2005, 2007) (GLSEN, 1999; Kosciw & Cullen, 2001; Kosciw, 2004; Kosciw & Diaz, 2006; Kosciw et al., 2008) that have assessed the overall safety of attractional minority students attending public schools in the United States make little to no mention of professional school counselors' roles regarding school climate and attractional minority students. Furthermore, to date, no study has been identified that assesses the attitudes, experiences, knowledge, and training of professional school counselors in public schools throughout the entire state of Michigan relative to gay, lesbian, biattractional, and transgender students as well as those students questioning their attractional orientation as this study proposed to do. Therefore, this study helps to fill a void in the literature and possibly encourage similar studies in other states and regions of the country.

This chapter has discussed the legal responsibilities of schools toward attractional minority students. Lawsuits filed and won by attractional minority students against school districts who failed to protect them from verbal and physical harassment and physical assaults, speak to the legal responsibilities which school counselors, administrators, and personnel have toward attractional minority students according to the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States. Also discussed in this chapter are the ethical responsibilities that school counselors have toward attractional minority students according to the Ethical Standards of ASCA.

Finally, there is a call for school counselors to act as advocates for social justice on behalf

of all students who have historically been neglected and underserved, namely, students who are low-income and/or ethnic minorities. Organizations such as The Education Trust, the National Center for Transforming School Counseling, and the American Counseling Association, endorse advocacy competencies for its members and indicate the need for counselors in general and school counselors in particular to recognize their strategic position and responsibility to advocate for social justice. However, when discussing advocacy and social justice, these organizations and associations rarely, if ever, mention social justice advocacy for attractional minority students, a population that has historically and currently appears to be neglected and underserved. Chapter III discusses the methods that were employed to conduct this study.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

The purpose of this study was to investigate Michigan professional school counselors' preparedness to meet the academic, career, and the personal/social needs of students who identify as lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender, and students who are questioning their attractional orientation (LGBTQ). This chapter describes the research methodology and procedures that were used in this study. Specifically, this chapter outlines and describes the research design, participants and sampling, procedures employed to obtain the sample, data collection, and data analysis procedures. A summary of this chapter is provided at the end.

Research Design

Quantitative research is one of three basic categories of educational research (qualitative and historical research being the other two categories) (Ary, Jacobs, & Razavieh, 1996). Quantitative research is based on certain assumptions including:

(a) there are objective truths relative to groups, and (b) those truths can be objectively quantified by assigning numbers to the constructs of interest (Asner-Self, 2009). Within the quantitative research methodology, there are two research categories: experimental and nonexperimental/descriptive designs. In an experimental research design, an independent variable(s) is administered by the researcher to two or more groups to

determine the effect on another variable called the dependent variable. In nonexperimental/descriptive research, variables are identified but not manipulated, and relationships among the variables are sought (Ary et al., 1996). Three categories within nonexperimental research are identified: causal comparative research, correlational research, and survey research (Ary et al., 1996). Since survey research was used for this study, a brief description follows.

Survey research is a nonexperimental/descriptive methodology that entails using a questionnaire to gather information from groups of subjects. Survey research "permits the researcher to summarize the characteristics of different groups or to measure their attitudes and opinions toward some issue" (Ary et al., 1996, p. 22). Within this research inquiry, Michigan school counselors' attitudes, knowledge, skills/experiences, and willingness to engage in professional development regarding issues of attractional orientation in general, and attractional minority students in particular, were assessed in order to determine preparedness to meet the needs of attractional minority students.

Surveys vary relative to the population being assessed and information being sought. A survey that is used to assess the entire population of interest is referred to as a *census survey*. Often, however, it is not possible to assess an entire population of interest but only a sample; thus, the survey is referred to as a *sample survey*. Furthermore, surveys can seek information regarding *tangible* variables (e.g., how many students are enrolled in free lunch programs) or *intangible* variables "such as attitudes, opinions, values, or other/psychological and sociological constructs" (Ary et al., 1996, p. 428). Since this research study assessed the attitudes, knowledge, skills/experiences, and opinions (psychological/sociological constructs) of a portion of Michigan school counselors (a

sample), the research design for this study is quantitative research using a sample survey methodology to assess intangible variables.

Participants and Sampling

Professional school counselors residing in Michigan and who are members of the Association of Michigan School Counselors (AMSC), a division of the Michigan Counseling Association (MCA) and/or the Michigan School Counselor Association (MSCA), a state division of the American School Counselor Association (ASCA), were recruited for this study. Both the AMSC and the MSCA share a common purpose of providing leadership, support, and advocacy for school counselors K-12 as well as provide opportunities for growth and development so that their members may more effectively serve their students. Professional school counselors who are members of AMSC and/or MSCA were chosen because membership in those associations denotes agreement to practice according to the Ethical Standards of the school counseling profession. It is understood that there are participants who may be members of both AMSC and MSCA. Therefore, to avoid duplication of response, a statement was placed in the (informed) consent document requesting that the respondent complete the survey only once. While it was likely that many school counselors in Michigan did not belong to any professional school counseling association and thus would not be recruited for this study, the decision was made to use a Web-based survey that could facilitate recruitment of participants through the use of professional association lists.

The state of Michigan was chosen for several reasons. First, a review of the literature revealed that, although national and regional studies were conducted to assess

school counselors' attitudes, experiences, and perceptions regarding adolescent samegender attraction (Price & Telljohann, 1991; Sears, 1988, 1991), no such study has been identified as being completed in the state of Michigan. Second, given that educational policies and standards regarding attractionality and school-aged youth are made at the state or local levels, gathering information specific to Michigan will make available current information that might inform such policy development as it relates to school counselors and homoattractional youth. Finally, according to the Michigan

Comprehensive Guidance and Counseling Program (MSCA, 2005):

School counseling programs are data driven. . . . In addition, it is important to disaggregate data, which is the process of separating out data by variables such as gender, ethnicity, or socio-economic status, to examine equity issues and the needs of various student groups. (pp. 11–12)

Since educational and legislative reforms in polices and procedures are data-driven, this study may provide data that could influence changes needed in educational policies and procedures and legislation that will positively affect the educational experiences of all students in general, and attractional minority students in Michigan schools in particular.

Data Collection Procedures

Research Context: Online Survey and Paper-and-Pencil Survey

Two survey methods were used to gather participants' self-reported data for this study: an online survey and a pencil and paper survey. An online survey was chosen as the primary method for data collection for several reasons, including increased speed of survey administration and data collection, increased ease of survey construction, greater potential to reach more participants, faster response time, and decreased cost associated

with survey administration (Laughlin, 2002). Additional advantages of online surveys include increased potential for demographic diversity (Lewis, Watson, & White, 2009), increased response rate (Sax, Gilmartin, Lee, & Hagedorn, 2003), and an increased potential for participants responding more accurately and honestly when compared to paper-and-pencil surveys (Knapp & Kirk, 2003). Knapp and Kirk also cited a study conducted by the National Longitudinal Survey Youth Cohort in which participants reported a preference for the computer over the paper-and-pencil method, reporting that the computer interview was "shorter and more interesting, enjoyable, confidential, accurate, and understandable" (p. 120).

Though research studies report the many benefits of using an online survey method, such methodology comes with challenges and disadvantages, including the lack of accessibility to technology by disadvantaged and underrepresented populations (Sax et al., 2003) and concerns regarding data security (Smith & Leigh, 1997). In addition, an online survey methodology has the potential for technical problems (e.g., Internet connection failure). Nevertheless, it appears that the benefits of using online surveys outweigh the challenges. Generally, school counselors use computers to execute and accomplish their daily tasks, and nonreliable Internet connections do not appear to have been documented as a problem in the literature. Therefore, it was decided that an online survey would be appropriate for this research sample.

Online Survey Procedure

The researcher sent letters to members of the executive boards of both the Association of Michigan School Counselors (AMSC) and the Michigan School

Counselor Association (MSCA) requesting an electronic dissemination of the survey for this study (see Appendix D). Both the AMSC and the MSCA agreed to do an initial e-mail blast and a follow-up e-mail blast a week or two later, sending the electronic survey to all of their members twice. The AMSC and the MSCA each reported having approximately 400 members, making the potential sample pool approximately 800 members. However, considering those individuals who are members of both associations, the potential sample pool would be less than 800. The MSCA did two e-mail blasts, which resulted in the majority of the online responses. The AMSC provided an introduction to this study with a link to the consent form and survey in the first e-mail blast along with five other items of business; only six responses were received. Board members of the AMSC denied a request to send a second e-mail blast per an e-mail sent to the researcher dated May 4, 2009.

An introduction to the study was e-mailed to potential participants giving them a brief explanation about the study and inviting them to participate (see Appendix C). School counselors who decided to participate were required to click on a link that took them to the (informed) consent page (see Appendix D), which informed them that the purpose of the survey was to assess Michigan school counselors' attitudes, skills/experiences, knowledge, training, and overall preparedness to work with LGBTQ students. The (informed) consent page also informed potential participants that participation in the study was voluntary, and they were provided the option to participate or not to participate in the study. Individuals who chose to participate were taken to the 55-question survey (see Appendix E) requiring approximately 10–15 minutes to complete. If they chose not to participate, then they were taken to the Exit Page to exit the

survey. The (informed) consent page also included notice that the study and survey had been approved by the Western Michigan University Human Subjects Institutional Review Board (HSIRB) for 1 year, and if the survey of this study was being administered after the 1-year time period, then they were not to participate in the study.

All participants were informed of their rights of participation as required and outlined by the HSIRB at Western Michigan University. Participants were informed of possible risks and benefits that may derive from participating in the study. Though there was no reason to believe that any direct harm would come from participating in this study, it was possible that participants who identified as lesbian, gay, biattractional, or transgender could experience some mild discomfort when responding to some of the questions as they recalled some negative experiences (e.g., harassment, violence, isolation) during their K-12 school years. Furthermore, it was possible that participants who identified as heteroattractional but have family, friends, or significant others who identify as gay, lesbian, biattractional, and transgender or are perceived as such, and have had negative experiences, could experience mild discomfort when responding to certain questions. Participants were provided with the telephone numbers and/or e-mail addresses of the principal and student investigators and the Western Michigan University HSIRB should they have questions or concerns. The (informed) consent document asked participants to give their consent to participate in the study and use their responses as well as inform them that confidentiality and anonymity would be maintained during and after the study. All documents related to the study were secured in a locked file in the office of the student investigator. The electronic survey and the data from completed surveys have been collected and stored on a password-protected Web-based survey site for a 1-year

period where no one has access to the log-in and password except the principal and student investigators. In order to further ensure confidentiality, all documents related to the electronic survey were downloaded to a jump drive and secured in a locked file cabinet in the student investigator's office, where no one else has access to the file cabinet.

To encourage participation, survey participants were offered, upon completion of the survey, the option to be entered into a drawing to win one of four \$50 gas cards. A separate link apart from the survey was provided to enter the drawing in order to ensure that identifying information for the drawing was not associated with a participant's survey responses.

Paper-and-Pencil Survey Procedures

The use of a paper-and-pencil survey was not in the original research methodology for data collection. The researcher learned, however, that the Association of Michigan School Counselors (AMSC) and the Michigan School Counselor Association (MSCA) were scheduled to host a joint conference on April 27, 2009, at Eastern Michigan University with the theme "School Counselors Collaborating for Change." Since the target population for this study was Michigan school counselors and since they would be converging at this conference, the researcher decided that this would be a viable means to collect data and increase the number of participants in the study by making available paper-and-pencil copies of the survey at the conference. One hundred and eighty-six school counselors were expected to attend the conference. Therefore, the researcher obtained protocol approval from the Western Michigan University Human

Subjects Institutional Review Board (HSIRB) (see Appendix A) to disseminate paper-and-pencil copies of the survey for this study at the joint conference (see Appendix F). The paper-and-pencil survey and the online survey were identical. However, an "Anonymous Survey Informed Consent" was developed for the paper-and-pencil survey that informed a potential participant of the purpose of the study and that the completed survey indicated consent to participate in the study and to use the answers supplied (see Appendix D).

The researcher arrived at the conference 2 hours prior to the opening session and placed surveys with prepaid returned envelopes attached to the surveys on each table for registrants to voluntarily complete. In addition, in order to provide surveys to registrants who either arrived late to the opening session or chose not to sit at a table but in chairs placed around the perimeter of the conference ballroom, the researcher stood at the entrance to the ballroom, and, as registrants entered, the researcher asked if they would be willing to participate in this research study. Further, in order to bring additional attention to this study, the researcher suspended from his neck a round and bright yellow circle that read, "Ask Me About My Research and a \$50 Gas Card." One hundred and fifty paperand-pencil surveys were accepted by conference attendees: approximately 135 surveys were placed on tables and 15 surveys were handed to registrants at the ballroom entrance. Attendees who completed their surveys at the conference site and desired to return them immediately were able to do so as they exited the conference ballroom by placing them in a black opaque shopping bag that was open at the top. Data from the returned paper-andpencil surveys were manually entered into the electronic data base (SurveyMonkey) with care by the researcher. The completed paper-and-pencil surveys were stored in a locked

file cabinet in the student investigator's office where no one had access to that cabinet but the student investigator.

Survey Response Rate

One hundred and fifty paper-and-pencil surveys were accepted by attendees at the AMSC/MSCA joint conference on April 27, 2009. Fifty-nine paper-and-pencil surveys were returned for a 39% response rate. The responses from the returned paper-and-pencil surveys were entered manually by the researcher into the electronic survey database (SurveyMonkey) with care. Seventy-five participants clicked on the link to participate in this study online, but 5 of these individuals did not answer any questions. Of the remaining 70 online participants, 9 were determined unusable due to those participants refusing to answer a majority of the questions in the survey or failing to complete all or a substantial portion of the demographics section of the survey. Failure to complete the majority of the questions in a survey including the demographic questions rendered that survey unusable for the purposes of data analysis. This resulted in a total of 61 usable surveys from the online process for a final total of 120 usable surveys.

A response rate for the online option was difficult to determine. AMSC and MCSA had originally agreed to send out an initial e-mail and a follow-up e-mail to their members for whom an e-mail address was available. As noted above, AMSC sent out only one e-mail, and the information introducing this study was just one of several topics covered in the e-mail. AMSC reported having sent the e-mail introducing the study to 422 e-mail addresses but was not sure if any of those were duplicates to the same person (J. Burdgick, personal communication, November 2, 2009). MSCA sent both the initial

e-mail and a follow-up e-mail and reported that the survey was sent two times to 419 members. One hundred and thirteen members (31.5%) opened the e-mail and, of those, 46 (40.7%) clicked on the link to the survey (J. Pyne, personal communication, November 2, 2009). Some school counselors belong to both state school counseling associations and were instructed to complete the survey only once. Using the total of e-mails sent by the two associations (n = 841), and the fact that 70 individuals responded to at least a portion of the online survey, a conservative response rate of 8.3% is calculated for the online version. The online response rate for usable surveys (61 of 841) was 7.3%. The overall response rate of usable online and paper-and-pencil surveys (120 of 841) was 14.3%.

One method that was used as an incentive to increase the response rate for both the online survey and the pencil-and-paper survey, involved offering \$50 gas cards to four randomly selected participants who completed the survey. Online survey participants were informed about the incentive in the informed consent (see Appendix D). Paper-and-pencil participants (delegates at the AMSC/MSCA joint conference) were informed about the incentive via an announcement to the general delegation during the opening session and by the researcher wearing around his neck a round and bright yellow circle that read, "Ask Me About My Research and a \$50 Gas Card." The researcher placed in a bag the names and e-mail addresses of all those who volunteered to participate in the drawing for the \$50 gas cards. The researcher had a colleague randomly draw four names from this bag. The researcher notified the winners via e-mail and mailed the gas cards to the winners upon confirmation of their contact information.

Instrumentation: The Survey

The instrumentation used in this study was a survey comprised of questions from two different instruments derived from previous studies in the area of attractional orientation (Bidell, 2005; Phillips & Fischer, 1998) and combined with questions created by the researcher (see Appendices E and F). A written request to use and modify both instruments for this study was sent to both Drs. Bidell and Phillips. Demographic information was obtained from Questions 42–55. A description of each instrument follows.

The Sexual Orientation Counselor Competency Scale (SOCCS) (Bidell, 2005) is a self-report 29-item instrument that was used to measure counselor competency to work with attractional minority clients. The SOCCS uses three subscales: Skills/Experiences (11 questions), which assesses direct clinical experience and skills that a counselor has had working with attractional minority clients; Attitudes (10 questions), which focuses on counselors' attitudes and prejudices regarding attractional minority individuals; and Knowledge (8 questions), which examines counselors' understanding of mental health issues specific to attractional minority individuals. This instrument uses a 7-point Likert-type format (Not at all True = 1 to Totally True = 7) and respondents were asked to rate the truth of each item as it applied to them by circling the appropriate number.

Scoring. All 10 questions comprising the Attitudes subscale (Questions 9, 17, 18, 22, 24, 28, 30, 34, 35, and 36) and 1 question of the Skills/Experience subscale (Question 29) are negatively worded and, as such, were reversed scored (1 = 7, 2 = 6, 3 = 5, 4 = 4, 5 = 3, 6 = 2, 7 = 1). The raw score for Questions 8–36 was calculated by adding up all items

(remembering to add the reverse scores for those questions designated as being negatively worded). The total score was calculated by dividing the raw score by 29 (the total number of questions). The scores ranged from 29 to 203 with higher scores indicating higher levels of attractional orientation competency. The raw score for each subscale was calculated by adding up all items in that subscale (remembering to reverse score designated items) and then dividing that raw score by the total number of questions in that subscale. For example, using the Attitudes subscale, the raw score is derived by adding all 10 items (remembering to reverse score all 10 items before adding) and then dividing by 10 (the total number of questions in the Attitudes subscale) to get the total score. Total scores ranged from 1 to 7 with higher scores indicating higher levels of attractional orientation competency.

The psychometric properties of the SOCCS were examined by Bidell (2005) and were found to have an internal consistency of .90, a 1-week test-retest reliability of .84. Bidell further states that the "criterion, concurrent, and divergent validity tests established the SOCCS as a psychometrically sound instrument" (p. 267). A study examining the psychometric properties of the SOCCS has been reported only by Bidell.

The SOCCS was designed to assess counselor competency to work with attractional minority clients in general. Therefore, the questions from this instrument were slightly modified to use language that was inclusive of all attractional minority persons and to specifically assess school counselors' attitudes, skills/experiences, knowledge, and training relative to working with attractional minority students. Written permission to use and modify the SOCCS was obtained from Markus P. Bidell, Ph.D., the author of the

study prior to the launch of the survey (see Appendix B). Questions 8–36 in the survey for this study were adapted from the SOCCS.

The Survey of Training Experiences (STE) (Phillips & Fischer, 1998) is a self-report 13-item questionnaire that was used to "assess participants' training experiences in LGB issues in their doctoral programs" prior to internship (p. 717). The item content of the STE covers the following areas: (a) coursework, (b) comprehensive examinations, (c) practicum, (d) faculty expertise in LGB issues or whether any faculty was "out" as LGB, (e) other sources of information on LGB issues in counseling, and (f) how prepared the doctoral students felt to work with LGB people vis-à-vis heterosexual people. The STE is comprised of three types of questions: (a) closed-ended (requiring a Yes or No response), (b) a 3-point Likert-type scale (Well, Somewhat, Not Very Well), and (c) checking all that apply.

The STE was designed to assess counseling and clinical psychology doctoral students' training experiences with LGB issues in general; therefore, the questions from this instrument were slightly modified to specifically assess school counselors' training experiences relative to working with attractional minority students. No psychometric properties were examined or reported by the authors of the STE or any other author.

In order to avoid duplication of questions and to make the survey for this study as succinct as possible, the following steps were taken regarding the STE. Two questions on the STE that assessed whether respondents were encouraged to explore personal biases and heterosexism regarding LGBTQ clients during coursework and practicum were collapsed into Question #5 ("Were you encouraged to explore possible personal biases and heterosexism with regard to lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender students during

your graduate counseling program?") in the current survey. Four questions on the STE that assessed whether issues were addressed in coursework, readings, and examinations were collapsed into Question #37 ("LGBTQ concerns were infused into the courses of my graduate counseling training program") in the current survey. Therefore, Questions 1–6 and #37 in the survey for this study were adapted from the STE. Prior to the launch of the survey, written permission to use and modify the STE was obtained from Julia C. Phillips, Ph. D., the first author of the study (see Appendix B).

Several questions were generated by the researcher to gain additional perspectives from school counselors regarding their graduate counseling training and their role(s) as school counselors with regards to LGBTQ issues. Question 7 was generated by the researcher to assess school counselors' perceptions of their role(s) regarding assisting attractional minority students. Question 38 was generated to acquire a general sense of school counselors' beliefs regarding the efficacy of their graduate counseling programs relative to preparing them to work with attractional minority students. Questions 39 and 40 were generated to assess school counselors' willingness to engage in professional development and to assess what continuing education activities they found most helpful in assisting them to work with attractional minority students. Finally, Question 41 was generated to assess their beliefs regarding the prevalence of attractional minority students in their individual schools.

Demographic Information

Demographic information was collected for this study to describe the study participants as well as for data analysis to test the research questions. The following

demographic information was collected: Age by range: 20–29, 30–39, 40–49, 50–59, or 60 and above. Gender: male, female, transgender, or intersex. Ethnic background: African American, Asian American/Pacific/Islander, Euro American/White, Hispanic/Latino/a, Middle Eastern, Multiracial, or Native American/Alaska Native. Attractional/sexual orientation: gay male, lesbian, heterosexual, bisexual, transgender, or questioning. Graduate Counseling Program: whether participants graduated from a CACREP-accredited counseling program (yes, no, or don't know); the number of credit hours in their counseling programs (less than 48 credit hours or 48 credit hours or more), and whether their counseling programs were completed in Michigan or out-of-state. School counselor credential: endorsement to a teaching certificate, school counseling license (SCL), or none. Professional school counselor association membership: Association of Michigan School Counselors [AMSC], Michigan School Counselor Association [MSCA], or American School Counseling Association [ASCA]. Years of school counseling experience by range: 0-4, 5-9, 10-14, 15-19, 20-24, 25-29, 30-34, 35–39, or Above 40. Years of counseling experience outside of school setting by range: 0-4, 5-9, 10-14, 15-19, 20-24, 25-29, 30-34, 35-39, or Above 40. *Type of school*: public, private, or religious/faith affiliated. Current school level(s) where you serve as a school counselor: elementary school, middle school/junior high, high school, alternative school, or none. School locale: urban, suburban, or small town or rural. County of school: as indicated by participants. And whether the school had an active Gay-Straight Alliance (GSA): yes, no, do not know, or unsure of what a GSA is.

Human Institutional Review

Approval to conduct this study was obtained by the researcher from the Western Michigan University Human Subjects Institutional Review Board (HSIRB). The HSIRB application was approved February 24, 2009 (see Appendix A).

Research Questions for the Current Study

The current review of the literature indicates a number of studies conducted to assess school counselors' attitudes, skills/experiences, knowledge, and training regarding homoattractionality and attractional minority student. Sears (1991) surveyed 142 middle and high school counselors in South Carolina and found that two thirds of those surveyed held negative attitudes or feelings about homoattractionality, a great majority of the school counselors would not choose to counsel students on matters of attractional orientation, and the majority of those surveyed reported not feeling prepared to work with attractional minority youth due to lack of training. GLSTN's (1994-1996) *Just the Facts: On Gay, Lesbian, and Bisexual Students and Schools* provided data on school counselors and attractional minority students and found, like the Sears study, that two thirds of the school counselors in the study held negative feelings toward attractional minority people. Price and Telljohann (1991) surveyed 289 middle and high school counselors and found that 71% of the respondents reported having counseled at least one attractional minority student during their careers. It should also be noted, however, that in the Price and Telljohann study, 16% of the school counselors reported that there were no attractional

minority students in their schools and 63% reported that no more than 1% to 5% of the students attending school were homoattractional.

Five research questions guided this study that are specifically related to school counselors' attitudes, knowledge, skills/experiences, and training to meet the needs of attractional minority students. The research questions (RQs) are answered through the use of descriptive statistics and are as follows:

RQ-1: What are the attitudes of Michigan school counselors regarding samegender attractional orientation and attractional minority students? Questions 9, 34, 36, 22, 24, 28, 35, 17, 18, and d30, addressed this research question.

RQ-2: What is the level of counseling skills/experiences of Michigan school counselors regarding attractional minority students? Questions 11, 14, 25, 15, 13, 19, 21, 8, 33, 29, and 10 addressed this research question.

RQ-3: What level of knowledge do Michigan school counselors possess regarding attractional minority issues? Questions 32, 31, 27, 20, 16, 12, 26, 23, and 41 addressed this research question.

RQ-4: Do Michigan school counselors believe that their graduate counseling program adequately trained them to competently meet the needs of attractional minority students? Question 38 addressed this research question.

RQ-5: What professional development activities would Michigan school counselors be willing to engage in within the next 12 months to expand their knowledge regarding issues of attractional orientation in general and attractional minority students in particular? What are the three top ranking continuing education activities that Michigan school counselors would find most helpful in

assisting them with working with LGBTQ students? Questions 39 and 40 addressed this research question.

Additional questions were asked to gain further school counselors' perspectives regarding LGBTQ issues. Questions 1, 3, 4, 5, and 6 assessed school counselors' experiences relative to LGBTQ issues in their graduate counseling training programs. Question 2 assessed to what extent school counselors believed their graduate counseling programs prepared them to work with each category of LGBTQ students. Questions 7 assessed school counselors' perspectives regarding their role(s) with assisting LGBTQ students (e.g., assist with family relations, explore attractional orientation). Question 37 assessed to what extent school counselors believed LGBTQ issues and concerns were infused into courses throughout their graduate counseling programs.

The literature summarized in Chapter II suggests that school counselors in general (a) hold both positive and negative attitudes about homoattractionality with the majority holding negative attitudes; (b) hold both positive and negative attitudes about attractional minority adolescents, with the majority holding negative attitudes; (c) exhibit little to no knowledge about issues concerning attractional minority students; (d) believe that their school counseling graduate training programs did not adequately prepare them to competently work with attractional minority students; (e) are willing to participate in professional development focusing on issues of attractional orientation in general and attractional minority students in particular in a nonpersonal way (e.g., attending a workshop or seminar on LGBTQ issues with other school personnel); and (f) are willing to participate in professional delivery services that are supportive to faculty and students regarding issues of attractional orientation in general and attractional minority students in

particular, with the majority willing to participate in ways that are more private than public (e.g., individual counseling with an attractional minority student vs. advocating for attractional minority students in a faculty meeting). The literature suggests that there may be some differences in school counselors' attitudes regarding issues of attractional orientation and attractional minority students based on age and ethnic background (Sears, 1988). The findings of one study (Sears, 1991) assessing attitudes of educators regarding attractional minority issues suggested that:

People with negative attitudes report . . . a more conservative religious ideology. . . . Those harboring negative attitudes about homosexuality are also more likely to have lived in the *Midwest* [italics added] or the South, to have grown up in rural areas or in small towns, and to be male, older, and less well-educated than those expressing more positive attitudes. (p. 38)

Given the Midwest culture and the ethnic, cultural, and socioeconomic diverse populations in Michigan, what the general literature suggests may or may not reflect the perceptions of school counselors in Michigan. Therefore, this study offers the following hypotheses (Hs):

H-1: There will be statistically significant differences in the current attitudes about same-gender attractional orientation and attractional minority students among school counselors vis-à-vis their age, gender, ethnic background, sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale (Sears, 1991).

H-2: There will be no statistically significant differences in the level of counseling skills/experiences of Michigan school counselors regarding attractional minority students when comparing school counselors' age, gender, ethnic background,

sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale (Phillips & Fischer, 1998; Sears, 1991).

H-3: There will be statistically significant differences in the level of knowledge that Michigan school counselors reflect regarding attractional minority issues visà-vis age, gender, ethnic background, sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale (Bidell, 2005).

H-4: There will be no statistically significant differences in the beliefs regarding the quality of training of Michigan school counselors by their graduate counseling programs to meet the needs of attractional minority students when comparing age, gender, ethnic background, attractional orientation, years of school counseling

Statistical Analyses

1998).

experience, school level, and school locale (Bidell, 2005; Phillips & Fischer,

The statistics in this study were calculated using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) 17.0. Descriptive statistics, such as percentages, means, and medians were used to describe the respondents demographically in addition to their attitudes, skills/experiences, knowledge, training, and willingness to engage in professional development relative to lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender students, and students who are questioning their attractional orientation. The generalizability of the sample population to the overall study population could not be determined due to the demographics of the AMSC and the MSCA not being available. Therefore, the sample population was compared to the participants of other relevant studies, the Bidell (2005)

and Phillips and Fischer (1998) studies being the primary studies used for comparisons. Several statistical methods were employed to analyze the data in this study. This study compared groups based on age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale, and therefore a one-way ANOVA was used for research questions 1–4. Descriptive statistics were used for research question 5 and survey questions 1–7. When possible, post hoc procedures were conducted for variables showing statistical significance in order to determine which means were statistically different from other means within subgroups.

Summary

In this study, school counselors who reside in Michigan and are members of the AMSC and/or the MSCA were either e-mailed a brief description of the study and a link to an electronic survey or handed a paper-and-pencil survey asking them to inform the investigators of their attitudes, skills/experiences, knowledge, graduate counseling training, and their willingness to participate in professional development regarding LGBTQ issues in general, and attractional minority youth issues in particular. Descriptive data were collected to determine what attitudes Michigan school counselors held regarding same-gender attraction in general and attractional minority adolescents in particular, what level of counseling skills/experiences they had regarding counseling attractional minority students, what level of knowledge they possessed regarding issues pertaining to attractional minority people, their beliefs regarding how well their graduate counseling training programs prepared them to effectively and competently work with attractional minority students, and if Michigan school counselors were willing to engage

in professional development for the next 12 months regarding issues related to samegender attractional orientation and attractional minority students. A number of statistical
methods including one-way analysis of variance were employed to analyze the data and to
determine whether statistically significant differences existed between groups based on
age, gender, ethnic background, sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience,
school level, and school locale. If statistical significance was determined, then post hoc
procedures were conducted when possible to compare all possible pairs of means and
determine which means were significantly different from one another.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

The primary purpose of this study was to investigate Michigan professional school counselors' preparedness to meet the academic, career, social, and personal needs of students who identify as lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender, and students who are questioning their attractional orientation (LGBTQ; also referred to as attractional minority students). Specifically, this study assessed Michigan school counselors' attitudes, skills/experiences, knowledge, training, and willingness to engage in professional development regarding issues related to attractional orientation and attractional minority students. In addition, this study assessed general issues related to school counselors' perception of their preparation through graduate training along with other details as they relate to working with LGBTO students. This chapter will discuss (a) demographic and professional profile information provided by the sample population with emphasis given to the variables used in statistical analysis (age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school levels, and school locale); (b) the five research questions and hypotheses that guided this study; (c) the analysis of the data, the statistical procedures employed to analyze the data, and the results of the data analysis; and (d) additional school counselors' perspectives on LGBTQ student issues and training. A summary is provided at the end of this chapter.

Demographics and Professional Profile

Fourteen demographic and professional profile questions were asked in the survey to determine the characteristics of the survey participants and to allow for comparisons of the sample population to the general memberships of both the Association of Michigan School Counselors (AMSC) and the Michigan School Counselor Association (MSCA) from whom the sample was drawn. In order to make comparisons of the sample population to the association memberships, specific demographic information about their members was requested from both associations near the end of data collection; however, none was available from either association. Therefore, the following discussion reflects the characteristics of the survey participants in this study. Be advised that the valid percentage of these frequencies was used based on the total number of participants who actually responded to the question, which, in some cases, was less than 120.

Age

Forty participants (33.3%) reported being 50–59 years of age, slightly more than those who reported being 30–39 years of age (30.8%; n = 37). A further breakdown of the participants' ages indicates that 20.8% (n = 25) of the participants reported being in the 40–49 age group, 10.8% (n = 13) reported being in the 60 and above age group, and 4.2% (n = 5) reported being in the 20–29 age group (see Table 1).

Table 1

Demographics of Study Participants

Variable	n	%
Age		
20–29	5	4.2
30–39	37	30.8
40–49	25	20.8
50–59	40	33.3
60 and above	13	10.8
Total	120	100.0
Gender		
Female	103	85.8
Male	17	14.2
Total	120	100.0
Ethnic Background		
Euro American/White	106	88.3
African American/Black	9	7.5
Asian American/Pacific Islander	1	0.8
Hispanic/Latino(a)	1	0.8
Native American/Alaska Native	1	0.8
Total	118	98.3
No Response	2	1.7
Total	120	100.0
Sexual Orientation		
Heteroattractional	112	93.3
Gay male	2	1.7
Lesbian	4	3.3
Biattractional	1	0.8
Questioning	1	0.8
Total	120	100.0

Gender and Ethnic Background

An overwhelming majority (85.8%; n = 103) of the participants were females, and 14.2% (n = 17) were males. None of the survey participants reported being transgender or

intersex. With regards to ethnicity, 88.3% (n = 106) of the participants reported being Euro-American/White, 7.5% (n = 9) reported being African American/Black, 1 participant reported being Asian American/Pacific/Islander (0.8%), 1 participant reported being Hispanic/Latino(a) (0.8%), and 1 participant reported being Native American/Alaska Native (0.8%). Middle Eastern and Multiracial groups were not reported as participants in this survey. Two participants abstained from responding to this demographic question (see Table 1).

Attractional/Sexual Orientation

The majority of the participants (93.3%; n = 112) reported being heteroattractional, 3.3% (n = 4) reported being lesbian, 1.7% (n = 2) reported being gay males, 1 participant reported being biattractional (0.8%), and 1 participant (0.8%) reported questioning his or her attractional orientation. No one reported as being transgender (see Table 1).

Graduate Counseling Program

Since this study assessed school counselors' training experiences regarding issues of attractionality and attractional minority students, three professional profile questions inquired as to whether participants graduated from a graduate counseling program accredited by the Council for Accreditation of Counseling and Related Educational Programs (CACREP), if the graduate counseling program was less than or more than a 48-credit-hour program, and if the graduate counseling program was completed in Michigan or out-of-state. As shown in Table 2, 68 participants (56.7%) reported

graduating from a CACREP-accredited program, 17.5% (n=21) participants reported that they did not graduate from a CACREP-accredited program, and a surprisingly high number (25.0%; n=30) of participants reported not knowing if their graduate counseling program was CACREP-accredited. One participant did not answer this question. Eighty-two participants (68.3%) reported that their graduate counseling program was 48 credit hours or more, while 30.8% (n=37) reported their graduate counseling programs being less than 48 credit hours. One participant did not answer this question. Finally, 90.8% (n=109) of the participants reported completing their graduate counseling programs in Michigan, while 7.5% (n=9) reported having completed their graduate counseling programs out-of-state. Two participants provided no answer to this question (see Table 2).

School Counselor Credential

In this study, school counselors were asked about their school counseling credentials (i.e., license, endorsement). Regarding school counseling credentials, as shown in Table 2, 58.3% (n = 70) of the participants reported that their school counseling credential was an endorsement to their teaching certificate, while 39.2% (n = 47) indicated that they held a school counseling license. Three participants provided no response to this question.

School Counseling Association Membership

Participants in this survey were asked whether they held memberships in professional school counseling associations, namely the Association of Michigan School

Table 2

Details of Graduate Counseling Program and School Counseling Credentials

Variable	n	%
CACREP accreditation		
Was CACREP accredited	68	56.7
Was not CACREP accredited	21	17.5
Don't know if CACREP accredited	30	25.0
Total	119	99.2
No Response	1	.8
Total	120	100.0
Required Credit Hours		
48 credit hours or more	82	68.3
Less than 48 credit hours	37	30.8
Total	119	99.2
No Response	1	.8
Total	120	100.0
Counseling Program Completed		
In Michigan	109	90.8
Out-of-state	9	7.5
Total	118	98.3
No Response	2	1.7
Total	120	100.0
School Counselor Credential		
Endorsement to teaching certificate	70	58.3
School Counseling License	47	39.2
Total	117	97.5
No Response	3	2.5
Total	120	100.0

Counselors (AMSC), the Michigan School Counselor Association (MSCA), and the American School Counseling Association (ASCA). One hundred and four participants responded to this question. As shown in Table 3, 41 participants (34.2%) reported membership in AMSC, 70.0% (n = 84) of the participants reported membership in MSCA, and 39.2% (n = 47) reported membership in ASCA. In addition, many of the

participants in this study held joint memberships in several school counseling associations. See Table 3 for a complete breakdown of the participants' single and joint professional school counselor association memberships. Sixteen participants did not provide a response to this question.

Table 3

Professional School Counselor Association Membership

Variable	n	%
AMSC	41	34.2
MSCA	84	70.0
ASCA	47	39.2
Total	172	143.4
Single and Joint Memberships		
AMSC only	12	10.0
MSCA only	38	31.7
ASCA only	5	4.2
MSCA and AMSC	7	5.8
MSCA and ASCA	20	16.7
AMSC and ASCA	3	2.5
AMCS, MSCA, and ASCA	19	15.8
Total	104	86.7
No Response	16	13.3
Total	120	100.0

Years of School Counseling Experience

Participants were asked to report their years of school counseling experience, selecting from various ranges of years. With respect to years of school counseling experience, 29.2% (n = 35) of the participants reported 0–4 years, 26.7% (n = 32) reported 5–9 years, 15.8% (n = 19) reported 10–14 years, 12.5% (n = 15) reported 15–19 years, 5.8% (n = 7) participants reported 20–24 years, 1 participant (0.8%) reported 25–29

years, 5.0% (n = 6) reported 30–34 years, and 1.7% (n = 2) reported 35–39 years of school counseling experience. There were 3 participants (2.5%) who did not respond to this question (see Table 4).

Table 4

Years of Counseling Experiences

Variable	n	%
Years of School Counseling Experience		
0–4	35	29.2
5–9	32	26.7
10–14	19	15.8
15–19	15	12.5
20–24	7	5.8
25–29	1	0.8
30–34	6	5.0
35–39	2	1.7
Total	117	97.5
No Response	3	2.5
Total	120	100.0
Years of Counseling Experience Outside		
of School Setting		
0–4	88	73.3
5–9	13	10.8
10–14	5	4.2
15–19	1	.8
20–24	3	2.5
25–29	2	1.7
Total	112	93.3
No Response	8	6.7
Total	120	100.0

Years of Counseling Experience Outside of School Setting

Participants were asked to report their years of counseling experience outside of the school setting; As shown in Table 4, 88 participants (73.3%) reported 0-4 years,

10.8% (n = 13) reported 5–9 years, 4.2% (n = 5) reported 10–14 years, 1 (0.8%) reported 15–19 years, 2.5% (n = 3) reported 20–24 years, and 1.7% (n = 2) reported 25–29 years. There were 8 participants (6.7%) who did not respond to this question. Thus, the data indicate that slightly over half of the school counselors in this study (55.8%) have less than 10 years of experience as school counselors and over three fourths (75.2%) have less than 5 years of counseling experience outside of a school setting.

Type of School and Current School Level(s)

Participants were asked the type of school (public, private, or religious/faith affiliated) and the current school level(s) (elementary, middle, high school, alternative high school, none) where they served as school counselors. Regarding type of school, 92.5% (n = 111) reported counseling in public schools, 1.7% (n = 2) reported counseling in private schools, and 1.7% (n = 2) reported counseling in religious/faith-based schools. Five participants did not respond to this question (see Table 5).

Regarding current school level(s) where school counselors were currently serving, participants were provided five categories to choose from: (a) Elementary School, (b) Middle/Junior High School, (c) High School, (d) Alternative High School, and (e) None (not currently serving in a school). Instructions were given to "check all that apply." One hundred and fifteen participants responded to this inquiry. As shown in Table 5, 15.8% (n = 19) reported serving at elementary schools, 35.8% (n = 43) at middle/junior high schools, 49.2% (n = 59) at high schools, 5.0% (n = 6) at alternative high schools, and 10% (n = 12) reported not currently serving at any school level.

Table 5
School Types and Levels

Variable	n	%
Type of School	···	
Public	111	92.5
Private	2	1.7
Religious/Faith Affiliated	2	1.7
Total	115	95.8
No Response	5	4.2
Total	120	100.0
School Levels		
Elementary	19	15.8
Middle/Junior High	43	35.8
High School	59	49.2
Alternative High School	6	5.0
No Level	12	10.0
Total	139	112.8
Single- and Multi-Level Appointments		
Elementary only	10	8.3
Middle/Junior High only	25	20.8
High School only	46	38.3
Alternative High School only	3	2.5
None	12	10.0
Elem., Middle/Junior, and High Schools	5	4.2
Middle/Junior High, and High Schools	8	6.7
High and Alternative High Schools	1	.8
Elem., Middle/Junior, and High Schools	3	2.5
Middle/Junior and Alternative High Schools	1	.8
Elem., Middle, High, Alternative High Schools	1	.8
Total	115	95.7
No Response	5	4.2
Total	120	100.0

Many participants reported working simultaneously at multiple school levels.

Table 5 shows an additional breakdown of school counselors serving at single-school levels and multiple-school levels. Five participants did not respond to this question.

Participants were asked about the location of their schools (urban, suburban, rural/small town) and the counties wherein their schools reside. Regarding school locale, 46.7% (n = 56) of the participants reported that their schools were in suburban areas, 15.8% (n = 19) reported that their schools were in urban areas, and 30.8% (n = 37) reported that their schools were in small town or rural areas. Eight participants did not respond to this question (see Table 6). Regarding the counties wherein participants' schools resided, school counselors reported serving in schools from 31 counties in Michigan with the largest participation coming from southeast Michigan. Seventeen participants provided no responses to this question.

Table 6

Location of Schools

Variable	n	%
School Locale		
Suburban	56	46.7
Urban	19	15.8
Small Town/Rural	37	30.8
Total	112	93.3
No Response	8	6.7
Total	120	100.0

Gay Straight Alliance (GSA)

Finally, school counselors were asked if their schools had an active Gay Straight Alliance (GSA). Of those who responded to this question (n = 112), 67.5% (n = 81) of the participants reported that their schools did not have an active GSA, 20.8% (n = 25)

reported that their schools did have an active GSA, 3.3% (n = 4) reported not knowing if their school had an active GSA, and 1.7% (n = 2) reporting being unsure of what a GSA is. Eight participants (6.7%) did not respond to this question (see Table 7).

Table 7

Gay Straight Alliance

Variable	n	%
Gay Straight Alliance at your school?	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
No	81	67.5
Yes	25	20.8
Do Not Know	4	3.3
Unsure of what a GSA is	2	1.7
Total	112	93.3
No Response	8	6.7
Total	120	100.0

Overall, the demographics of the participants in this study suggest a profile of a school counselor who is female, Euro-American/White, heteroattractional, between the ages of 50–59 or 30–39; has a school counseling endorsement to her teaching certificate; counsels in a high school or middle school, located in the suburbs, that has no active GSA; has 0–4 or 5–9 years of school counseling experience and 0–4 years of counseling experience outside of the school setting; is a graduate of a Michigan graduate counseling program that was 48 credit hours or more and was CACREP-accredited; and is a member of a professional school counseling association.

Data Analyses

The purpose of this study was to assess Michigan school counselors' preparedness to work effectively and competently with attractional minority students. Therefore, participants in this study were asked questions relative to their attitudes, skills/experiences, knowledge, training, and willingness to engage in professional development regarding issues of attractional orientation and attractional minority students. This section presents the results of the five research questions that guided this study. Statistical calculations were made using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) 17.0. The benchmarks for statistical significance for all analyses were a *p*-value of 0.05 with a 95% confidence interval.

Descriptive Statistics

Research Questions 1–3 assessed the attitudes, skills/experiences, and knowledge of Michigan school counselors. As stated previously, questions 8–36 of the survey for the current study were taken from the *Sexual Orientation Counselor Competency Scale* (SOCCS) (Bidell, 2005) and modified to meet the needs of this study. This scale includes subscales Attitudes, Skills, and Knowledge as well as a total score for overall school counselor competency using a 7-point Likert scale, with higher scores indicating higher levels of competency relative to working with attractional minority students and their concerns. Missing data for the occasional items in the SOCCS questionnaire that were not answered were replaced by the mean score of that item for participants who did respond to the item for the following three research questions. In addition, due to the small

representation of ethnic minority and attractional/sexual minority participants in this study, the variable *ethnic background* was also collapsed into a new variable consisting of two ethnic categories: *White and Non-White*. Likewise, the variable attractional/sexual orientation was collapsed into a new variable consisting of two categories:

Heteroattractional and Nonheteroattractional. Further, the variable years of school counseling experience had a year range choice (25–29 years) with only 1 participant.

Therefore, the 25–29 year range choice was collapsed into the 30–34 year range choice, creating a new variable: years of school counseling experience collapsed reflecting the expanded ranges of 25–34 years. Below, results related to ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, and years of school counseling experience are reported for both the full range of options for those questions and for the collapsed options.

SOCCS Total Score

The overall mean of the total score for the SOCCS in this study was 4.64 (SD = 0.833) with scores ranging from 2.44 to 6.31, suggesting that, overall, Michigan school counselors in this study reported to be slightly more than somewhat competent to meet the needs of attractional minority students (score of 4 = somewhat true). A one-way ANOVA was conducted with each independent variable (age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling, school locale, school levels) being run alone with total score as the dependent variable. Results indicated statistical significance with the variables attractional/sexual orientation and the collapsed variable attractional/sexual orientation (see Table 8).

Table 8

One-Way ANOVAs—Total Score

Variable	df	F-value	<i>p</i> -value
Age	4	1.978	0.102
Gender	1	1.191	0.277
Ethnic Background	4	1.592	0.181
Attractional/Sexual Orientation	4	3.001	0.021*
Years of School Counseling Experience	7	1.850	0.085
School Levels	4	0.329	0.858
School Locale	2	0.530	0.590
Ethnic Background (Collapsed)	1	3.013	0.085
Attractional/Sexual Orientation (Collapsed)	1	10.635	0.001*
Years of School Counseling Experience (Collapsed)	6	2.151	0.053

^{*}Statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

Regarding attractional/sexual orientation (F = 3.001, p = .021), though statistical significance was found for the full range of options, post hoc analysis could not be performed to determine the meaning of the significance due to the categories bisexual and questioning having only 1 participant each. Regarding the collapsed variable attractional/sexual orientation (F = 10.635, p = .001), the means (with standard deviations in parentheses) for Nonheteroattractional and Heteroattractional participants for the overall total score on the SOCCS were 5.53 (0.462) and 4.58 (0.818), respectively,

which suggested Nonheteroattractional participants having a higher level of attractional/sexual orientation counselor competency than Heteroattractional participants.

The performance of one-way ANOVAs with *total score* as the dependent variable indicated *statistical nonsignificance* for the independent variables age, gender, ethnic background, years of school counseling experience, school levels, and school locale, ethnic background collapsed, and years of school counseling experience collapsed. It should be noted, however, that *years of school counseling collapsed* approached statistical significance (p = 0.053) (see Table 8).

Research Question 1 - Attitude

What are the attitudes of Michigan school counselors regarding same-gender attractional orientation and attractional minority students?

Research hypothesis. The researcher assumed that there would be statistically significant differences in the attitudes about same-gender attractional orientation and attractional minority students among school counselors vis-à-vis their age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale. This assumption was based on previous research (Sears, 1991).

Results. The assumption that there would be statistically significant differences was not confirmed in this analysis. The scores from the Attitude subscale were used for these calculations. A one-way ANOVA was conducted with each independent variable (age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling, school locale, school levels) being run alone with Attitude as the dependent variable. Results indicated that there were no statistically significant differences in

attitudes regarding age (F-value = 1.555; p-value = 0.191), gender (F-value = 0.018; p-value = 0.894), ethnic background (F-value = 0.648; p-value = 0.629), attractional/sexual orientation (F-value = 0.737; p-value = 0.569), years of school counseling experience (F-value = 1.925; p-value = 0.072), school levels (F-value = 0.501; p-value = 0.735), and school locale (F-value = 0.150; p-value = 0.861). It should be noted, however, that while none of the variables showed statistical significance, the variable years of school counseling experience did approach significance (p = 0.072). Additionally, one-way ANOVAs were run with Attitudes as the dependent variable and the collapsed variables for ethnic background (White and Non-White), attractional/sexual orientation (Heteroattractional and Nonheteroattractional), and years of school counseling experience (25-34 years) as the independent variables. Results indicated statistical nonsignificance for the ethnic background collapsed variables (F-value = 0.659; p-value = 0.419) and for the attractional/sexual orientation collapsed variable (F-value = 1.940; p-value = 0.166 (see Table 9). However, statistical significance was indicated with the collapsed variable years of school counseling experience (F = 2.243; p = 0.044) with post hoc analysis indicating significant mean differences between the range of years 15–19 (M = 6.66; SD = 0.336) and 25–34 (F = 5.40; SD = 0.833). These data suggest that participants with 15–19 years of school counseling experience have a more positive and supportive attitude regarding attractional orientation and LGBTQ students concerns than participants with 25-34 years of school counseling experience (see Table 9).

Table 9

One-Way ANOVAs—Attitudes Subscale of the SOCCS

Variable	df	<i>F</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value
Age	4	1.555	0.191
Gender	1	0.018	0.894
Ethnic Background	4	0.648	0.629
Attractional/Sexual Orientation	4	0.737	0.569
Years of School Counseling Experience	7	1.925	0.072
School Levels	4	0.501	0.735
School Locale	2	0.150	0.861
Ethnic Background (Collapsed)	1	0.659	0.419
Attractional/Sexual Orientation (Collapsed)	1	1.940	0.166
Years of School Counseling Experience (Collapsed)	6	2.243	0.044*

^{*}Statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

The mean score for the Attitudes subscale for the entire sample was 6.22 (SD = 0.941) with scores ranging from 2.7 to 7. This mean score suggests that overall, Michigan school counselors reported positive and supportive attitudes relative to issues of samegender attractional orientation and attractional minority students.

Research Question 2 – Skills/Experiences

What is the level of counseling skills/experiences of Michigan school counselors regarding attractional minority students?

Research hypothesis. Based on previous research (Phillips & Fischer, 1998; Sears, 1991), the researcher anticipated that there would be statistically significant differences in the level of counseling skills/experiences as they pertained to working with attractional minority students among school counselors vis-à-vis their age, gender, ethnic background, sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale.

Results. The assumption that there would be statistically significant differences was not confirmed in this analysis. The scores from the Skills subscale were used for this calculation. A one-way ANOVA was conducted with each independent variable (age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling, school locale, school levels) being run alone with Skills as the dependent variable. As shown in Table 10, there were no statistically significant differences in the level of skills/experiences relative to age (F-value = 1.853; p-value = 0.123), gender (F-value = 0.990; p-value = 0.322), ethnic background (F-value = 2.348; p-value = 0.059), attractional/sexual orientation (F-value = 1.992; p-value of 0.100), years of school counseling experience (F-value = 1.588; p-value = 0.147), school levels (F-value = 0.306) p-value = 0.873), and school locale (F-value = 1.086; p-value = 0.341).). It should be noted, however, that while none of the variables showed statistical significance, the variable ethnic background did approach significance (p = 0.059). Additionally, one-way ANOVAs were run with Skills as the dependent variable and the collapsed variables for ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, and years of school counseling as the independent variables. As shown in Table 10, statistical significance was indicated for the ethnic background collapsed variable (F-value = 5.909; p-value = 0.017) and the

attractional/sexual orientation collapsed variable (F-value = 5.625; p-value = 0.19). Post hoc analyses could not be run due to each of those variables having less than three groups. Results indicated statistical *nonsignificance* for *years of school counseling* experience collapsed (F = 1.785; p = .109).

Table 10

One-Way ANOVAs—Skills Subscale of the SOCCS

Variable	df	<i>F</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value
Age	4	1.853	0.123
Gender	1	0.990	0.322
Ethnic Background	4	2.348	0.059
Attractional/Sexual Orientation	4	1.992	0.100
Years of School Counseling Experience	7	1.588	0.147
School Levels	4	0.306	0.873
School Locale	2	1.086	0.341
Ethnic Background (Collapsed)	1	5.909	0.017*
Attractional/Sexual Orientation (Collapsed)	1	5.625	0.019*
Years of School Counseling Experience (Collapsed)	6	1.785	0.109

^{*}Statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

The mean Skills subscale scores for the collapsed ethnic background categories White and Non-White are 3.88 and 2.78, respectively, with scores for Whites ranging from 3.59–4.16 and scores for Non-Whites ranging from 1.93–3.63 (from a scale of 1–7). These data suggest that though both means indicate the participants in this study have less

than a *somewhat* level of counseling skills/experiences regarding attractional minority students, the White participants in this study reported a higher level of counseling skills/experiences than did the Non-White participants. The mean Skills subscale scores for the collapsed attractional/sexual orientation categories Heteroattractional and Nonheteroattractional are 3.70 and 4.98, respectively, suggesting that the Nonheteroattractional participants in this study have a higher level of counseling skills/experiences regarding attractional minority students than do the Heteroattractional participants in this study.

Overall, the mean score for the Skills subscale for the entire sample was 3.78 (SD = 1.51) with scores ranging from 1.00 to 6.72 (from a scale of 1-7) suggesting that the Michigan school counselors in this study reported having a moderate level of counseling skills and experiences relative to attractional minority students.

Research Question 3 - Knowledge

What level of knowledge do Michigan school counselors reflect regarding attractional minority issues?

Research hypothesis. There will be statistically significant differences in the level of knowledge that Michigan school counselors reflect regarding attractional minority issues vis-à-vis age, gender, ethnic background, sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale. This assumption is based on the Bidell (2005) study.

Results. The scores from the Knowledge subscale were used for this calculation.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted with knowledge as the dependent variable and age,

gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school levels, and school locale as the independent variables. The assumption that there would be statistically significance differences in knowledge was confirmed only for the variable attractional/sexual orientation with an F-value = 2.963 and p-value = 0.023 (see Table 11). A post hoc analysis for attractional/sexual orientation could not be performed to give meaning to this significance due to two groups within the attractional/sexual orientation demographic having fewer than two participants (bisexual, n=1; and questioning/curious, n=1). Additionally, a one-way ANOVA was conducted with the collapsed variable for attractional/sexual orientation and results yielded statistical significance (F-value = 10.612; p-value = 0.001). The mean Knowledge subscale scores for the collapsed attractional/sexual orientation categories Heterosexual and Nonheterosexual are 3.78 and 4.89, respectively, with scores for the Heteroattractional (heterosexual) participants ranging from 3.61–3.96 and the scores from the Nonheteroattractional participants ranging from 4.24-5.54. These data suggest that the Nonheteroattractional participants in this study have a higher level of knowledge regarding LGBTQ minority issues than do the Heteroattractional participants in this study.

The performance of one-way ANOVAs with *Knowledge* as the dependent variable indicated *statistical nonsignificance* for the variables *age* (*F*-value = 0.274; *p*-value = 0.894), *gender* (*F*-value = 2.095; *p*-value = 0.150), *ethnic background* (*F*-value = 0.566; *p*-value = 0.687), *years of school counseling experience* (*F*-value = 0.587; *p*-value = 0.766, *school levels* (*F*-value = 0.436; *p*-value = 0.783), and *school locale* (*F*-value = 0.530; *p*-value = 0.590). One-way ANOVAs were conducted with knowledge as the

dependent variable and the collapsed variables for ethnic background and years of school counseling experience as the independent variables. Results indicated *statistical* nonsignificance for collapsed ethnic background (F-value = 0.477; p-value = 0.491) and years of school counseling experience (F = 0.686; p = 0.661) (see Table 11).

Table 11

One-Way ANOVAs—Knowledge Subscale of the SOCCS

Variable	df	F-value	<i>p</i> -value
Age	4	0.274	0.894
Gender	1	2.095	0.150
Ethnic Background	4	0.566	0.687
Attractional/Sexual Orientation	4	2.963	0.023*
Years of School Counseling Experience	7	0.587	0.766
School Levels	4	0.436	0.783
School Locale	2	0.530	0.590
Ethnic Background (Collapsed)	1	0.477	0.491
Attractional/Sexual Orientation (Collapsed)	1	10.612	0.001*
Years of School Counseling Experience (Collapsed)	6	0.686	0.661

Overall, the mean score for the Knowledge subscale for the entire sample was 3.86 (SD = .966) with scores ranging from 1.00-7.0 (from a scale of 1-7) suggesting that the Michigan school counselors in this study reported having a moderate level of

knowledge relative to same-gender attractional orientation and attractional minority students.

In summary, the mean total score of the SOCCS indicated that, overall, the school counselors in this study believed that they were *somewhat* competent to meet the needs of attractional minority students. The mean total score of this study mirrored the exact same mean total score of the Bidell (2005) study. Also, the participants in this study reported a high mean score on the Attitude subscale indicating a positive and supportive attitude towards attractional minority students and their concerns. The Bidell study also reported a high mean score on the Attitude subscale. In addition, participants in this study reported a mean score on the Skills/Experience subscale that indicated a *less than somewhat* level of counseling skills and experience relative to working with attractional minority students. The mean score of the Skills/Experience subscale was slightly higher than the mean score of the same subscale of the Bidell study. Finally, the participants in this study reported a mean score on the Knowledge subscale that indicated a *less than somewhat* level of knowledge regarding attractional minority orientation issues and attractional minority students and their concerns. The Bidell study reported a slightly higher mean score on the Knowledge subscale (see Table 12).

Mean scores are based on a 1–7 scale with higher scores indicating a higher level of competence (Bidell, 2005).

Table 12

SOCCS Mean Scores of Counselor Competency

	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Bidell Mean	Bidell Std. Deviation
Total Score	120	4.64	0.833	4.64	0.89
ASubScore	120	6.22	0.941	6.49	0.79
SSubScore	120	3.78	1.505	2.94	1.53
KSubScore	120	3.86	0.966	4.66	1.05

Research Question 4 - Training

Do Michigan school counselors believe that their graduate counseling program adequately trained them to competently meet the needs of attractional minority students?

Research hypothesis. There will be no statistically significant differences in the belief about the quality of training of Michigan school counselors by their graduate counseling programs to meet the needs of attractional minority students when comparing age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale. This hypothesis is based on research studies conducted by Phillips and Fischer (1998) and Bidell (2005).

Results. In order to gain a general perspective of Michigan school counselors' beliefs about their graduate counseling training surrounding LGBTQ students and their concerns, participants were asked to rate the statement "I believe that my graduate counseling training program prepared me to work effectively and competently with

LGBTQ students and their concerns." The analysis of this hypothesis was based on the responses to this question, which used the same 7-point Likert scale as did the items from the SOCCS. The results of the analysis of the responses for this question follow.

According to the frequency of responses shown in Table 13, 70.9% of the participants believed this statement to be *less than somewhat true* to *not true at all* and 19.9% believed this statement to be *above somewhat true* to *totally true*.

Table 13

Overall Belief Regarding Graduate Counseling Training Toward LGBTQ Students

	n	%
1 = Not at all True	33	27.5
2	38	31.7
3	14	11.7
4 = Somewhat True	11	9.2
5	10	8.3
6	7	5.8
7 = Totally True	7	5.8

The mean score for this statement was 2.80 (SD = 1.813), with scores ranging from 1 to 7 (from a scale of 1–7); nearly three-fourths (70.9%; n = 85) of the participants scored below the *somewhat true* point. These results suggest that, in general, the participants in this study believed that their graduate counseling training programs *had not* prepared them to work effectively and competently with LGBTQ students and their concerns.

The research hypothesis assumed that there would be *no* statistically significant differences in the beliefs of Michigan school counselors with regards to their graduate

counseling training programs preparing them to meet the needs of attractional minority students when comparing age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale. Employing one-way ANOVA procedures, the assumption of nonsignificance was confirmed for the variables gender, ethnicity, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school locale, and school level, attractional/sexual orientation collapsed, and ethnic background collapsed (see Table 14). However, this assumption was not confirmed for the variables age and years of school counseling experience collapsed (see Table 14). Regarding age, using a one-way ANOVA, results showed an F-value of 5.468 with a p-value of 0.000.

Table 14

One-Way ANOVAs—Overall Perception of Adequate Graduate Training on LGBTQ

Issues

Variable	df	F-value	<i>p</i> -value
Age	4	5.468	0.000*
Gender	1	1.206	0.274
Ethnic Background	4	0.737	0.569
Attractional/Sexual Orientation	4	0.886	0.475
Years of School Counseling Experience	7	2.047	0.055
School Levels	4	0.039	0.997
School Locale	2	2.023	0.137
Ethnic Background (Collapsed)	1	1.958	0.164
Attractional/Sexual Orientation (Collapsed)	1	2.921	0.090
Years of School Counseling Experience (Collapsed)	6	2.409	0.032*

^{*}Statistically significant at the .05 level.

A post hoc analysis was conducted applying a Tukey procedure and results indicated that there were statistically significant differences when making mean comparisons between three pairs of age groups: (a) age group 30–39 (M= 3.70) with age group 50–59 (M= 2.40); (b) age group 30–39 (M= 3.70) with age group 40–49 (M= 2.24); and (c) age group 30–39 (M= 3.70) with age group 60 and above (M= 2.00) (see Table 15). These results suggest that school counselors in the 30–39 age group believed that their graduate counseling training programs prepared them to work more effectively and competently with LGBTQ students than school counselors in the 50–59 age group, the 40–49 age group, and the 60 and above age group. The 60 and above age group reported that their graduate counseling training programs prepared them the *least* to work effectively and competently with LGBTQ students compared to the 30–39, 40–49, and 50–59 age groups.

Table 15

Post Hoc Tests—Overall Perception of Adequate Graduate Training—Age of Participants

Age Group	Mean	Age Group	Mean	Mean Difference	Standard Error	Sig.
30–39	3.70	50–59	2.40	-1.30	0.386	0.010*
30–39	3.70	40–49	2.24	-1.46	0.438	0.009*
30–39	3.70	60 and above	2.00	-1.70	0.545	0.019*

^{*}Statistically significant at the .05 level.

Regarding the collapsed variable for years of school counseling experience, a one-way ANOVA was conducted and the results indicated statistical significance (F = 2.409; p = 0.032). However, post hoc analysis using a Tukey procedure revealed no p-values

among the subgroups that were statistically significant (see Table 16). It is likely that the Tukey post-hoc test did not show any significance among the subgroups due to uneven group sizes, with the subgroup 35–39 having only 2 participants.

Table 16

Post Hoc Tests—Overall Perception of Adequate Graduate Training—Years of School Counseling Experience (Collapsed)

Years	Mean	Standard Deviation	Standard Error	Sig.
0-4	3.26	2.049	.297	.997
5–9	3.09	1.957	.311	1.000
10–14	3.05	1.810	.404	1.000
15–19	1.73	.884	.454	.083
20–24	1.43	.535	.665	.166
25–34	2.14	1.069	.665	.726
35–39	2.50	.707	1.244	1.000

Research Question 5 - Professional Development

What professional development activities would Michigan school counselors be willing to engage in within the next 12 months to expand their knowledge regarding issues of attractional orientation in general and attractional minority students in particular? What are the three top ranking continuing education activities that Michigan school counselors would find most helpful in assisting them with working with LGBTQ students?

Michigan school counselors' willingness to engage in professional development activities will first be discussed followed by a discussion on the top three ranked continuing education activities.

Professional Development Activities

Results. Participants were asked "Would you be willing to participate in the following activities for professional development regarding issues pertaining to LGBTQ students during the next 12 months?" Three activities were provided as choices:

(a) "Attend conferences and workshops"; (b) "Read professional articles"; and (c) "Attend in-service training at school." There were four possible responses for each choice from which participants were asked to choose only one response for each activity: (a) yes, (b) no, (c) possibly, and (d) unsure. One hundred and twenty participants responded to all three of the activities. The following are the results for each professional development activity as also shown in Table 17.

Table 17

Willingness to Participate in Professional Development Activities Regarding LGBTQ

Issues

Activity	Yes	%	No	%	Possibly	%	Unsure	%	Total
Conference & Workshops	79	65.8	8	6.7	32	26.7	1	.8	100.0
Reading Professional Articles	96	80.0	2	1.7	21	17.5	1	.8	100.0
Inservice Training	90	75.0	8	6.7	19	15.8	3	2.5	100.0

Attend conferences and workshops. Seventy-nine participants (65.8%) reported that they would be willing to attend conferences and workshops, 26.7% (n = 32) reported that they would possibly attend, 6.7% (n = 8) reported that they would not attend, and 1 participant (n = 0.8%) expressed being unsure regarding attendance.

Read professional articles. Ninety-six (80%) of the participants reported that they would be willing to read professional articles on LGBTQ topics, 17.5% (n = 21) of the participants reported that they would possibly read professional articles, 1.7% (n = 2) of the participants reported that they would not read professional articles, and 1 participant (n = 0.8%) reported being unsure about reading professional articles.

Attend in-service training at school. Ninety (75%) of the participants reported that they would be willing to attend in-service training at school, 15.8% (n = 19) of the participants indicated that they would possibly attend in-service training, 6.7% (n = 8) of the participants reported that they would not attend, and 2.5% (n = 3) reported being unsure as to whether they would be willing to attend in-service training at school.

Most Helpful Continuing Education Activities

The second part of Research Question 5 was addressed by a question which asked participants to "Please indicate the top three activities by rank that you would find most helpful in assisting you in working with LGBTQ students." Six activities were provided as choices: (a) In-service training, (b) Reading professional literature on LGBTQ topics, (c) Attending an LGBTQ resource center, (d) Consulting with LGBT persons who are living open, (e) Taking a specific course on adolescent sexuality/LGBTQ adolescents, and (f) Reading personal accounts of LGBT persons.

Activities were ranked using a weighted score in which each response as a #1 choice was given 3 points, each response as a #2 choice was given 2 points, and each response as a #3 choice was given 1 point. The sums for each activity are calculated as total weighted scores (see Table 18). Results are being reported according to rank, starting with the most highly rated option: (1) Taking a specific course on adolescent attractionality/sexuality (200 pts.), (2) In-service training (197 pts.), (3) Reading professional literature on LGBTQ topics (123 pts.), (4) Consulting with LGBT persons who are living open (78 pts.), (5) Attending an LGBTQ resource center (63 pts.), and (6) Reading personal accounts of LGBT persons (53 pts.).

Table 18

Most Helpful Continuing Education Activities Regarding LGBTQ Issues

	#1	Choice	#2	Choice	#3	Choice	
Activity	n	Weighted score	n	Weighted score	n	Weighted score	Choice Total
Taking a course	49	(147)	19	(38)	15	(15)	200
Inservice training	43	(129)	29	(58)	10	(10)	197
Read LGBTQ literature	18	(54)	24	(48)	21	(21)	123
Consult open LGBT persons	12	(36)	13	(26)	16	(16)	78
LGBTQ center	10	(30)	9	(18)	15	(15)	63
Read personal LGBTQ accounts	8	(24)	4	(8)	21	(21)	53

These results indicate three top-ranked choices according to participants' responses with the top two being weighted almost identically. Scoring closely at the top were taking a specific course on adolescent sexuality/LGBTQ adolescents and attending an in-service training. The next most popular choice was reading professional literature on LGBTQ topics. Three activities comprised the bottom three choices: consulting with LGBT persons who are living open, attending an LGBTQ resource center, and reading personal accounts of LGBT persons. This information can provide guidance for future continuing education for school counselors in the area of attractional minority issues and LGBTQ students.

In summary, results suggest that school counselors *are* willing to engage in professional development within the next 12 months in order to broaden their understanding of LGBTQ student issues, with over 75% of school counselors indicating they were willing to attend a conference or workshop, read professional literature on LGBTQ topics, or attend an in-service training at school. The top two ranked professional development activities were taking a specific course on LGBTQ adolescent issues and attending an in-service training.

Additional School Counselors' Perspectives on LGBTQ Issues and Training

Research Question #4 – Training, assessed school counselors' overall beliefs regarding the effectiveness of their graduate counseling training programs relative to preparing them to work competently with attractional minority students. Results suggested that in general, the participants believed that their graduate counseling training programs *had not* prepared them to work effectively and competently with attractional

minority students and their concerns. The following questions assessed school counselors' perspectives regarding their role(s) with assisting LGBTQ students and their beliefs regarding the prevalence of attractional minority students at their schools.

Additional questions regarding school counselors' experiences in their graduate counseling training programs are discussed later.

School Counselor Role With LGBTQ Students

School counselor participants in this study were also asked about their attitudes regarding the role of the school counselor in helping with students with LGBTQ issues and concerns. Seven roles for school counselor were provided and participants were asked to check all of the roles that they believed were applicable. As shown in Table 19, results indicate that 96.7% (n = 116) believed that school counselors should assist students with finding support; 92.5% (n = 111) believed that school counselors should assist students with relationships with friends/peers, 87.5% (n = 105) of the participants believed that school counselors should assist students with relationships with family members, 43.3% (n = 52) believed that school counselors should assist students with exploring their sexual/attractional identity, 41.7% (n = 50) believed that school counselors should assist students with accepting an LGBT orientation, 1 participant believed that school counselors should assist students with changing their attractional/sexual orientation, and 3.3% (n = 4) believed that it is not the role of the school counselor to assist a student with LGBTQ concerns.

Table 19
School Counselors' Role With LGBTQ Students

Role	n	%
Assist with finding support	116	96.7
Assist with friends/peers relationship	111	92.5
Assist with family relationships	52	43.3
Assist with accepting LGBTQ orientation	50	41.7
Assist with changing LGBTQ orientation	1	0.8
Not the role to assist LGBTQ students	4	3.3

These results suggest that, overall, school counselors believed it was their role to provide support and assist LGBTQ students with relationships with family and friends. School counselors were less certain if it was their role to assist students with accepting an LGBT orientation, or to assist students with exploring their attractional/sexual identity, as only slightly over 40% thought these were roles of the school counselor. Only a very small percentage believed it is *not* the role of the school counselor to assist a student with LGBTQ concerns and an even smaller proportion believed that it is the role of the school counselor to assist students with changing their attractional/sexual orientation.

Estimates of LGBTQ Students in Their School

Estimates regarding the prevalence of attractional minority students in schools was assessed through the question: "What percent of adolescent students in your school

do you think are LGBTQ?" Three participants (2.5%) reported that there were *no LGBTQ* students in their schools, 49.2% (n = 58) reported 1-5%, 41.5% (n = 49) reported 6-10%, and 6.8% (n = 8) reported 11-19%. Thus, results indicate that most Michigan school counselors in this study (89.2%) thought there were between 1-10% of their students who are LGBTQ students.

Experiences With LGBTQ Issues in Graduate Counseling Programs

A major focus of this study was to assess school counselors' experiences with regards to LGBTQ issues during their graduate counseling training programs. Participants were asked several questions assessing whether: (a) there were open LGBTQ faculty in their graduate programs, (b) there were faculty with expertise regarding LGBTQ issues, (c) they were encouraged to explore possible biases and heteroattractionalism (heterosexism), (d) they had clinical training experiences serving LGBTQ clients/students, (e) they took a course solely devoted to LGBTQ concerns, (f) they were prepared by coursework to work with various types of LGBTQ students, and (g) LGBTQ concerns were infused into courses in their graduate counseling training program.

Open LGBT faculty members. Participants were asked if there were any faculty in their graduate counseling program who were openly lesbian, gay, biattractional/bisexual, or transgender. As shown in Table 20, 27.5% (n = 33) reported that there were openly LGBT faculty members in their graduate counseling programs, while 72.5% (n = 87) of the participants reported that there were no openly LGBT faculty members in their graduate counseling programs.

Table 20

Issues in Graduate Counseling Training

	7	Yes	No		C 1	
Experiences	n	%	n	%	Cumulative Percent	
Open LGBT faculty?	33	27.5	87	72.5	100.0	
Faculty expertise in LGBTQ issues?	38	31.7	82	68.3	100.0	
Encouraged to explore possible biases and heterosexism?	70	58.3	50	41.7	100.0	
Clinical training with open LGBTQ students?	31	25.8	89	74.2	100.0	

Faculty expertise in LGBTQ issues. Generally, graduate training programs consist of individual faculty members who have specific research interests and/or areas of expertise. Question 3 of the survey asked participants "Were there any faculty members in your graduate counseling program whose areas of expertise included lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or questioning issues?" As shown in Table 20, 68.3% (n = 82) reported that their graduate counseling training program did not have a faculty member whose area of expertise included LGBTQ issues and 31.7% (n = 38) of the participants reported that there was a faculty member whose area of expertise included LGBTQ issues. The results indicate that more than two thirds of the participants did not have a faculty member in their graduate counseling training program with acknowledged expertise in LGBTQ issues and concerns.

Exploring biases and heteroattractionalism. Participants were asked if they were encouraged to explore possible biases and heteroattractionalism with regard to lesbian, gay, biatrractional/bisexual, and transgender students during their graduate counseling programs. Of those who responded, 41.7% (n = 50) gave a *no* response to this question while 58.3% (n = 70) responded *yes*, suggesting that a slight majority of the participants believed they were encouraged to explore possible biases and heteroattractionalism with regard to LGBTQ students during their graduate counseling training programs (see Table 20).

Clinical training and LGBTQ clients/students. Clinical training (i.e., practicum or internship) prior to graduating from a graduate counseling training program assists counselors in developing skills considered necessary for competent practice. Participants were asked if there were opportunities during their clinical training to work with LGBTQ clients/students who were living openly. Table 20 shows that 89 participants (74.2%) indicated that they did not have opportunities to work with LGBTQ clients/students who are living open during their clinical training, while 31 participants (25.8%) reported that they did have opportunities to do so during their clinical training. The results suggest that nearly three-fourths of the school counselors in this study completed graduate counseling training programs without having a clinical training experience working with open LGBTQ clients (see Table 20).

Course Solely Devoted to LGBTQ Counseling Issues

Participants were asked if their graduate counseling training program offered a course solely devoted to counseling issues with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and

questioning students. Table 21 shows that 86.7% (n = 104) reported no, 4.2% (n = 5) reported yes, it was optional and I took the course, 4.2% (n = 5) reported yes, it was optional and I did not take the course. Thus, the data suggest that a significant majority of respondents in this study received graduate-level counseling training that did not include a course solely devoted to LGBTQ issues and concerns.

Table 21

Course Devoted to LGBTO Student Issues

Course Options	n	%
No (course was not offered)	104	86.6
Yes, it was optional and I took the course	5	4.2
Yes, I was required and I took the course	5	4.2
Yes, it was optional and I did not take the course	6	41.7
Total	120	0.8

LGBTQ Concerns Infused Into Courses

Participants were asked if LGBTQ concerns were infused into courses in their graduate counseling training programs. As indicated in Table 22, 39 (32.5%) of the participants selected I on a 7-point scale (Not at all True), 15.8% (n = 19) of the participants selected I on a 7-point scale, 12.5% (I = 15) selected I on a 7-point scale, 15.8% (I = 19) selected I on a 7-point scale (Somewhat True), 4.2% (I = 5) selected I on

a 7-point scale, 7.5% (n = 9) selected 6 on the a 7-point scale, and 11.7% (n = 14) selected 7 on a 7-point scale (Totally True).

Table 22

LGBTQ Concerns Infused Into Courses

	n	%
1 = Not at all True	39	32.5
2	19	15.8
3	15	12.5
4 = Somewhat True	19	15.8
5	5	4.2
6	9	7.5
7 = Totally True	14	11.7
Total	120	100.0

The mean score for this statement was 3.13 (SD = 2.085), which suggests that participants believed that LGBTQ issues were *less than somewhat* infused into courses in their graduate counseling training programs. One-way ANOVAs were run for each of the independent variables (age, gender, ethnic background, attractional/sexual orientation, years of school counseling experience, school level, and school locale) with LGBTQ Concerns Infused Into Courses as the dependent variable. Results indicated statistical nonsignificance for ethnic background (F = 0.583; p = 0.676), attractional/sexual orientation (F = 1.094; p = 0.363), school level (F = 0.586; p = 0.673), and school locale (F = 0.701; p = 0.498) (see Table 23). However, as shown in Table 22, statistical significance was indicated for the variables age (F = 6.393; p = 0.000), gender (F = 4.772; p = 0.031), years of school counseling experience (F = 5.422; p = 0.000), and the collapsed variable for years of school counseling experience (F = 5.946; p = 0.000).

Table 23

One-Way ANOVAs—LGBTQ Concerns Infused Into Courses

Variable	df	F-value	<i>p</i> -value
Age	4	6.393	0.000*
Gender	1	4.772	0.031*
Ethnic Background	4	0.583	0.676
Attractional/Sexual Orientation	4	1.094	0.363
Years of School Counseling Experience	7	5.422	0.000*
School Levels	4	0.586	0.673
School Locale	2	0.701	0.498
Ethnic Background (Collapsed)	1	1.097	0.297
Attractional/Sexual Orientation (Collapsed)	1	3.817	0.053
Years of School Counseling Experience (Collapsed)	6	5.946	0.000*

^{*}Statistically significant at the 0.05 level.

Regarding *age*, the Tukey post hoc procedure was performed to assess pairwise differences among the five age groups. Results indicated that the 30–39 age group (M = 4.19; SD = 1.970) differed significantly from the age groups 50–59 (M = 2.65; SD = 2.032), 40–49 (M = 2.80; SD = 1.893), and 60 and above (M = 1.62; SD = 1.387). The results of this post hoc analysis suggest that the 30–39 age group reported a higher level of infusion of LGBTQ concerns into coursework when compared to the 50–59, 40–49, and 60 and above age groups. In addition, the age group 20–29 (M = 4.60; SD = 1.817) differed significantly from the age group 60 and above (M = 1.62; SD = 1.387) suggesting

that the 20–29 age group reported a higher level of infusion of LGBTQ concerns into coursework when compared to the 60 and above age group.

Regarding *gender*, results indicated that the mean score of the female participants (M = 3.29; SD = 2.131) differed significantly from the mean score of the male participants (M = 2.12; SD = 1.453) suggesting that female participants reported a higher level of LGBTQ concerns infused into coursework than reported by male participants.

With regards to the variables years of school counseling experience (F = 5.422; p = 0.000) and years of school counseling experience collapsed (F = 5.946; p = 0.000), One-way ANOVAs indicated statistical significance for both variables. Post hoc procedures, however, could not be performed for the expanded variable years of school counseling experience due to the 25-29 years group containing only 1 participant. However, a post hoc was conducted for the collapsed variable years of school counseling experience (25-34 year range) applying a Tukey procedure and results indicated that there were statistically significant differences when making mean comparisons between the following years of experience groups: (a) 0-4 years of experience (M = 3.74; SD = 2.034) with 15–19 years of experience (M = 1.53; SD = .915) and 20–24 years of experience (M = 1.14; SD = .378), (b) 5–9 years of experience (M = 3.72; SD = 2.083) with 15–19 years of experience (M = 1.53; SD = .915) and 20–24 years of experience (M = 1.14;SD = .378), and (c) 10–14 years of experience (M = 3.84; SD = 2.267) with 15–19 years of experience (M = 1.53; SD = .915) and 20–24 years of experience (M = 1.14; SD = .915).378). These results suggest that school counselors having 0–14 years of school counseling experience reported higher levels of LGBTQ concerns infused into courses in their graduate counseling training programs than did participants having 15-24 years of

school counseling experience. Participants having 35–39 years of school counseling experience reported the least amount of infusion of LGBTQ concerns into courses in their graduate counseling training programs (M = 1.00; SD = .000).

Preparation by Coursework to Work With Types of LGBTO Students

Participants were asked, "To what extent do you believe that your coursework prepared you to work competently with (a) gay male, (b) lesbian, (c) bisexual, (d) transgender students, and (e) students who are questioning their sexual orientation?" Participants were asked to rate the quality of their preparation for each of these groups, indicating how well they felt prepared (1 = Not Very Well; 2 = Somewhat; 3 = Well). Table 24 provides a summary of the following narrative. Regarding gay male students (M = 1.73; SD = .683), 40.0% (n = 48) of the participants reported Not Very Well, 46.7% (n = 56) reported Somewhat, and 13.3% (n = 16) reported Well. With regards to lessian students (M = 1.72; SD = .676), 40.8% (n = 49) of the participants reported Not Very Well, 46.7% (n = 56) reported Somewhat, and 12.5% (n = 15) reported Well. Regarding biattractional/bisexual students (M = 1.63; SD = .673), 47.5% (n = 57) of the participants reported Not Very Well; 41.7% (n = 50) reported Somewhat; and 10.8% (n = 13) reported Well. With regards to transgender students (M = 1.46; SD = .607), 60.0% (n = 72) of the participants reported Not Very Well; 34.2% (n = 41) reported Somewhat; and 5.8% (n = 7)reported Well. With regards to students who are questioning their attractional/sexual orientation (M = 1.63; SD = .674), 48.3% (n = 58) reported Not Very Well; 40.8% (n = 58)49) reported somewhat; and 10.8% (n = 13) of the participants reported Well.

Table 24

Preparation by Coursework to Work With Types of LGBTQ Students

Student Type	Not Very Well		Somewhat		Well		Cumulative
	n	%	n	%	n	%	Percent
Gay male students	48	40.0	56	46.7	16	13.3	100.0
Lesbian students	49	40.8	56	46.7	15	12.5	100.0
Biattractional (bisexual) students	57	47.5	50	41.7	13	10.8	100.0
Transgender students	72	60.0	41	34.2	7	5.8	100.0
Questioning/ Curious students	58	48.3	49	40.8	13	10.8	100.0

The results suggest that, overall, the school counselors in this study believed that their graduate counseling training programs only *somewhat* prepared them to work with the different types of attractional minority students. The data also suggest that the school counselors in this study believed that they were better prepared to competently work with gay male and lesbian students than biattractional/bisexual and questioning/curious students and least prepared to competently work with transgender students.

In summary, this chapter has provided the (a) results of the demographic and professional information provided by the participants, (b) responses to the five research questions and how those responses impacted the research hypotheses, (c) professional development activities pertaining to LGBTQ students and their concerns that the participants in this study are willing to participate in within the next 12 months, (d) continuing education activities that the participants in this study would find most helpful

in assisting them to work with LGBTQ students, and (e) participants' experiences in their graduate counseling training programs. Key findings in each of these areas along with implications of these findings and comparisons with previous research will be further discussed in Chapter V.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to investigate Michigan professional school counselors' preparedness to meet the academic, career, and the personal/social needs of students who identify as lesbian, gay, biattractional, transgender, and students who are questioning their attractional orientation (LGBTQ; also referred to as attractional minority students). This study assessed Michigan school counselors' attitudes, skills/experiences, knowledge, training, and willingness to engage in professional development regarding issues related to attractional orientation and attractional minority students. This study also assessed which continuing education activities school counselors believed to be most helpful in assisting them to work with attractional minority students. In addition, this study addressed general issues related to school counselors' perception of their graduate school counseling preparation to work competently with LGBTQ students. This chapter discusses the results of the data analyses in the order that they were presented in Chapter IV: (a) demographic professional profile information, (b) the research questions, and (c) additional school counselor perspectives. In addition, this chapter presents limitations of the study, implications for future research, and recommendations for graduate counseling training programs and continuing education for school counselors.

Demographics and Professional Profile Information

Demographics and professional profile information were used to describe the sample population of this study. Demographic and profile information was not available from neither the Association of Michigan School Counselors (AMSC) nor the Michigan School Counselor Association (MSCA), from which this sample was drawn, to make any comparisons or assess generalizability of the results to the body of professional school counseling association members in Michigan. That said, the sample for this study seems to reflect the overall makeup of the school counselors in Michigan, in that the profile of the typical participant was female, Euro-American/White, heteroattractional, and with a school counseling endorsement to her teaching certificate.

Age

There were five age group classifications ranging from 20–29 through 60 years above. All age groups were represented in this study with the majority of school counselors reported being in the 50–59 and the 30–39 age groups, respectively. Seventy-eight (65%) of the participants in this study reported being between ages of 40 and 60 and above, which may suggest the possibility that many of the school counselors completed their graduate counseling training during times when issues of adolescent attractionality/ sexuality and same-gender attraction were considered taboo topics and less discussed than today.

A significant majority of respondents in this study were females (85.8%), with 14.2% males. This is consistent with the sample of American School Counselor Association (ASCA) members who participated in the Price and Telljohann study (1991). The sample of school counselors in the Price and Telljohann study was comprised of 61% females and 39% males. A female majority (75%) also comprised the sample in the Bidell (2005) study, from which the Sexual Orientation Counselor Competency Scale (SOCCS), used in this current study, was generated.

Ethnic Background

The sample respondents in the current study was largely represented by Euro-American/White participants (88.3%) and a total of 19 Non-Whites consisting of African American/Black, Asian American/Pacific Islander, Hispanic/Latino(a), and Native American/Alaska Native. Statistical significance for the variable *ethnic background* was found with only the Skills/Experiences subscale, only after the ethnic minority participants were collapsed into two categories: Whites and Non-Whites. The White participants in this study reported a higher level of skills/experiences regarding attractional minority issues when compared to Non-White participants. Non-White participants scoring lower on the Skills/Experiences subscale than Whites may be due in part to (a) the religious convictions of some Non-Whites that consider same-gender attraction to be a sin and worthy of denouncing and, as such, are hesitant to lend support to individuals who identify as LGBTQ; and (b) intracultural homoprejudice that often

takes a "hands off" approach when addressing issues of same-gender attractional orientation (Diamond, 1994; Dubé & Savin-Williams, 1999; Eliason & Schope, 2007; Snider, 1996; Weiler, 2003). The ethnic makeup of the Bidell (2005) study of students, counselor educators, and supervisors was more diverse than the current study. The ethnic/racial breakdown of the Bidell study was: White (61.2%), African American/Black (7.1%), Asian American (10.6%), Latino (13.1%,), Bi-racial/Mixed (2.2%), and Native American (1.3%). This should be taken into account when comparisons are made below between results from this current study and the Bidell study.

Attractional/Sexual Orientation

A significant majority (93.3%) of the research participants reported being heteroattractional with only 8 participants reporting being nonheteroattractional (4 lesbian, 2 gay male, 1 biattractional, and 1 participant who was questioning his or her attractional orientation). The Bidell (2005) study was comprised of a slightly more diverse group of participants. Of the participants in the Bidell study, 85.3% reported being heteroattractional, and 12.2% reported being lesbian, gay male, or biattractional.

Statistical significance for the variable attractional/sexual orientation was found with two subscales (Skills and Knowledge). This was true for the Knowledge subscale when all the options of this variable were entered into the analysis, and for the collapsed variable of Heteroattractional and Nonheteroattractional. Heteroattractional participants scored lower on knowledge of LGBTQ issues. As the result of one-way ANOVA procedures for the Skills subscale, only the collapsed variable for attractional/sexual orientation indicated statistical significance; the Nonheteroattractional participants

indicating a higher level of counseling skills and experiences regarding LGBTQ issues than the Heteroattractional participants. Such findings are understandable and expected considering that the Nonheteroattractional school counselors have a personal experiential base from which to draw knowledge and skills for counseling attractional minority students. In addition, Nonheteroattractional school counselors may feel a sense of shared experiences with attractional minority students and thus are more willing to take a hands-on approach relative to working with them than Heteroattractional school counselors.

Graduate Counseling Program

The majority of the research participants reported graduating from a CACREP accredited graduate counseling program that was 48 credit hours or more and was completed in Michigan. There are currently 11 universities/colleges in Michigan that offer graduate school counseling programs that are approved by the Michigan Department of Education (B. Harrison, personal communication, December 3, 2009). It is hoped that the findings of this study as discussed in this chapter may inform for the need for education of Michigan school counselors in the areas of adolescent attractionality/ sexuality and LGBTQ youth concerns in graduate counseling training programs.

Overview of the Study's Significant Findings

Descriptive Statistics

The overall mean score for the SOCCS in this study was 4.64 (SD = 0.83; range = 2.44 to 6.31), which indicates that the school counselor participants in this study report

being slightly above the midpoint on the 7-point Likert scale, indicating it is only *Somewhat True* that their graduate counseling programs adequately prepared them to work with LGBTQ students and their concerns. This overall mean score in the current study is remarkably identical to the overall mean score for the SOCCS in the Bidell (2005) study (M = 4.64; SD = 0.89; range = 2.52 to 6.90) in which the sexual orientation competency among graduate students, counselor educators, and supervisors (n = 312) from 13 public and 3 private universities was assessed. Thus, in two separate studies using the SOCCS, the present study assessing only school counselors, and the Bidell study including a combination of counseling graduate students, educators, and supervisors, the samples scored identically on the overall mean score. This suggests that Michigan school counselors are similar to counselors overall in their attitudes, skills, and knowledge of LGBTQ issues, and that participants in both studies report only a moderate level of competency in this area.

Attitude

The school counselor's attitude regarding same-gender attraction plays a major role in the adolescent's attractional identity development (T. G. Russell, 1989). Participants in the current study reported a positively strong and supportive attitude relative to issues of LGBTQ attractional orientation and attractional minority students, evidenced by the mean score of 6.22 on the 7-point scale (SD = 0.941; range = 2.7 to 7) for the Attitudes subscale for the entire sample. The Attitudes subscale scores from this study are quite similar to the Attitudes subscale scores in the Bidell (2005) study (M = 6.49; SD = 0.79; range = 3.1 to 7). Phillips and Fischer's (1998) study also indicated that

participants reported "quite positive attitudes overall, with 94% having total scores on the positive/accepting end of the response scale" (p. 719). None of the groups within the demographic or professional profile variables differed significantly on their scores for this subscale.

The positively strong and supportive attitude towards attractional minority orientation issues and LGBTQ students reported by the participants in this study is in stark contrast to the Sears (1991) study, which surveyed 142 middle and high school counselors and found that nearly two thirds of those surveyed held negative attitudes or feelings about homoattractionality. Also, the positive attitude reported by the participants of this study is also in contrast with the participants in the GLSTN (1994-1996) study, the findings of which indicated that two thirds of the school counselors in the study held negative feelings towards gay and lesbian people. Both the Sears and the GLSTN study occurred approximately 18 and 13 years ago, respectively, a time when the sentiment towards same-gender attractional issues was not as positive as it appears to be at this time. A more recent study better reflects the attitudinal findings of the current study. Monier's (2000) study of school counselors in Washington State found that the majority of them held "relatively" positive beliefs about attractional minority students.

Skills/Experiences

School counselors, whether aware or unaware, regularly come into contact with self-identified attractional minority students and those who are questioning their attractional orientation (Cooley, 1998). Research participants in this study reported having only a moderate level of counseling skills and experiences relative to attractional

minority students (mean score of 3.78, below the midpoint on the 7-point scale; SD = 1.51). Scores ranged from 1.00 to 6.72 (on a scale of 1–7). The scores reported in the current study indicate a moderate level of counseling skills and experiences, slightly higher than the Skills subscale scores in the Bidell (2005) study (M = 2.94; SD = 1.53; range = 1.0 to 6.9). This moderate level of skills and experiences is also reported in other studies.

The few previous studies (Fontaine, 1998; Monier, 2000; Price & Telljohann, 1991; Sears, 1988) that addressed this area of skills and experience primarily focused on *experiences* with LGBTQ youth. Little has been done to clearly identify the actual *skills* related to competent work with LGBTQ students. In fact, the questions that comprise the Skills subscale of the SOCCS used in this study really are a mix of skills and experiences. For example, one of the questions assigned to the Skills subscale reads, "I check up on LGBTQ counseling skills by monitoring my functioning/competency via consultation, supervisions, and continuing education," while another question assigned to the Skills subscale reads, "I have experience counseling lesbian students." The first question seeks to assess skills as it relates to competency, whereas the second question assesses actual clinical experience.

Regarding skills and experiences, it seems that many of the studies that have discussed school counselors and attractional minority students, reported about their clinical experiences with attractional minority students rather than actual techniques and methods that reflect skills competencies. For example, the results of the Price and Telljohann (1991) study indicated that 71% of the middle and high school counselors surveyed reported having counseled at least one attractional minority student during their

careers. Fontaine (1998) reported that of the 101 elementary, junior, and senior high school counselors surveyed in Pennsylvania, 51% of the junior and high school respondents reported working with at least one student who was questioning his or her attractional orientation, and 42% reported having worked directly with at least one selfidentified gay or lesbian student. Fontaine also reported that 21% of the elementary school counselors reported awareness of students in their schools who were either selfidentified as gay or lesbian or were questioning their attractional orientation. Monier (2000) assessed elementary, middle, high, and alternative high school counselors in Washington State regarding their experiences of counseling attractional minority students in a 2-year time period. Results from Monier's study indicated that 73.3% of the respondents reported having talked with at least one student about attractional orientation issues; 24.1% reported having counseled at least 1 or 2 self-identified attractional minority students; 17.3% reported having counseled 3 or more attractional minority students; and 38.9% and 14.6% reported having counseled 1 or 2 students and 3 or more students, respectively, who were questioning their attractional orientation. Therefore, the Skills subscale of the SOCCS seems to primarily assess the clinical experiences of school counselors relative to attractional minority students similar to the studies previously mentioned.

The moderate level of counseling skills/experiences reported by the participants in this study seems to reflect the previous literature that speaks to school counselors counseling attractional minority students. Future studies would do well to distinguish between skills and experiences, and this will be discussed further below regarding recommendations for further research.

There is an adage that states "knowledge is power." The mean score for the Knowledge subscale was 3.86 (below the midpoint on the 7-point scale) with scores ranging from 1.00 to 6.62. A mean Knowledge subscale score of 3.86 suggests that Michigan school counselors reported having only a moderate level of knowledge regarding attractional minority issues. The mean score for the Knowledge subscale in the Bidell (2005) study was 4.66 (SD = 1.05; range = 1.63 to 6.88) with scores ranging from 1.63 to 6.88. Considering that many of the respondents in the Bidell study were counselor educators and supervisors educated at the Ph.D. level and most school counselors, with some exceptions, are educated at the master's level, it seemed reasonable that the mean Knowledge subscale score of the Bidell study would be higher than that of the current study. In terms of independent variables in this current study, only the groups within attractional orientation differed significantly on scores on the Knowledge subscale but could not undergo post hoc analysis due to the bisexual and questioning groups having fewer than two participants.

When both the full range of options for attractional orientation and when this variable was collapsed (Heteroattractional and Nonheteroattractional),

Nonheteroattractional participants scored higher on the Knowledge subscale than the Heteroattractional participants, which was understandable and expected. Attractional minority participants have a history of discrimination and homoprejudice, and therefore it is fitting that this group should be more knowledgeable about themselves and those who share a similar history and orientation. In the Sears (1991) study, prospective teachers

were asked "if all or most of the school faculty were knowledgeable about homosexuality" (p. 49). The respondents in the Sears study reported the belief that twice as many teachers were knowledgeable about homosexuality compared to counseling staff. It would be interesting to learn how Michigan school counselors would be rated by middle and high school students as well as teachers regarding same-gender attraction and attractional minority student issues.

Overall Graduate Counseling Program Training

Training in gay and lesbian issues has proven to be effective in reducing heteroattractionalist attitudes in mental health practitioners and thereby increasing their skills to work effectively with gay and lesbian clients (Rudolph, 1989; Satcher & Leggett, 2007). Participants in this study were asked to rate the statement "I believe that my graduate counseling training program prepared me to work effectively and competently with LGBTQ students and their concerns." On a scale of 1 = Not True at All to 7 = Totally True, the mean score for the entire sample was 2.80 (SD = 1.813) indicating that the school counselors in this study believed that their graduate counseling training programs *did not* adequately train them to work with LGBTQ students. This belief of not being adequately trained mirrors other studies. Phillips and Fischer (1998) reported that "most participants reported feeling ill-prepared to counsel gay and lesbian clients, and even more felt poorly prepared to counsel bisexual clients" (p. 719). The school counselor participants in the Sears (1991) study reported not feeling prepared to work with attractional minority students due to the lack of training. The findings in the Phillips and Fischer study indicated that training in LGB issues was inadequate. The current study has

shown that nearly 20 years from the Sears study, school counselors are still reporting feelings of ill-preparedness due to inadequate training or a total lack of training.

The evidence was presented in Chapter II of this study that LGBTQ students are at-risk for many social ills including truancy, academic failure, dropping out of school, substance abuse, running away from home, sexual exploitation, and suicide, to name a few. School counselors, who are in a strategic position to be able to advocate for these students, should be competently assisting them. How can school counselors assist a population of students with their unique set of issues and concerns if they have not been trained to do so? To try to provide service outside of one's scope of practice or area(s) of expertise or training could do harm to the recipient of one's service and could rightfully border on unethical practice. The need for adequate and specific training regarding LGBTQ student issues and concerns will be further highlighted as we discuss professional development for school counselors. It should also be noted that participants in this study were not asked if they had completed continuing education in the area of attractional minority orientations after the completion of their graduate degree.

Professional Development

Participants in this study indicated that they would be willing to engage in professional development regarding issues pertaining to attractional minority students during the next 12 months. Professional development in terms of reading professional articles on LGBTQ issues received the highest *willingness to do* responses (80%), followed by attending in-service training at school (75%), and, third, attending conferences and workshops (65%). The top three ranked activities that participants in the

current study reported to be most helpful were (1) taking a specific course on adolescent attractionality/LGBTQ adolescence, (2) in-service training, and (c) reading professional LGBTQ literature.

The willingness to participate in professional development was also indicated in the Price and Telljohann (1991) study in which 89% of the respondents indicated interest in obtaining additional training in matters of counseling and attractional orientation. Price and Telljohann's study of 289 middle and high school counselors discovered that the majority of the respondents reported obtaining information about same-gender attraction from professional journals, mass media, gay/lesbian friendships, workshops and professional conferences and textbooks, with only 2% reporting obtaining information from in-service training. The results of the Satcher and Leggett (2007) study found the lowest measure of homonegativity among professional school counselors who had a gay or lesbian friend or personal acquaintance and/or had participated in training regarding gay and lesbian issues.

In Monier's (2000) study, in which training with regards to attractional orientation among the school counselors in the State of Washington was assessed, the two most common sources of information were (a) self-education through the reading of books and journal articles (72.1%), and (b) interacting and communicating with attractional minority friends or family members (66%). In addition, Monier also found that the participants in the study enhanced their competence to work with attractional minority issues by attending seminars/workshops, lectures or presentations in graduate classes, obtaining information from mass media, taking a formal class that was part of their graduate training, and/or attending a school in-service training.

An unfortunate commentary on the lack of training of school counselors in the area of same-gender attractional issues is stated in the Sears (1991) study when speaking of school counselors and attractional minority students: "Few [school counselors] felt prepared to work with this at-risk population. Despite their inadequate preparation . . . less than one fifth of these counselors indicated that they had participated in programs to expand their knowledge about homosexuality" (p. 71). This researcher's sentiment regarding the inadequate training and/or lack of training of school counselors as it pertains to LGBTQ students is expressed by Robert Earl Powell (1987), whose statement spoken over 20 years ago regarding homoattractional behavior and the school counselor yet remains true today:

Counselors, therefore need to try to overcome the results of a "benign neglect" in counselor education and teacher education programs: an inadequate preparation of professionals for this challenging task. They should be aware of the need for their own continuing education and for continuous involvement with the issues of adolescent homosexuality. (p. 207)

Additional School Counselors' Perspectives

Role of School Counselor

School counselor participants in this study were asked what they believed to be an appropriate role(s) for school counselors in helping with students with LGBTQ issues and concerns. Participants believed that school counselors should primarily assist LGBTQ students with finding support (96.7%), assist them with their relationships with friends/peers (92.5%), and assist students with their relationships with family members (87.5%). Fewer participants believed school counselors should assist students with

exploring their attractional/sexual identity or assist students with accepting an LGBTQ orientation. One participant believed that the role of the school counselor should be to assist the student with changing his or her attractional orientation, and 4 participants believed that it was not the role of the school counselor to assist a student with LGBTQ concerns. Therefore, the majority of the respondents see themselves in a supportive role, helping the student with their personal and relational concerns rather than assisting the student with the actual attractional orientation issues.

The supportive role that seems to be favored by school counselors in this study is corroborated by the Monier (2000) study, which found that the majority of the school counselors in the study were more likely to perform covert or private acts of assistance to LGBTQ students (e.g., individual counseling) and less willing to engage in overt gay affirming behaviors (e.g., advocate for attractional minority students in staff meetings). Only one participant in the current study expressed the willingness to provide "hands-on" assistance, but that assistance was in the form of assisting students with changing their attractional/sexual orientation (e.g., conversion therapy, reparative therapy). Studies have indicated the harm that conversion and reparative therapies can do to LGBTQ persons by the practitioner who is attempting to change a client's attractional orientation from homoattractional to heteroattractional (Blackwell, 2008; Shidlo & Schroeder, 2002).

According to the American School Counselor Association's (ASCA) Ethical Standards (2004) and The Michigan Comprehensive Guidance and Counseling Program (2005), the role of every professional school counselor is to assist students in discovering their authentic selves and help them develop strong positive social, ethnic, cultural, and attractional identities that will contribute to them becoming successful and productive

citizens in society (Pope, 2003). It is this researcher's belief that if school counselors are not assisting *all students* in discovering their authentic selves (which may be same-gender attracted), then they are not practicing in concert with the Ethical Standards of the school counseling profession.

Experiences With LGBTQ Issues in Graduate Counseling Programs

Participants in this study were asked to retrospectively reflect upon their graduate counseling training program experiences with regards to LGBTQ issues and concerns. Several dimensions were assessed, including (a) experiencing openly LGBTQ faculty members, (b) experiencing faculty whose expertise includes LGBTQ issues, (c) exploring biases and heteroattractionalism, (d) clinical training and LGBTQ client/students, (e) course solely devoted to LGBTQ issues and concerns, (f) LGBTQ concerns infused into courses, and (g) preparation by graduate counseling training program,. The following is a narrative of their experiences.

Openly LGBT faculty members. Nearly three fourths of the participants in this study (72.5%) reported that there were no openly LGBT faculty members in their graduate counseling programs. Phillips and Fischer (1998) reported that approximately one third of the student participants reported having at least one faculty member who was out as lesbian, gay, or bisexual. The ability of an attractional minority individual to live open speaks volumes about the climate of that setting. Studies assessing school counselors' perceptions regarding the prevalence of attractional minority students in their schools has indicated that some school counselors did not believe that their schools had any attractional minority students. Did those schools indeed have no attractional minority

students or could the school climate in those schools have been such that to live openly would have been met with hostility and danger? The same question begs to be asked regarding those graduate counseling training programs where participants reportedly had no openly gay faculty members. Were there indeed no gay faculty members in those graduate counseling training programs or could the climate in those departments have been nonaffirming to the degree that attractional minority faculty members chose to live in hiding rather than live openly?

Faculty expertise LGBTQ issues. Eighty-two participants (68.3%) reported that their graduate counseling training program did not have a faculty member whose area of expertise included LGBTQ issues. Phillips and Fischer (1998) found similar results, as approximately one third of their participants reported having at least one faculty member who had expertise in LGB issues, and about one quarter of the participants reported having worked with a practicum supervisor who had expertise in LGB issues.

Topics that society considers taboo are often avoided or quietly discussed. One of the reasons given for the lack of discussion among school administrators, faculty, and staff regarding issues pertaining to same-gender attraction is that many do not want to be identified with a topic that is stigmatized and taboo. Though the discussion on the topic of same-gender attractional orientation has increased as evidenced in the growth of the body of literature on this topic yet, the conversation on same-gender attraction is approached very cautiously, especially when the discussion involves school-aged children. It is this researcher's position that every phenomenon that affects the quality of life for individuals or groups of people must have a platform for discussion in higher education and those discussions are best facilitated by those who are well informed

through research, lived experiences, and/or personal experiences with those who have the lived experiences. It is the responsibility of academics to, at the most, encourage the pursuit of expertise in areas of research that are considered taboo and, at the least, confront any degree of stigmatization that would discourage faculty who are seeking expertise in an area that carries societal stigma.

Explore biases and heteroattractionalism. Over half of the participants in this study (58.3%) believed they were encouraged to explore possible biases and heteroattractionalism with regard to LGBTQ students during their graduate counseling training programs. The results of this study are similar to the Phillips and Fischer (1998) study which also reported that "about half of the participants reported being encouraged to explore their personal heterosexist biases in both their doctoral programs and in their practicum" (p. 719).

The responsibility of "higher" education is to challenge everything that one has been taught through "general" education. We are all a product of our ecological environments and who we are and how we think is the sum of our socialization that have been influenced through family, culture, schools, peers, religion/spirituality, communities, etc. Our general education is the result of all of the previously mentioned influences.

Once again, it is the responsibility of higher education to "shake the tree" of general education and that shaking of the tree should challenge those who come to higher education to explore biases, prejudices, and "isms" (e.g., sexism, racism, ageism, ableism, heteroattractionalism). It is this researcher's position that when higher education no longer challenges individuals to explore biases and prejudices, then higher education ceases to educate individuals but merely trains them. Training maintains the status quo,

but education brings revelation, revelation brings revolution, and revolution leads to evolution. Higher education should encourage a higher way of thinking and behaving.

Clinical training and LGBTQ clients/students. Nearly three fourths of the school counselors in this study completed graduate counseling training programs without having a clinical training experience working with open LGBTQ clients. Phillips and Fischer (1998) reported that training in LGB issues was less than adequate with a mode of zero.

After graduate counseling training programs encourage trainees to explore possible biases and heteroattractionalism, then experiential learning with LGBTQ persons is necessary and in order. Often, we fear who and what we do not understand; face-to-face communication with those who we do not understand assists in fostering understanding. School counselor education programs must be intentional with identifying sources that would be willing to supply LGBTQ clients/students for experiential learning.

Course solely devoted to LGBTQ issues and concerns. A significant majority of the participants in this study (86.7%) reported that there was not a course offered in their graduate program that was solely devoted to LGBTQ issues. Findings in the Phillips and Fischer's (1998) study were similar, indicating that 15% of the participants' programs "had available courses specifically focused on LGB issues . . ." (p. 719). When participants in this current study were asked to choose what they believed to be the top three activities they would find most helpful in working with LGBTQ students, the top choice was taking a specific course on adolescent attractionality/sexuality/LGBTQ adolescents. Thus, while school counselors report they would find a course in this area useful, few are available.

According to Phillips and Fischer (1998) (the study from which many of the questions assessing training in the current study were derived), an LGBTQ-specific course is preferred over a "generalist" (multicultural and diversity) course in graduate counseling training. Phillips and Fischer contends that an LGBTQ-specific course would encourage self-exploration—exploration of biases and prejudices that could lead to competent and sensitive practice as opposed to a generalist approach to attractional orientation that is generally grounded in a heteroattractional/heterosexist worldview. Therefore, LGBTQ-specific training is highly suggested.

LGBTQ concerns infused into courses. Participants in this study reported that LGBTQ issues were less than somewhat infused into courses. Results from the Phillips and Fischer (1998) study indicated that students reported gay and lesbian issues being integrated into some courses (median for each = 3 courses; mode for each = 2) and bisexual issues being integrated into fewer courses (mean = 1, mode = 0). The current study did not assess the number of courses in which LGBTQ issues were infused. Just as issues pertaining to ethnicity, multiculturalism, and diversity need to be infused throughout higher education curricula, LGBTQ issues need to be infused into graduate counseling education courses. Therefore, in addition to a course solely devoted to LGBTQ issues, issues and concerns related to LGBTQ students should be appropriately infused into courses.

Preparation by graduate training program. Given the graduate counseling training programs experiences as reported above by the majority of the participants, it is understandable why the participants in this study scored relatively low on the Skills/Experiences and the Knowledge subscales, and why participants believed that their

graduate counseling training programs inadequately trained them to meet the needs of attractional minority students. The lack of openly gay faculty members, lack of faculty whose area of expertise included LGBTQ issues, with only slightly over a half of the participants being encouraged to explore possible biases and heteroattractionalism, the lack of clinical training with LGBTQ clients/students, and the lack of a course solely devoted to LGBTQ issues and concerns are all possible reasons why the participants in this study reported only being somewhat prepared to work with attractional minority students. Positive changes in the above listed areas will most likely result in future school counselors who are better prepared to effectively and competently work with LGBTQ students and their concerns.

Limitations of the Study

Several limitations of this study are acknowledged. First, both professional school counseling associations agreed to an initial and a follow-up electronic distribution of the survey via e-mail. The Michigan School Counselor Association (MSCA) sent both an initial and a follow-up e-mail to its membership, whereas the Association of Michigan School Counselors (AMSC) sent only one e-mail notification of the study that was embedded with four other items of information. As a result, the majority of the online participants were members of MSCA and the online response rate for a combined AMSC and MSCA membership was relatively low (7.3%). Second, another limitation lies in the possibility of a sampling bias in that school counselors who were more supportive of sexual minority students might have been more inclined to complete their surveys compared to school counselors who were not supportive of sexual minority students

(Fontaine, 1998). It is possible that those who completed the survey may already be advocates or affirming of LGBTQ students. Those potential participants, who are possibly antigay or have strong religious convictions which condemn same-gender attractional orientation, may have simply refused to respond to the invitation to participate in the study. Therefore, this sample may be skewed. In addition, the school counselors who participated in the current study are members of professional school counseling associations in Michigan, making them a specialized group of all school counselors who are participating in the school counseling profession beyond their work settings. This reality can also contribute to the sample being skewed.

Another limitation of this study is that the data gathered in this study rely on self-report measures and participants may not always provide accurate information. When individuals self-report, it is possible that many will want to present themselves in the best possible light, in spite of being assured that the information on the survey is confidential and personal identification will not be shared with others. Fourth, another limitation of this study is the generalizability of the findings. Professional school counselors serving only in schools in the state of Michigan were surveyed; therefore, there is limited generalizability.

Fifth, demographic and professional profile information were not provided by the professional school counseling associations from which this sample was drawn, making it difficult to draw comparisons with the professional school counseling association membership at-large and to determine if the results can be generalized to all professional school counselors in Michigan who are association members. Therefore, it is recommended that if demographic information of association members is not currently

being collected, then perhaps it should be collected for research purposes. Further, perhaps the Michigan Department of Education could collect and make available demographic information for the purpose of research. Sixth, this study is being conducted in one state in the Midwest United States, which limits the generalizability of the findings to school counselors in other Midwest states as well as other geographic areas nationwide. Therefore, additional research in other geographic locations is recommended to determine if the findings of this study are representative of school counselors in other regions.

Finally, this survey asked participants to retrospectively reflect upon their graduate training programs to assess their training relative to LGBTQ issues. However, this study failed to assess possible continuing education activities (e.g., conferences, workshops, in-service training) since completion of their graduate counseling programs. In spite of the limitations, the results of this study are supported by the findings of other studies.

Recommendations for Future Research

This study sought participation from Michigan school counselors who were members of Michigan school counseling associations. Future research might seek the participation of *all* school counselors in the state of Michigan, irrespective of professional school counseling association membership, which could reduce sampling bias. In such instance, a paper-and-pencil procedure for data collection would be recommended in order to have a greater degree of control over the distribution of the survey. This study obtained only the perspective of school counselors regarding issues of attractional

orientation and attractional minority students. Future research might seek to obtain the perspectives of both LGBTQ students and heteroattractional students regarding their beliefs about school counselors' ability to meet the needs of attractional minority students. It might also be interesting to ascertain what teachers think about school counselors' competence to work with LGBTQ students.

School administrators have a major influence on setting the climate for a discussion or nondiscussion on issues related to attractionality and same-gender attraction. Future research could replicate this study with school administrators and school principals as the target populations to be surveyed. The norms and mores of a community and a culture greatly influence what is allowed to be taught and discussed in K-12 classrooms. Future research should therefore seek the perspectives of the parents of LGBTQ students with regards to the roles and competence of school counselors working with LGBTQ students and their concerns. Finally, participants in this study were not asked about their continuing education activities since completing their graduate counseling training programs with regards to same-gender attraction issues and attractional minority student concerns. Future research might focus on the continuing education activities of school counselors as those activities relate to increasing their levels of competency with regards to working with attractional minority students and their concerns.

The Sexual Orientation Counselor Competency Scale (SOCCS) (Bidell, 2005) has proven to be a valuable instrument used for the purpose of this study. However, this researcher found that the label given to the Skills subscale seems to warrant some discussion. The questions pertaining to the Skills subscale appear to be a group of

questions assessing: (a) training ("I have been to in-services, conference sessions, or workshops, which focused on LGBTQ student issues in school counseling");
(b) counseling experiences ("I have experience counseling gay male students," "lesbian students,"); and (c) skills ("I feel competent to assess in a school setting, the mental health/developmental needs of a student who is LGBTQ"). Therefore, it appears that the questions assigned to the Skills subscale encompass at least three different domains of (school) counseling practice: training, skills, and experience. Future measures or a modification of Bidell's SOCCS are encouraged to distinguish between skills and experience in particular, and to develop a core set of skills that are involved with clinical competency relative to working with LGBTQ students and their concerns.

The population targeted for this study was Michigan school counselors; therefore, the information gathered from this study is specific to the state of Michigan. Given that policies and standards about such issues are made at the state level, it is suggested that this study be replicated in other states to inform graduate school counseling programs and continuing education for school counselors in various geographic locations. Furthermore, it is recommended that this study be replicated on a national level, perhaps by surveying members of the American School Counselor Association (ASCA).

This study asked participants to retrospectively reflect upon the graduate counseling training experiences but did not seek information regarding continuing education activities *since* completing graduate education. Future studies in this area may wish to assess postgraduate continuing education activities for school counselors regarding LGBTQ issues and concerns. What continuing education activities school counselors have found to be most helpful would also be useful to explore.

As this researcher searched through the literature on counseling and school counseling of LGBTQ youth, it became apparent that a very small portion of the literature regarding LGBTQ students is actual quantitative or qualitative research. Much of the literature written on counseling and LGBTQ youth appears to be conceptual and based upon personal opinion, but not actual rigorous research. It is recommended that the body of literature regarding counseling and particularly school counseling and attractional minority students continue to develop with well-designed quantitative and qualitative research. A follow-up to this current quantitative study could be an investigation of the lived experiences of school counselors relative to counseling attractional minority students using a qualitative research design. An additional qualitative study could involve interviewing faculty advisors of Gay Straight Alliances (GSAs) with the purpose of gaining their perspectives on the school experiences of attractional minority students and what impact that GSAs might have on those experiences. Also, a qualitative study might investigate the lived experiences of attractional minority students who participate in GSAs vis-à-vis those attractional minority students who do not participate in GSAs.

Ethnic minority and attractional minority school counselors were underrepresented in the current study. Therefore, it is recommended that future research involve obtaining the perspectives of both ethnic and attractional minority school counselors relative to LGBTQ student issues and concerns. It is also recommended that future research involves an inquiry into the lived experiences of LGBTQ ethnic minority students relative to school counselors.

Implications for Graduate School Counselor Education

The participants in this study clearly indicated the top three continuing education activities that they consider the most helpful: (1) taking a specific course on adolescent attractionality/sexuality, (2) in-service training, and (3) reading professional literature on LGBTQ topics. Therefore, it is recommended that graduate (school) counselor education programs in Michigan develop and offer a course on adolescent attractionality and LGBTQ adolescent issues and concerns. This course could also be offered to teachers and school administrators-in-training, as well as those who are practicing in the field. This course could be offered as a required course, elective course, or a special topics course.

Based on the findings of this study that showed a lack of opportunity to work with LGBTQ clients in practica and internships, it is recommended that faculty and managers of university counseling training centers act intentionally and purposefully toward identifying, locating, and obtaining LGBTQ clients/students for practica and internship training experiences. This might also include assuring that university training clinics are LGBTQ-friendly and welcoming.

This study confirms what previous research has shown, that school counselors do not feel well prepared to work competently with LGBTQ students. School counselors particularly do not believe that their graduate school counseling programs have adequately prepared them. These findings have persisted for over two decades. Perhaps it is time for change at higher professional organizational levels to promote greater competence of school counselors to work effectively with this population. The American

School Counselor Association Ethical Standards (2004) and the Transforming School Counseling/Education Trust initiative will be considered next.

The second tenet of the American School Counseling Association (ASCA) Ethical Standards (2004) states in part that "special care be given to students who have historically not received adequate educational services: students of color, low socioeconomic students, students with disabilities and students with non-dominant language background" (Appendix L1). This second tenet, however, does not identify or mention attractional minority youth as students who, historically, have not received adequate services in spite of the fact that the literature presented in Chapter II of this study strongly suggests that attractional minority students have historically been and currently are grossly underserved (Harris Interactive & GLSEN, 2005; Marinoble, 1998; Reed, 1992; Savin-Williams, 1994; Savin-Williams & Cohen, 2007; Tharinger & Wells, 2000; Uribe, 1994). Therefore, it is highly recommended that attractional minority students be added to the list of students who have historically been underserved by the educational system, thus encouraging additional training of school personnel and interventions for attractional minority students.

The primary goal of The Education Trust is to bring attention to the achievement and opportunity gap between low socioeconomic students and students of color compared to other students in order to "improve the education of all students, and particularly those students whom the system has traditionally left behind" (p. 1). The National Center for Transforming School Counseling (NCTSC) was established by the Education Trust and the MetLife Foundation based on the premise that "school counselors are ideally positioned to serve as advocates for students and create opportunities for *all students*

[italics added] to reach these new high academic goals" (The Education Trust, 2003, p. 1). It should be noted that although research has identified poor, ethnic minority, and attractional minority students as being "underserved," yet attractional minority students are not mentioned by The Education Trust or the NCTSC as a target population for interventions. Therefore, it is recommended that the Education Trust and NCTSC or similar group include attractional minority students as a population to be targeted, so that indeed all students are being adequately served and to ensure that no student is left behind. Perhaps by bringing attention to the issues and concerns of attractional minority students on a national platform through national associations such as ASCA and The Education Trust, academic programs and local school districts and schools will follow the lead.

Finally, this study found that only slightly more than half of the participants in the study reported being encouraged to explore personal biases and heteroattractionalism. It is highly recommended that graduate school counseling programs be intentional with regards to encouraging, on a routine basis, self-exploration and self-awareness so as to discover and confront possible biases, prejudices, and heteroattractionalism.

Implications for Professional Development and Continuing Education

Regarding professional development and continuing education, the school counselor participants in this study have clearly indicated that they are willing to participate in professional development activities. Furthermore, they have indicated they are willing to read professional literature pertaining to LGBTQ issues, attend in-service training at school, and attend conferences and workshops addressing LGBTQ adolescent

concerns. Therefore, it is recommended that graduate school counseling programs provide school counselor trainees with literature that is accurate, informative, and affirming of LGBTQ students. Further, it is recommended that school counselor educators or experts in this area develop a 2-hour training module at the minimum that solely addresses LGBTQ students and their issues and concerns for the in-service training of school counselors.

The continuing education activity that was chosen by participants in this study as being most helpful in assisting them with working with LGBTQ students was *taking a specific course on adolescent sexuality/LGBTQ adolescents*. It is strongly recommended that a course be developed that specifically addresses LGBTQ adolescents' issues and concerns (e.g., attractional identity development, stigmatization, peer comparison, coming out). This course could be advertised and marketed to school counselors and through teacher education programs.

The continuing education activity that was chosen slightly below the first choice was *in-service training*. It is recommended that professionals who have expertise in the area of LGBTQ issues develop a training module that is specific to educational personnel and specifically addresses the concerns of LGBTQ adolescents in school settings. This training module should be marketed to school personnel, namely administrators, counselors, school psychologists, social workers, and bus drivers who transport students to school (to address bullying issues on school buses). This in-service training could also be marketed to juvenile facilities and other agencies that work with youth.

The third activity chosen as most helpful in assisting with working with LGBTQ students was reading professional LGBTQ literature. Literature regarding attractional

minority issues can be gathered from various sources that provide current and accurate information (e.g. GLSEN, PFLAG, LGBT Resource Center). This literature can be provided to school administrators, school counselors, and teachers in order to assist them with working with this student population. School counselor associations are also encouraged to inform their members about current thinking and new resources in this area. Accurate information is one of the keys to successful practice.

Conclusion

In conclusion, Telljohann and Price (1993) conducted a qualitative study examining adolescent homoattractionals' life experiences. They asked a final question to the homoattractional adolescents: "Is there anything else you would like to share with us concerning this issue?" One adolescent gay male stated, "I feel being gay is good, we need more programs dealing with gay youth, *teachers and counselors should be more educated on the topic* [italics added] . . ." (p. 50). Implementing the recommendations stated above and pursuing the research agenda offered here will assist graduate school counselor education programs to fulfill the request of the students who desired that teachers and counselors be more educated on and competent to work with issues pertaining to attractional minority students. This would enable them to become the most effective and competent teachers and school counselors to work with some of the most unique and promising students.

Appendix A

Western Michigan University Human Subjects Institutional Review Board Letters of Approval

WESTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY

Human Subjects Institutional Review Board

Date: February 24, 2009

To: Gary Bischof, Principal Investigator

Frederick Bland, Student Investigator for dissertation

From: Amy Naugle, Ph.D., Chair MWW MULL

Re: HSIRB Project Number: 09-02-31

This letter will serve as confirmation that your research project entitled "Assessing Michigan School Counselors' Preparedness to Meet the Needs of Sexual/Attractional Minority Students" has been approved under the exempt category of review by the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board. The conditions and duration of this approval are specified in the Policies of Western Michigan University. You may now begin to implement the research as described in the application.

Please note that you may **only** conduct this research exactly in the form it was approved. You must seek specific board approval for any changes in this project. You must also seek reapproval if the project extends beyond the termination date noted below. In addition if there are any unanticipated adverse reactions or unanticipated events associated with the conduct of this research, you should immediately suspend the project and contact the Chair of the HSIRB for consultation.

The Board wishes you success in the pursuit of your research goals.

Approval Termination: February 24, 2010

WESTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY

Human Subjects Institutional Review Board

Date: April 22, 2009

To: Gary Bischof, Principal Investigator

Frederick Bland, Student Investigator for dissertation

From: Amy Naugle, Ph.D., Chair Willy Nully

Re: HSIRB Project Number: 09-02-31

This letter will serve as confirmation that the change to your research project titled "Assessing Michigan School Counselors' Preparedness to Meet the Needs of Sexual/Attractional Minority Students" requested in your memo dated April 22, 2009 (recruitment strategy and paper survey added; consent document for anonymous paper survey; drawing for \$50 gas cards) has been approved by the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board.

The conditions and the duration of this approval are specified in the Policies of Western Michigan University.

Please note that you may only conduct this research exactly in the form it was approved. You must seek specific board approval for any changes in this project. You must also seek reapproval if the project extends beyond the termination date noted below. In addition if there are any unanticipated adverse reactions or unanticipated events associated with the conduct of this research, you should immediately suspend the project and contact the Chair of the HSIRB for consultation.

The Board wishes you success in the pursuit of your research goals.

Approval Termination: February

February 24, 2010

Walwood Hall, Kalamazoo, MI 49008-5456 PHONE: (269) 387-8293 FAX: (269) 387-8276

Appendix B

E-mail and Letter Granting Permission to Use Instruments

пиры и меринан, минен. осим и антелнити селитоваюте-или селеситиу-...

From "Markus Bidel!, Ph.D." <mbidell@hunter.cuny.edu>
Sent Thursday, August 7, 2008 7:31 am
To Frederick Bland <frederick.bland@wmich.edu>
Subject Re: Letter for Permission - Follow-Up

Fredrick

Just back from my summer research break - All researchers are granted permission to use my scale providing they follow ACA and APA research ethics - Also, I would appreciate a summary of your findings -

Good Luck and thanks for your interest in the SOCCS-

Best-

Markus Bidell

Markus P. Bidell, Ph.D., Associate Professor Hunter College of the City University of New York Educational Foundations & Counseling Department 695 Park Avenue, Will4 New York, N.Y. 10065

mbidel10hunter.cuny.edu 212-772-4714 - Office 212-772-4731 - Fax

---- Original message ----

Date: Mon, 04 Aug 2008 09:44:09 -0400
From: Frederick Bland frederick.bland@wmich.edu
Subject: Letter for Permission - Follow-Up
To: mbidell@hunter.cuny.edu

>Hello Dr. Bidell,

>I hope this greeting finds you well. This email and attachment are a follow-up to an email that I sent you on July 28, 2008 asking your permission to use your SOCCS from your Bidell (2005) study. A formal letter is attached.

>If you decide to grant me permission to use your SOCCS, then you can grant permission by replying to this email, or send written permission via fax (269.387.3903). Once again, I will be meeting with my doctoral committee within the next week and would like to receive an answer from you before that meeting.

>Thanking you in advance for your consideration and I hope to hear from you very soon.

>Frederick Bland, MA, NCC

> >-----

>On Accepting Responsibility: "If I blame you for my failures, then I'll have to praise you for my successes. Therefore, I will accept responsibility for both" - Frederick Bland

>______ >dLetterforPermissionBIDELL.doc (37k bytes)

07/28/08

14:55

U. OF AKRON/CTCC + 912693873903

NO.622

701



July 28, 2008

Frederick Bland Western Michigan University Kalamazoo, MI

Dear Mr. Bland,

As we discussed in our telephone conversation, I am pleased to give you permission to use the Survey of Training Experiences (STE) as one of five instruments in your dissertation research. Feel free to modify the STE as you deem necessary, of course making note of any such modifications in your document or any subsequent published articles. I look forward to hearing about the results of your study in the near future.

Best regards,

Siring in

Julia Ph. 20. Julia C. Phillips, Ph.D.

Associate Director - Training

Office of the Vice President for Student Affairs
Counseling, Testing and Career Center
Akron, OH 44325-4303
330-972-7082 • 330-972-5679 Fax

The University of Aluen is an Equal Education and Employment Institution

Appendix C

Text of E-mail for Recruitment of Participants

Text of E-mail for Recruitment of Participants

Dear AMSC Member,

You are invited to participate in a research study which involves assessing the attitudes, knowledge, and training of Michigan school counselors regarding the needs of students who identify as gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender, and those students who are questioning their sexual orientation. This study has been approved by the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board of Western Michigan University and AMSC has agreed to send this e-mail to inform you of this study.

Your participation in this study is voluntary. Should you decide to participate in this study, you will be asked to complete an anonymous electronic survey that will take approximately 10–15 minutes to complete. Those completing the survey will also have the option to enter a drawing for one of four \$50 gas cards.

A possible benefit of participating in this study is the knowledge that you are contributing to an area of research that can potentially assist all students in reaching their fullest potential as well as bringing attention and focus to an important area of school counselor training.

If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to contact either of the investigators below.

Thank you in advance for your assistance.

To view the consent form and complete the survey, please click on the link below:

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=2ehJyqacEi3UyqWiULEf 2bg 3d 3d

If you are not connected automatically, then you can copy-and-paste the link into the address box on your web browser and then press the enter key.

Frederick Bland, MA, NCC, BCPC Doctoral Candidate Counselor Education and Supervision, Western Michigan University frederick.bland@wmich.edu 269.387.7206

Gary H. Bischof, Ph.D.
Associate Professor
Dept. of Counselor Education and Counseling Psychology, WMU
gary.bischof@wmich.edu
269.387.5100

Text of E-mail for Recruitment of Participants

Dear MSCA Member,

You are invited to participate in a research study which involves assessing the attitudes, knowledge, and training of Michigan school counselors to meet the needs of students who identify as gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender, and those students who are questioning their sexual orientation. This study has been approved by the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board of Western Michigan University and MSCA has agreed to send this e-mail to inform you of this study.

Your participation in this study is voluntary. Should you decide to participate in this study, you will be asked to complete an anonymous electronic survey that will take approximately 10–15 minutes to complete. Those completing the survey will also have the option to enter a drawing for one of four \$50 gas cards.

A possible benefit of participating in this study is the knowledge that you are contributing to an area of research that can potentially assist all students in reaching their fullest potential as well as bringing attention and focus to an important area of school counselor training.

If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to contact either of the investigators below.

Thank you in advance for your assistance.

To view the consent form and complete the survey, please click on the link below:

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=2ehJvqacEi3UyqWjULEf 2bg 3d 3d

If you are not connected automatically, then you can copy-and-paste the link into the address box on your web browser and then press the enter key.

Frederick Bland, MA, NCC, BCPC Doctoral Candidate Counselor Education and Supervision, Western Michigan University frederick.bland@wmich.edu 269.387.7206

Gary H. Bischof, Ph.D.
Associate Professor
Dept. of Counselor Education and Counseling Psychology, WMU gary.bischof@wmich.edu
269.387.5100

Appendix D

Informed Consent

Assessing Michigan School Counselors' Preparedness to Meet the Needs of Sexual/Attractional Minority Students

Principal Investigator: Gary H. Bischof, Ph.D. Student Investigator: J. Frederick Bland, M.A., NCC Western Michigan University Dept of Counselor Education & Counseling Psychology

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY: Students who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and students who are questioning their sexual orientation (LGBTQ), could possibly be one of the most underserved groups among the student populations in school. You are being invited to participate in a study with the purpose of assessing Michigan school counselors' attitudes, knowledge, training, and overall preparedness to work with LGBTQ students.

DURATION OF THE STUDY: This consent document has been approved for use for one year by the Western Michigan University Human Subjects Institutional Review Board (HSIRB) on February 24, 2009. Do not participate in this study after February 24, 2010.

WHAT YOU WILL BE ASKED TO DO: You will be asked to complete a 55-question online survey that has been created for the ease of completion and should take approximately 10-15 minutes to complete. If you receive this survey multiple times as a result of being a member of more than one professional school counseling association, then PLEASE RESPOND ONLY ONCE TO THIS SURVEY.

RISKS AND BENEFITS: No physical or psychological harm is expected to come to you as a result of your participation in this study. It is possible however, that some participants might experience some mild discomfort as they respond to some of the questions. Anyone experiencing any significant discomfort is encouraged to contact the student or principal investigators who are both licensed mental health professionals. The student and principal investigators' contact information is provided below.

A possible benefit of participating in this study is the knowledge that you are contributing to an area of research that can potentially assist all students in reaching their fullest potential as well as bringing attention and focus to an area in school counseling training that may need to be highlighted. Participants will also have the opportunity to register for a drawing of one of four \$50.00 gas cards.

CONDITIONS OF PARTICIPATION: Your participation in this study is completely voluntary and you may refuse to participate and withdraw at any time, or refuse to answer any questions without prejudice, penalty, or any risk of loss. The Michigan School Counselor Association and the Association of Michigan School Counselors have agreed to have information about this study sent to its members. Participants will be asked for their consent to participate in this study.

CONFIDENTIALITY: The survey for this study will be distributed via an email blast by the administrators of the AMSC and the MSCA and no identifying information will be collected on the survey. All documents related to the study will be secured in a locked file at the office of the student or principal investigator. The electronic survey and data will be collected and stored on a password-protected web-based site (SurveyMonkey.com) for one year where no one will have access to the log-in or password except the student and principal investigators. After that time, the electronic survey data will be stored on a flash drive and secured in a locked cabinet of the student or principal investigator. Personal information gathered for the purpose of the gas cards drawing will not be associated with one's survey and will be stored in a locked cabinet in the student or principal investigator's office and shredded at the conclusion of the drawing.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS STUDY, PLEASE CONTACT:

J. Frederick Bland, M.A., NCC, Doctoral Candidate
 Department of Counselor Education and Counseling Psychology
 Western Michigan University
 3102 Sangren Hall, Kalamazoo, MI 49008

E-mail: frederick.bland@wmich.edu Phone: 269.387.7206 Cell: 517.879.9484

Gary H. Bischof, Ph.D., Associate Professor
 Department of Counselor Education and Counseling Psychology
 Western Michigan University
 3102 Sangren Hall, Kalamazoo, MI 49008

E-mail: gary.bischof@wmich.edu Phone: 269.387.5108

IF QUESTIONS OR PROBLEMS ARISE DURING THE COURSE OF THE STUDY, YOU MAY ALSO CONTACT THE:

 Chair, Human Subjects Institutional Review Board, Western Michigan University Phone: 269.387.8293

or the

 Vice President of Research, Western Michigan University Phone: 269.387.8298

Please click below if you wish to complete the survey.

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=2ehJvqacEi3UyqWjULEf_2bg_3d_3d

WESTERN MICHIGAN UNIVERSITY
H. S. I. R. B.
Approved for use for one year from this date:

FEB 2 4 2009

HAIRB Chair

Assessing Michigan School Counselors' Preparedness to Meet the Needs of Sexual/Attractional Minority Students

Principal Investigator: Gary H. Bischof, Ph.D. Student Investigator: J. Frederick Bland, M.A., NCC

Western Michigan University Dept of Counselor Education & Counseling Psychology

Anonymous Survey Informed Consent

You are invited to participate in a research study with the purpose of assessing Michigan school counselors' attitudes, knowledge, training, and overall preparedness to work with students who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and students who are questioning their sexual/attractional orientation (LGBTQ). This research is being conducted as part of the dissertation requirements for J. Frederick Bland. If you receive this survey multiple times (for example, you might receive an email about this study) as a result of being a member of one of the Michigan school counseling associations, then PLEASE RESPOND ONLY ONCE TO THIS SURVEY.

This survey is comprised of 55 questions and should take 10-15 minutes or less to complete. Your replies will be completely anonymous, so do not put your name anywhere on the form. You may choose to not answer any question and simply leave it blank. If you choose to not participate in this survey, you may either return the blank survey or you may discard it in the box provided. Completing the survey indicates your consent to participate in the study and to use the answers you supply. If you have any questions, you may contact Gary H. Bischof at 269.387.5100, J. Frederick Bland at 269.387.7206 or 517.879.9484, the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board (269-387-8293), or the vice president for research (269-387-8298).

This consent document has been approved for use for one year by the Human Subjects Institutional Review Board as indicated by the stamped date and signature of the board chair in the upper right corner. You should not participate in this study if the stamped date is more than one year old.

Appendix E

Online Survey

Informed Consent

Principal Investigator: Gary H. Bischof, Ph.D. Student Investigator: J. Frederick Bland, M.A., NCC

Western Michigan University Dept of Counselor Education & Counseling Psychology

PURPOSE: Students who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and students who are questioning their sexual orientation (LGBTQ), could possibly be one of the most underserved groups among the student populations in school. You are being invited to participate in a study with the purpose of assessing Michigan school counselors' attitudes, knowledge, training, and overall preparedness to work with LGBTQ students.

DURATION: This consent document has been approved for use for one year by the Western Michigan University Human Subjects Institutional Review Board (HSIRB). Do not participate in this study after February 24, 2010.

YOU WILL BE ASKED TO: Complete a 55-question online survey that should take 10-15 minutes to complete. If you receive this survey multiple times as a result of being a member of more than one professional school counseling association, then PLEASE RESPOND ONLY ONCE TO THIS SURVEY.

RISKS AND BENEFITS: No physical or psychological harm is expected to come to you as a result of your participation in this study. It is possible however, that some participants might experience some mild discomfort as they respond to some of the questions. Anyone experiencing any significant discomfort is encouraged to contact the student or principal investigators who are both licensed mental health professionals.

A possible benefit of participating in this study is the knowledge that you are contributing to an area of research that can potentially assist all students in reaching their fullest potential as well as bringing attention and focus to an area in school counseling training that may need to be highlighted. Participants will also have the opportunity to register for a drawing of one of four \$50.00 gas cards.

CONDITIONS OF PARTICIPATION: Your participation in this study is completely voluntary and you may refuse to participate and withdraw at any time, or refuse to answer any questions without prejudice, penalty, or any risk of loss. The Michigan School Counselor Association and the Association of Michigan School Counselors have agreed to have information about this study sent to its members.

CONFIDENTIALITY: No identifying information will be collected on the survey. All documents related to the study will be secured in a locked file at the office of the student or principal investigator. The electronic survey and data will be collected and stored on a password-protected web-based site (SurveyMonkey.com) for one year where only the student and principal investigators will have access to the log-in or password. After that time, the electronic survey data will be stored on a flash drive and secured in a locked cabinet of the student or principal investigator. Personal information gathered for the purpose of the gas cards drawing will not be associated with one's survey and will be stored in a locked cabinet in the student or principal investigator's office and shredded at the conclusion of the drawing.

DIRECT QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS STUDY TO:

 J. Frederick Bland, M.A., NCC, Doctoral Candidate Department of Counselor Education and Counseling Psychology Western Michigan University
 3102 Sangren Hall, Kalamazoo, MI 49008
 Email: frederick.bland@wmich.edu Phone: 269.387.7206 Celi: 517.879.9484

Gary H. Bischof, Ph.D., Associate Professor
Department of Counselor Education and Counseling Psychology
Western Michigan University

3102 Sangren Hall, Kalamazoo, MI 49008

Phone: 269.387.5108			
Email: gary.bischof@wmich.edu			
IF QUESTIONS OR PROBLEMS ARISE DURIN THE:	G THE COURSE OF THE STUDY, YOU MAY ALSO CONTACT		
Chair, Human Subjects Institutional Revie Phone: 269.387.8293 or the	w Board, Western Michigan University		
Vice President of Research, Western Michi Phone: 269.387.829	igan University		
Do you wish to participate in this survey?			
I wish to participate in this survey	I do not wish to participate in this survey		

tractional Orient	ation School	Counselor	Preparedr	ess Invento	ory
xit Page					
ou have decided not to parti age. Thank You.	cipate in this survey.	Please click "Exit	this survey" at the	top right corner of	this
•					
•		•			
	•				
	i				
				•	

Attractional Orientation School Counselor Preparedness Inventory
Graduate Training in LGBTQ Issues:
1. Did your graduate counseling training program offer a course solely devoted to counseling issues with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning students (LGBTQ)? ONo OYes, it was optional and I took the course
Yes, it was required and I took the course Yes, it was optional and I did not take the course
Yes, it was required and I did not take the course
2. To what extent do you believe that your coursework prepared you to work competently with gay male, lesbian, bisexual, transgender students and students who are questioning their sexual orientation? Not Very Well Somewhat Well Gay Male Lesbian O O Bisexual Transgender O O Questioning/Curious
3. Were there any faculty members in your graduate counseling program whose areas of expertise included lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or questioning issues?
Yes
○ No
4. Were any faculty members in your graduate counseling program openly lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender?
Yes
○ No
5. Were you encouraged to explore possible personal biases and heterosexism with regard to lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender students during your graduate counseling program?
O Yes ∴ No
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Attractional Orientation School Counselor	Preparedness Inventory
Did you have the opportunity to work with open graduate counseling program's clinical training (i.	
Yes	
○ No	
What is the role of a school counselor in helping orientation? (Please check all that apply)	a student with a LGBTQ
assist them in relationships with family members	
assist them in relationships with friends/peers	
assist them in finding support	
help change their sexual orientation to heterosexuality	
help them accept their LGBT orientation	
assist them with their sexual identity exploration	
It is not the role of the school counselor to assist a student with LGBTQ co	oncerns
	· .
	•
	•
	•
	•

Attraction	al Orienta	ation Scho	ool Counse	elor Prepa	redness l	nventory
Attitudes,	Knowledg	e, Experie	nce, and Tr	aining Reg	arding LGI	BTQ Issues:
Using the follow	ving scale, rate	the truth of eac	h item as it appli	es to you by che	ecking the appro	priate number.
1 Not At All Tru 2 3 4 Somewhat Tri 5 6 7 Totally True						
bi-sexual		gender stude				el lesbian, gay, ng their sexual
O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5	O 6	0,
9. The life	estyle of a L	.GBTQ stude:	nt is unnatur	al or immora	ıl.	
O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5	O 6	O 7
			ng skills by n I continuing e		y functionin	g/competency
O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 2	O 6	O7
11. I have	e experienc	e counseling	gay male st	udents.		
O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O٥	O 6	O,
	Q students (xual studen		s preferred" (forms of guid	dance couns	eling than
O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O s	O 6	0,
	•	y profession .GBTQ stude	al developme nts.	ent, I feel co	mpetent, ski	iled, and
O 1	O 2	O 3	0 4	O 5	O 6	O7
14. I have	e experience	e counseling	LGBTQ stude	ents regardi	ng romantic	relationships.
O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 2	O 6	07
15. I have	e experience	e counseling	lesbian stud	ents.		
O 1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5	O 6	O7

be diagn	osed with m	ental iliness	es than hete	rosexual stu	students are dents.	поге пкету
O i	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5	O 6	O 7
					,	

Attractional Orientation School Counselor Preparedness Inventory Attitudes, Knowledge, Experience, and Training Regarding LGBTQ Issues: Using the following scale, rate the truth of each item as it applies to you by checking the appropriate number. 1 Not At All True 4 Somewhat True 7 Totally True 17. It's obvious that a same sex relationship between two men or two women is not as strong or as committed as one between a man and a woman. () 6 O7 O_1 O^2 \bigcirc 3 O 4 18. I believe that being highly discreet about their sexual orientation is a trait that LGBTQ students should work toward. O 6 Oı O² \bigcirc 3 O 4 ○ 5 O7 19. I have been to in-services, conference sessions, or workshops which focused on LGBTQ student issues in school counseling. O_1 O² \bigcirc 3 \bigcirc 5 O 6 07 20. Heterosexist and prejudicial concepts have permeated the school counseling profession. O 6 O_1 O² \bigcirc 3 O 4 \bigcirc 5 O7 21. I feel competent to assess in a school counseling setting, the mental health/developmental needs of a student who is LGBTQ. \bigcirc 3 04 O 5 O 6 07 O_1 Ω^2 22. I believe that LGBT couples don't need special rights (domestic partner benefits, or the right to marry) because that would undermine normal and traditional family values. O1 \bigcirc 3 \bigcirc 4 O 5 O 6 O_7 23. There are different psychological/social issues impacting gay male students versus lesbian students. \bigcirc 3 O 4 O 5 O 6 O7 O^{1} Ω^2 24. It would be best if my clients/students viewed a heterosexual lifestyle as ideal.

 O_3

O²

O4

O 5

O٥

Attraction	al Orienta	ation Scho	ol Couns	elor Prepa	redness I	nventory	
25. I hav	e experienc	ed counselin	g bisexual (male or fema	ile) students	5.	
O 1	O 2	O 3	0,4	O 5	O 6	07	
			rriers that n	nay inhibit LO	3BTQ studen	ts from using	
SCHOOL CO	unseling ser	ovices.	O ₄	O 5	O 6	O7	
27. I am	aware that s	school couns	elors freque	ntly impose	their values	•	
1	upon LGBT	Q students.					
O 1	O 2	O 3	○ ⁴	O 5	O 6	07	
				·			
						·	
						•	

Attractional Orientation School Counselor Preparedness Inventory

Attitudes, Knowledge, Experience, and Training Regarding LGBTQ Issues Using the following scale, rate the truth of each Item as it applies to you by checking the appropriate number. 1 Not At All True 4 Somewhat True 5 7 Totally True 28. I think that my clients/students should accept some degree of conformity to traditional sexual values. O 5 O² \bigcirc 3 O 4 O 6 O7 O 1 29. Currently, I do not have the skills or training to do a case presentation or seek consultation if I had LGBTQ students on my caseload. O₁ $\bigcap 2$ () 4 ○ 5 O 6 O، 30. I believe that LGBTQ students will benefit most from counseling with a heterosexual school counselor who endorses conventional values and norms. O^2 O 3 O 5 O_1 O٥ O_7 31. Being born a heterosexual person in this society carries with it certain advantages. O 4 O 5 O 6 O_1 \bigcirc 2 \bigcirc 3 Ω^{7} 32. I believe that sexual orientation differences between counselor and student may serve as an initial barrier to effective counseling of LGBTQ students. O, O 1 O² O3 O4 O 5 33. I have done a counseling role-play as either student or counselor involving a LGBTQ issue. O 6 O 1 O 2 () 3 O4 O 5 34. Personally, I think homosexuality is a mental disorder or a sin and can be treated through counseling or spiritual help. O² O 4 \bigcirc 5 O 6 0, O3 35. I believe that all LGBTQ students must be discreet about their sexual orientation around other students.

O²

 \bigcirc 3

O4

O 5

O 6

O٦

Attra	ctional	Orientatio	on School	Counselo	r Prepare	dness Inv	entory
			mosexuality	, I agree with	h the staten	ent: "You sh	ould love
C		O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5	O 6	O 7
1	. LGBTQ o	concerns we	re infused in	to courses in	my graduat	e counseling	training
0	_	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5	O 6	O 7
				seling trainin			to work
ـ ا	-	_ `	_	BTQ students	_	_	
0	1	O 2	O 3	O 4	O 5	O 6	O7
,							
							*
,							
2							
					•		
				*			
							•
					•		

tractional Or <u>ier</u>	ntation School Coun	selor Preparednes	s Inventory
and the contract of the second	lopment During The N	Tally the Committee of the Committee and the Additional Committee of	
development rega	willing to participate in th Irding issues pertaining to Check one answer for eac	LGBTQ students during	-
Attend conferences and workshops Read professional articles Attend in-service training at school	Ves C O C	Possibly O	Unsure O O
40. Please indicate	e the top three activities b	y rank that you would f	ind most helpful i
assisting you in we	orking with LGBTQ studer	its?	
In-service training			
Reading professional []			
Attending an LGBTQ resource center			
Consulting with LGBT persons who are living open			
Taking a specific course on adolescent sexuality/LGBTQ adolescents			
Reading personal accounts of LGBT persons			
41. What percent	of students in your schoo	l do you think are LGBT	Q?
O none (0%)		•	
O 1% - 5%			•
O 6% - 10%			
11% - 19%			
20% and above			
O 2-11 - 111 - 111			
,			*
		9	
		,	

Attractional	Orientati	on Schoo	l Counsel	or Prepa	arednes	s Inventory
Demographi	cs ::		1.43		14.	strate and the second
42. Age:						
20-29	O 30-3	19 (40-49	O 50-	59	60 and above
43. Gender	:					
○ Male) Female	От	ransgender	0	Intersex
44. Ethnic l	Background:					
African American/Black	Asian American/Pacific Islander	Euro American/White	Hispanic/La	tino/a O M Easter	\sim	ltiracial Native American/Alaska Native
45. Sexual	Orientation:					
Gay Male	Clesbian	O Heter	rosexual OB	isexual	○ Transgend	der Questioning
46a. Your G	iraduate Cou	ınseling Pro	gram:			
○ was CACREP	Accredited					
was not CAC	REP Accredited					:
O don't know i	CACREP Accredited	1				
46b.Your G	raduate Cou	nseling Prog	jram's Requ	ired Credi	it Hours:	
were less tha	an 48 credit hours					
were 48 cred	lit hours or more					
46c. Your G	raduate Cou	nseling Pro	gram Was C	ompleted:	1	
on Michigan						
Out-of-state						
47. School (Counselor Cr	edential:				
Endorsement certificate	t to my teaching	O School	ol Counseling Licen	se(SCL)	O None	
48. Professi apply):	ional School	Counseling A	Association	Membersh	ip (Please	check all that
	of Mich School	MSCA	(Mich School Coul	nselor Assoc)	ASCA (Am	erican School Counseior
49. Years of	f School Cou	nseling Expe	erience (plea	ase indica	te):	
0-4	5-9) 10	0-14 0 15-19	20-24	25-29	30-34	35-39

50. Years of Co	Junsenny	Experience outside of	SCHOOL SCEEL	ng.	
0-4 0 5-	9 🔾 10	-14 15-19 20-24	25-29	30-34	35-39 O Ab
51. Type of Sc	hool:				
O Public		O Private		Religious/Faitl	1 Affiliated
52. Current Sc	hool Levei	(s) Where You Serve	as a School C	counselor (Please chec
all that apply):		(2)		(
Elementary School	ol .				
Middle School/Jur	nior High				
High School		•			
Alternative High S	ichool				
None		•			
53. School Loca					
^	ale:	_	_		
	School:	Suburban Suburban A capacity of the control of th	ght Alliance () Small Town or GSA)?	Rural
54. County of S	School:		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your s Yes No	School:		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your : Yes No Do Not Know	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your s Yes No	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your : Yes No Do Not Know	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your : Yes No Do Not Know	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your : Yes No Do Not Know	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your : Yes No Do Not Know	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your : Yes No Do Not Know	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your s Yes No Do Not Know	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural
54. County of S 55. Does your : Yes No Do Not Know	school: school hav		ght Alliance (Rural

Attractional O	rientation School Counselor Preparedness Inventory
Thank You	
Thank you for complet	ing this survey.
If you wish to be enter address below. IDENTI RESPONSES.	red into the drawing for one of four \$50 gas cards, then please enter your name and email FYING INFORMATION FOR THE DRAWING WILL NOT BE ASSOCIATED WITH YOUR SURVEY
Contact inform	nation:
Name	
Email address	
	•
	•
	•
}	
	•

Appendix F

Paper-and-Pencil Survey

ATTRACTIONAL/SEXUAL ORIENTATION SCHOOL COUNSELOR PREPAREDNESS INVENTORY

Graduate Training in GLBTQ Issues:

1.	Did your graduate counseling training program offer a course solely devoted to counseling issues with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning students (LGBTQ)?							
	Yes, it wa Yes, it wa	s optional and I took s required and I took s optional and I did n s required and I did n	the course ot take the course					
2.		male, lesbian, bisexu	oursework prepared you nal, transgender student on?					
	Gay Male	<u>Lesbian</u>	<u>Bisexual</u>	Transgender				
	Not very wellSomewhatWell	Not very wellSomewhatWell	Not very wellSomewhatWell	Not very wellSomewhatWell				
	Ouestioning/Curious Not very well Somewhat Well							
3.	•		raduate counseling prog l, transgender, or questi					
	Yes	No						
4.	Were any faculty mer gay, bisexual, or trans		e counseling program o	ppenly lesbian,				
	Yes	No						
5.			personal biases and hete ender students during y					
	Yes	No		(OVER)				

6.		te counselin			nly LGBTQ cli ining (i.e., prac		in
		Yes _	No				
7.	What is the orientation? (Please check			r in helpin	g a student wit	h a LGBTQ	
Using	des, Knowle	assist them in assist them in the period change help them as assist them in the interpretation in the interpre	in relationship in finding sup their sexual occept their LC with their sex role of the sch neerns.	os with fricaport orientation GBT orient ual identituool couns raining Re	to heterosexua	student with TQ Issues:	the
	all True	•	Some	what Tru	e	Totally	<u>y True</u>
1	2	3		4	5	6	7
8.		nd transgend			apervision to costs who are ques		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9.	The lifestyle	e of a LGBT	Q student is ı	ınnatural o	or immoral.		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10.	-	•	ounseling ski	•			
		competency	via consultai	non, super	vision, and cor	itinuing educa	ation.
	1	2	3	tion, super	vision, and cor	itinuing educa	ation. 7

Using the following scale, rate the truth of each item as it applies to you by circling the appropriate number.

Not at all True			Somewhat True			Total	Totally True	
1	2		3	4	5	6	7	
	l 1. I have exp	erience co	unseling gay 1	male students.				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	-	tudents rec ual student	-	ferred" forms	of guidance co	ounseling than	1	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
			orofessional de LGBTQ stude		feel competen	t, skilled, and		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
-	14. I have exp	erience co	unseling LGB	TQ students r	egarding roma	ntic relations	hips.	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	15. I have exp	perience co	unseling lesbi	an students.				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
				s that LGBTQ an heterosexu	students are all students.	more likely to	be	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
				onship between ween a man ar	n two men or tod a woman.	wo women is	not as	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	

(OVER)

(NEXT PAGE)

Using the following scale, rate the truth of each item as it applies to you by circling the appropriate number.

No	t at all	<u> rue</u>	So	omewhat True	e	Totally	<u>y True</u>
1		2	3	4	5	6	7
		lieve that being BTQ students s			exual orientat	ion is a trait th	at
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		ve been to in-so BTQ student is:			or workshops	, which focuse	d on
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		erosexist and p fession.	rejudicial conc	epts have pern	neated the sch	ool counseling	Ş
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		el competent to lth/developmen			.	nental	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		lieve that LGB he right to marnes.					
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		re are different vian students.	psychological	social issues i	mpacting gay	male students	versus
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	24. It w	ould be best if	my clients/stud	lents viewed a	heterosexual	lifestyle as ide	al.
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Using the following scale, rate the truth of each item as it applies to you by circling the appropriate number.

Not at all True			Somewhat True				Totally True	
1		2	:	3	4	5	6	7
	25.	. I have exp	erienced co	unseling bis	sexual (male o	r female) stud	ents.	
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	26.		e of institutionseling serv		s that may inh	nibit LGBTQ s	tudents from u	ısing
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	27.		e that school		s frequently in	npose their val	ues concerning	g
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	28.		t my clients/ sexual valu		ould accept so	ome degree of	conformity to	
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	29.	•			or training to lents on my ca	-	sentation or sec	ek
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	30.					st from counse nventional va	ling with a lues and norms	S .
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	31.	Being born	n a heterose	xual person	in this society	carries with i	t certain advar	ıtages.
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
							(0	OVER)

Using the following scale, rate the truth of each item as it applies to you by circling the appropriate number.

Not	at all Tru	e	S	omewhat Tru	<u>e</u>	Totall	<u>y True</u>
1	;	2	3	4	5	6	7
				erences betwee ounseling of L		•	serve
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	33. I have o		eling role-pla	y as either stud	dent or counse	lor involving a	a
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		ally, I think h		y is a mental di elp.	isorder or a sir	and can be tr	eated
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		e that all LG other student		s must be disc	reet about thei	r sexual orient	ation
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
		t comes to ho but hate or co		, I agree with t n".	he statement:	"You should le	ove the
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	37. LGBT(Q concerns w	ere infused in	nto courses in	my graduate co	ounseling train	ning
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
				eling training p LGBTQ stude			ζ
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Professional Development During the Next 12 Months

39. Would you be willing to participate in the			
development regarding issues pertaining	to LGBTQ stu	dents during	the next 12
months? (Please check one answer for ea	ch activity):		
Attend conferences and workshops?	Yes	No Poss	siblyUnsure
Read professional articles?	Yes	_NoPos	siblyUnsure
Attend in-service training at school?	Yes	NoPos	siblyUnsure
40. Please indicate the top three activities by assisting you in working with LGBTQ stransfer In-service training Reading professional literature Attending an LGBTQ resource Consulting with LGBT person Taking a specific course on ad Reading personal accounts of 1 41. What percent of adolescent students in your None (0%) None (0%) 1% - 5% 6% - 10% 11% - 19% 20% and above	e on LGBTQ to e center s who are livir olescent sexua LGBT persons	opics ng open ality/LGBTQ	adolescents
DEMOGRAPHICS			
42. Age: 20-29 30-39	40-49	50-59	60 and above
43. Gender: Male Female	Tra	nsgender	Intersex
44. Ethnic Background:African Americ	can./Black	_Asian Ameri	can/Pacific Islander
Euro American/White Hispanic	/Latino/a	Middle Easte	ernMultiracial
Native American/Alaska Native			
45. Sexual Orientation:Gay Male Transgender			Bisexual
46a. Your Graduate Counseling Program:			
was CACREP Accredited			
was not CACREP Accredited			
don't know if CACREP Accredited			
			(OVER)

46b. Y	Your Graduate Counseling Program's Required Credit Hours:
	were less than 48 credit hours
_	were 48 credit hours or more
46c. Y	our Graduate Counseling Program Was Completed:
_	in Michigan? out-of-state?
47. Sc	hool Counselor Credential:
	Endorsement to my teaching certificate School Counseling License (SCL) None
th	rofessional School Counseling Association Membership (Please check all at apply): AMSC (Assoc. of Mich. School Counselors) MSCA (Mich. School Counselor Association ASCA (American School Counseling Assoc.) ears of School Counseling Experience (please indicate):
	0-45-910-1415-1920-2425-2930-3435-39Above 4
	ears of Counseling Experience Outside of School Setting:
'	0-45-910-1415-1920-2425-2930-3435-39Above
51. T	ype of School:PublicPrivateReligious/Faith Affiliated
	urrent School Level(s) Where You Serve as a School Counselor (Please heck all that apply):
	Elementary SchoolMiddle School/Junior HighNoneNone
53. Sc	chool Locale:UrbanSuburbanSmall Town or Rural
54. C	ounty of School:
55. D	oes your school have an active Gay-Straight Alliance (GSA)? YesNoDo Not KnowUnsure of what a GSA is
	(NEXT PAGE)

Thank you for completing this survey.

If you wish to be entered into the drawing for one of four \$50.00 gas cards, then please enter your name and e-mail address below. IDENTIFYING INFORMATION FOR THE DRAWING WILL IMMEDIATELY BE SEPARATED FROM THE SURVEY AND WILL NOT BE ASSOCIATED WITH YOUR SURVEY RESPONSES.

Contact information (Please print):		
Name:	 	
E-mail Address:		

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Allen, K. R. (1995). Opening the classroom closet: Sexual orientation and self-disclosure. *Family Relations*, 44, 136-141.
- American Counseling Association. (2003). *Advocacy competencies*. Retrieved May 9, 2008, from http://www.counseling.org/Counselors/
- American Friends Service Committee Gay/Lesbian Youth Program. (1991). Anti-bias training on gay/lesbian/bisexual youth. Seattle, WA: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American School Counseling Association. (2004). *Ethical standards for school counselors*. Retrieved from http://www.schoolcounselor.org/files/ethical%20standards.dpf
- Anderson, A. L. (1998). Strengths of gay male youth: An untold story. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 15, 55-71.
- Anthanases, S. Z., & Larrabee, T. G. (2003). Toward a consistent stance in teaching for equity: Learning to advocate for lesbian- and gay-identified youth. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 19, 237-261.
- Armstrong, E. A., & Crage, S. M. (2006). Movements and memory: The making of the Stonewall myth. *American Sociological Review*, 71, 724-751.
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., & Razavieh, A. (1996). *Introduction to research in education* (5th ed.). Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace College.
- Asner-Self, K. K. (2009). Research on groups: Writing your quantitative study so that JSGW will publish it; researchers, academics, and practitioners will use it; everyone will benefit; and good quality groups will proliferate. *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work, 34*, 195-201.
- Austin Texas Human Rights Commission. (1995). Retrieved from http://www.ci.austin.tx.us/hrights/discrimination.htm
- Baer, J. W. (1992). *The Pledge of Allegiance: A short history*. Retrieved May 13, 2008, from http://history.vineyard.net/pledge.htm

- Bailey, N. J., & Phariss, T. (1996). Breaking through the wall of silence: Gay, lesbian, and bisexual issues for middle level educators. *Middle School Journal*, 27, 38-46.
- Barret, B. (1998). Gay and lesbian activism: A frontier in social advocacy. In C. C. Lee & G. R. Walz (Eds.), *Social action: A mandate for counselors* (pp. 83-98). Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.
- Bart, M. (1998). Creating a safer school for gay students. Counseling Today, 26, 36, 39.
- Bidell, M. P. (2005). The Sexual Orientation Counselor Competency Scale: Assessing attitudes skills and knowledge of counselors working with lesbian, gay, and bisexual clients. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 44, 267-279.
- Blackwell, C. W. (2008). Nursing implications in the application of conversion therapies on gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender clients. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 29, 651-655.
- Blake, R., Ledsky, S. M., Lehman, T., Goodenow, C., Sawyer, R., & Hack, T. (2001). Preventing sexual risk behaviors among gay, lesbian, and bisexual adolescents: The benefits of gay-sensitive HIV instruction in schools. *American Journal of Public Health*, 6, 940-946.
- Blumenfield, W. J. (Ed.). (1992). *Homophobia: How we all pay the price*. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Caitlin, R., & Futterman, D. (1998). Lesbian and gay youth: Care and counseling, New York: Columbia University Press.
- Campbell, C. A., & Dahir, C. A. (1997). The national standards for school counseling programs. Alexandria, VA: American School Counselor Association.
- Carnegie Council on Adolescent Development. (1995). Great transitions: Preparing adolescents for a new century. New York: Carnegie Corporation.
- Cass, V. C. (1979). Homosexual identity formation: A theoretical model. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 4, 219-235.
- Cass, V. C. (1984). Homosexual identity formation: Testing a theoretical model. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 20, 143-167.
- Cato, J., & Canetto, S. S. (2003). Young adults reactions to gay and lesbian peers who became suicidal following "coming out" to their parents. Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 33, 201-210.

- Center for Educational Performance and Information. (n.d.). *Public student count* (*Headcount data*). Retrieved January 30, 2008, from http://www.michigan.gov/cepi/o,1607,7-113-21423 30451 30460---,00.html
- Charles, D. (2000, July 18). Victims of gay bullying drop out of school. *London Times*, p. 1.
- Chesir-Teran, D., & Hughes, D. (2009). Heterosexism in high school and victimization among lesbian, gay, bisexual and questioning students. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 38, 963-975.
- Chung, Y. B., & Katayama, M. (1998). Ethnic and sexual identity development of Asian-American lesbian and gay adolescents. *Professional School Counseling*, 1, 21-25.
- Claus, R. N., & Quimper, B. E. (1995, May). *Dropout study 1993-94. Evaluation report.*Saginaw, MI: Saginaw Public Schools, Michigan Department of Evaluation Services.
- CNN Prime News aired October 16, 2007. Middle School and Birth Control.
- Coleman, E. (1982). Developmental stages of the coming out process. In W. Paul, J. D. Weinrich, J. C. Gonsiorek, & M. E. Hotvedt (Eds.), *Homosexuality: Social psychological, and biological issues* (pp. 149-158). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.
- Committee on Adolescence. (1993). Homosexuality and adolescence. *Pediatrics*, 92, 631-634.
- Cooley, J. J. (1998). Gay and lesbian adolescents: Presenting problems and the counselor's role. *Professional School Counseling*, 1, 30-34.
- The cost of harassment: A fact sheet for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender high school students. (n.d.). New York: American Civil Liberties Union Foundation.
- Cox, S., & Gallois, C. (1996). Gay and lesbian identity development: A social identity perspective. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 30, 1-30.
- Dahle v. Titusville Area School District, 159 F. Supp. 2d 857 (W.D. Pa., 2001).
- D'Augelli, A. (1998). Developmental implications of victimization of lesbian, gay, and bisexual youths. In G. Herek (Ed.), *Psychological perspectives on lesbian and gay issues. Vol. 4: Stigma and sexual orientation: Understanding prejudice against lesbians, gay men and bisexuals* (pp. 187-210). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- D'Augelli, A. R. (2006). Developmental and contextual factors and mental health among lesbian, gay, and bisexual youths. In A. M. Omoto & H. S. Kurtzman (Eds.), Sexual orientation and mental health: Examining identity and development in lesbian, gay, and bisexual people (pp. 37-53). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- D'Augelli, A. R., & Grossman, A. H. (2001, August). Sexual orientation victimization of lesbian, gay, and bisexual youths. Paper presented at the American Psychological Association, San Francisco.
- D'Augelli, A. R., & Hershberger, S. L. (1993). Lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth in community settings: Personal challenges and mental health problems. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 21, 421-448.
- D'Augelli, A. R., Pilkington, N. W., & Hershberger, S. L. (2002). Incidence and mental health impact of sexual orientation victimization of lesbian, gay, and bisexual youths in high school. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 17, 148-167.
- Davis, K. M., Williamson, L. L., & Lambie, G. W. (2005). Sexual minority adolescents: Professional school counselors' ethical responsibilities. *Journal of LGBT Issues in Counseling*, 1, 127-140.
- Degges-White, S., Rice, B., & Myers, J. E. (2000). Revisiting Cass' theory of sexual identity formation: A study of lesbian development. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 22, 318-333.
- Deisher, R. W. (1989). Adolescent homosexuality: Preface. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 17, xiii-xv.
- Denizet-Lewis, B. (2009, September 27). The school issue: Junior high. Coming out in middle school. *The New York Times*. Retrieved October 26, 2009, from http://www.nytimes.com/2009/09/27/magazine/27out-t.html? r=2&pa...
- Devor, A. H. (2004). Witnessing and mirroring: A fourteen stage model of transsexual identity formation. *Journal of Gay and Lesbian Psychiatry*, 8, 41-67.
- Devor, H. (2002). Who are "we"? Where sexual orientation meets gender identity. Journal of Gay and Lesbian Psychiatry, 6, 5-21.
- Diamond, M., & Diamond, G. H. (1986). Adolescent sexuality: Biosocial aspects and intervention strategies. *Journal of Social Work and Human Sexuality*, 5, 3-13.
- Diamond, S. (1994). Change in strategy. The Humanist, 54, 34-36.
- Digest of Education Statistics. (1995). Retrieved from fromhttp://nces.ed.gov/Pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=95029

- Dorais, M. (2004). Dead boys can't dance. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Dubé, E. M., & Savin-Williams, R. C. (1999). Sexual identity development among ethnic sexual-minority male youths. *Developmental Psychology*, 35, 1389-1398.
- DuBeau, T., & Emenheiser, D. E. (1999). Coming out resilient: Strategies to help gay and lesbian adolescents. *Reaching Today's Youth: The Community Circle of Caring Journal*, 3, 51-54.
- Dunham, K. L. (1989). Educated to be invisible: The gay and lesbian adolescent (pp. 1-10). Portland: University of Southern Maine.
- The Education Trust. (2007). What is The Education Trust? Retrieved April 2, 2008, from http://www2.edtrust.org/edtrust/about=the=ed=trust
- The Education Trust. (2003, Fall). National Center for Transforming School Counseling at the Education Trust: Announcing the new center! Retrieved from http://www.edtrust.org/dc/about
- Eliason, M. J., & Schope, R. (2007). Shifting sands or solid foundation? Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender identity formation. In I. H. Meyer and M. E. Northridge (Eds.), The health of sexual minorities: Public health perspectives on lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender populations (pp. 3-26). New York: Springer.
- Epidemiological Profile of HIV/AIDS in Michigan. (2006). Retrieved from http://www.michigan.gov/documents/mdch/2006_Profiles_Final_173945_7.pdf
- Erikson, E. (1963). Childhood and society (2nd ed.). New York: Norton.
- Evans, J. C. (1998). Sexuality issues: Confusion and challenges for children, youth, and professionals. *Reclaiming Children and Youth, 7, 2-4.*
- Fassinger, R. E., & Richie, B. S. (1997). Sex matters: Gender and sexual orientation in training for multicultural counseling competency. In D. B. Pope-Davis & H. L. K. Coleman (Eds.), *Multicultural counseling competencies: Assessment, education and training, and supervision* (pp. 83-110). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Fiegenbaum, E. F. (2007). Heterosexual privilege: The political and the personal. *Hypatia*, 22, 1-9.
- Fischer, D. (1995). Young, gay . . . and ignored? *Orana*, 31, 220-232.
- Flores v. Morgan Hill Unified School District, 324 F.3d 1130 (9th Cir. 2003).

- Floyd, F. J., & Stein, T. S. (2002). Sexual orientation identity formation among gay, lesbian, and bisexual youths: Multiple patterns of milestone experiences. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 12, 167-191.
- Fontaine, J. H. (1997). The sound of silence: Public school response to the needs of gay and lesbian youth. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services*, 7, 101-109.
- Fontaine, J. H. (1998). Evidencing a need: School counselors' experiences with gay and lesbian students. *Professional School Counseling*, 1, 8-14.
- Fontaine, J. H., & Hammond, N. L. (1996). Counseling issues with gay and lesbian adolescents. *Adolescence*, 31, 817-830.
- Fontana, A., & Frey, J. H. (2000). The interview: From structured questions to negotiated text. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 645-672). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Furman, W. (2002). The emerging field of adolescent romantic relationships. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 11, 177-180.
- Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network. (1999). GLSEN'S National School Climate Survey: Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender students and their experiences in school. Blackboard on-line: The Web site of the Gay, Lesbian, and Straight Education Network. Retrieved from http://www.glsen.org/pages/section/news/1999/sep/survey
- Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network (GLSEN). (2005a). Fifteen expensive reasons why safe schools legislation is in your state's best interest. New York: Author.
- Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network (GLSEN). (2005b). From teasing to torment: A report on school climate in Michigan. New York: Author.
- Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network. (2006, November 16). Outraged by Pennsylvania school board member's alleged use of gay slur. Retrieved June 5, 2007, from http://www.glsen.org/cgi-bin/iowa/all/library/record/2012.html
- Gay, Lesbian and Straight Teachers Network of Detroit (GLSTN-Detroit). (1996). Bruised bodies, bruised spirits: An assessment of the current climate of safety for gay, lesbian, ad bisexual youth in Southeastern Michigan schools (pp. 1-62). Report presented at a press conference in Birmingham, MI.
- Gay, Lesbian and Straight Teachers Network. (1994-1996). Just the facts: On gay, lesbian, and bisexual students and schools. New York: Author.

- Gibson, P. (1989). Gay and lesbian youth suicide. In Report of the Secretary's Task Force on Youth Suicide: Volume 3: Prevention and interventions in youth suicide (pp. 110-142). Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Ginsberg, R. W. (1998). Silenced voices inside our schools. *Initiatives*, 58, 1-15.
- Glover v. Williamsburg Local School District Board, 20 F. Supp. 2d 1160 (S.D. Ohio, 1998).
- Goldsmith, L. (1982). Freedom of information: A heterosexual privilege? *Gay Community News*, 9, p. 1.
- Graber, J. A., & Archibald, A. B. (2001). Psychosocial change at puberty and beyond: Understanding adolescent sexuality and sexual orientation. In A. R. D'Augelli & C. J. Patterson (Eds.), Lesbian, gay, and bisexual identities and youth: Psychological perspectives (pp. 155-180). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Greene, B. (1994). Ethnic minority lesbians and gay men: Mental health and treatment issues. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62, 243-251.
- Haldeman, D. C. (2000). Gender atypical youth: Clinical and social issues. *The School Psychology Review*, 29, 192-200.
- Harris Interactive & GLSEN. (2005). From teasing to torment: School climate in America, A survey of students and teachers. New York: GLSEN.
- Harris, M. B. (1997). School experiences of gay and lesbian youth. New York: Haworth Press.
- Henkle v. Gregory, 150 F.Supp. 2d 1067 (D. Nev., 2001).
- Henning-Stout, M., James, S. & Macintosh, S. (2000). Reducing harassment of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning youth in schools. *The School Psychology Review*, 29, 180-191.
- Herring, R. D., & Furgerson, K. (2000). Counseling issues with sexual minorities: An invisible minority school population. *The Online Journal*, 1, 1-18. Retrieved May 24, 2007, from http://www.aglbic.org/Q/Vol1Num1/Herring.htm
- Hershberger, S. L., & D'Augelli, A. R. (1995). The impact of victimization on the mental health and suicidality of lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth. *Developmental Psychology*, 31, 65-74.
- Hetrick, E. S., & Martin, A. D. (1987). Developmental issues and their resolution for gay and lesbian adolescents. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 41, 25-43.

- Holcomb-McCoy, C. (2007). School counseling to close the achievement gap. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Hollander, G. (2000). Questioning youths: Challenges to working with youths forming identities. *The School Psychology Review*, 29, 173-179.
- Howard, K. A. S., & Solberg, V. S. H. (2006). School-based social justice: The achieving success identity pathways program. *Professional School Counseling*, 9, 278-287.
- Huff, C. R., & Trump, K. S. (1996). Youth violence and gangs: School safety initiatives in urban and suburban school districts. *Education and Urban Society*, 28, 492-503.
- Human Rights Watch. (2001). Hatred in the hallways: Violence and discrimination against lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender students in U. S. schools. New York: Author.
- Ireland, D. (2000, January 31). Gay teens fight back. *The Nation, 270*, 21. Retrieved May 2, 2007, from http://find.galegroup.com/itx/printdoc.do?&prodId=ITOF&userGroupName= lom wmichu...
- Isay, R. A. (1996). Becoming gay: The journey to self-acceptance. New York: Henry Holt.
- Israel, T., & Selvidge, M. M. D. (2003). Contributions of multicultural counseling to counselor competence with lesbian, gay, and bisexual clients. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 31, 84-98.
- Jennings, K. (1995). What you can do: Ten steps toward ending homophobia in your school. New York: GLSTN.
- Jeremy Lovins and United States of America v. Pleasant Hill Public School District, R-III.
- Johnson, D. (1996). The developmental experience of gay and lesbian youth. *Journal of College Admission*, 152-153, 38-41.
- Jones, R. (2000). The new minority to protect under Title IX. *The Education Digest*, 65, 20-26.
- Jordan, K. M. (2000). Substance abuse among gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender, and questioning adolescents. *The School Psychology*, 29, 201-206.
- Just the Facts Coalition. (2008). Just the facts about sexual orientation and youth: A primer for principals, educators, and school personnel. Washington, DC: American

- Psychological Association. Retrieved from www.apa.org/pi/lgbc/publications/just thefacts.html
- Karslake, D. (Producer/Director). (2007). For the Bible tells me so [Motion Picture]. United States: First Run Features.
- Kenney, D. J., & Watson, S. T. (1996). Reducing fear in the schools: Managing conflict through student problem solving. *Education and Urban Society*, 28, 436-455.
- Kinsey, A. C., Pomeroy, W. B., & Martin, C. E. (1948). Sexual behavior in the human male. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders.
- Kiselica, M. S., & Robinson, M. (2001). Bringing advocacy counseling to life: The history, issues, and human dramas of social justice work in counseling. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 79, 387-397.
- Kissen, R. M. (1993). Listening to gay and lesbian teenagers. *Teaching Education*, 5, 57-68.
- Klein, J. (2006). Sexuality and school shootings: What role does teasing play in school massacres? *Journal of Homosexuality*, 51, 39-62.
- Knapp, H., & Kirk, S. A. (2003). Using paper and pencil, internet and touch tone phones for self-administered surveys: Does methodology matter? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 19, 117-134.
- Kosciw, J. G. (2004). The 2003 National School Climate Survey: The school-related experiences of our nation's lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth. New York: GLSEN.
- Kosciw, J. G., & Cullen, M. K. (2001). The GLSEN 2001 National School Climate Survey: The school-related experiences of our nation's lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender youth. New York: GLSEN.
- Kosciw, J. G., & Diaz, E. M. (2006). The 2005 National School Climate Survey: The experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgendered youth in our nation's schools. New York: GLSEN.
- Kosciw, J. G., Diaz, E. M., & Greytak, E. A. (2008). 2007 National School Climate Survey: The experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender youth in our nation's schools. New York: GLSEN.
- Kourany, R. F. C. (1987). Suicide among homosexual adolescents. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 13, 111-117.

- Kus, R. J. (1988). Alcoholism and non-acceptance of gay self: The critical link. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 15, 25-42.
- Laughlin, B. D. (2002). Assessment of the psychometric characteristics of an employee opinion survey and the use of web versus paper survey dissemination methodologies at a Fortune 500 company. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 62(9-B), 4259.
- Laumann, E. O., Gagnon, J., Michael, R. T., & Michaels, S. (1994). *The social organization of sexuality: Sexual practices in the United States*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Lebson, M. (2002). Suicide among homosexual youth. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 42, 107-117.
- Ledsky, S. M., Blake, R., Lehman, T., Goodenow, C., et al. (2001). Preventing sexual risk behaviors among gay, lesbian, and bisexual adolescents: The benefits of gaysensitive HIV instruction in schools. *American Journal of Public Health*, 6, 940-946.
- Lee, C. C. (1998). Counselors as agents for social change. In C. C. Lee & G. R. Walz, G. R. (Eds.), *Social action: A mandate for counselors* (pp. 3-16). Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.
- Lewis, I., Watson, B., & White, K. M. (2009, June). Internet versus paper-and-pencil survey methods in psychological experiments: Equivalence testing of participant responses to health-related messages. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 61, 107-116.
- Lock, J., & Steiner, H. (1999). Gay, lesbian, bisexual youth risks, for emotional, physical, and social problems: Results from a community-based survey. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 38, 297-304.
- Locke, D. C. (1979). Functions and competencies of counselors. *Journal of Counseling Services*, 3, 20-26.
- Logan, C. R. (1996). Homophobia? No, homoprejudice. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 3, 31-53.
- Loomis v. Visalia Unified School District (E.D. Cal.)
- Loukas, A., & Murphy, J. L. (2007). Middle school student perceptions of school climate: Examining protective functions on subsequent adjustment problems. *Journal of School Psychology*, 45, 293-309.

- Macgillivray, I. K. (2004). Gay rights and school policy: A case study in community factors that facilitate or impede educational change. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 17, 347-370.
- Macgillivray, I. K. (2000). Educational equity for gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgendered, and queer/questioning students: The demands of democracy and social justice for America's schools. *Education and Urban Society*, 32, 303-323.
- Malinsky, K. (1997). Learning to be invisible: Female sexual minority students in America's public schools. In M. B. Harris (Ed.), *School experiences of gay and lesbian youth: The invisible minority* (pp. 33-50). New York: Harrington Park Press/The Haworth Press.
- Mallon, G. P. (1999). Gay and lesbian adolescents and their families. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services*, 10, 69-88.
- Malyon, A. (1981). The homosexual adolescent: Developmental issues and social bias. *Child Welfare*, 60, 321-330.
- Marinoble, R. M. (1998). Homosexuality: A blind spot in the school mirror. *Professional School Counseling*, 1, 4-7.
- Mark Iversen v. Kent School District, et al, C97-1194 (U.S. District Court, Seattle, 1999).
- Marsiglio, W. (1993). Attitudes toward homosexual activity and gays as friends: A national survey of heterosexual 15- to 19-year-old males. *Journal of Sex Research*, 30, 12-17.
- Massey v. Banning Unified School District, 256 F. Supp. 2d 1090 (C.D. Cal 2003).
- McFarland, W. P. (1998). Gay, lesbian, and bisexual student suicide. *Professional School Counseling*, 1, 26-29.
- McFarland, W. P., & Dupuis, M. (2001). The legal duty to protect gay and lesbian students from violence in school. *Professional School Counseling*, 4, 171-179.
- Michigan Comprehensive Guidance and Counseling Program, MSCA. (2005). Retrieved from http://www.michigan.gov/mde/0,1607,7-140-38924 52164-212397--,00.html
- Michigan Department of Community Health. (2006). Retrieved from http://www.michigan.gov/mdch/1,1607,7-132-2944 5320 5331---,00.html
- Monier, S. S. (2000). School counselors and sexual minority students. *Q: The Online Journal*, *1*. Retrieved May 24, 2007, from http://www.aglbic.org/Q/Vol1Num1/Monier.htm

- Morley, E., & Rossman, S. B. (1996). Safe schools: Policies and practices. *Education and Urban Society*, 28, 478-491.
- Morrison, L. L., & L'Heureux, J. (2001). Suicide and gay/lesbian youth: Implications for clinicians. *Journal of Adolescence*, 24, 39-49.
- Morrison, T. G., Parriag, A. V., & Morrison, M. A. (1999). The psychometric properties of the homonegativity scale. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 37, 111-126.
- Mufioz-Plaza, C., Quinn, S. C., & Rounds, K. A. (2002, April/May). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender students: Perceived social support in the high school environment. *The High School Journal*, 85(4), 52-63.
- Nabozny v. Podlesny, 92 F.3d 446 (C.A. 7th Cir., 1996).
- National Gay Task Force. (1984). National Anti-Gay/Lesbian Victimization Report. New York: Author.
- Oesterreich, H. (2002). "Outing" social justice: Transforming civic education within the challenges of heteronormativity, heterosexism, and homophobia. *Theory and Research in Social Education*, 30, 287-301.
- Omizo, M. M., Omizo, S. A., & Okamoto, C. M. (1998). Gay and lesbian adolescents: A phenomenological study. *Professional School Counseling*, 1, 35-37.
- Orenstein, A. (2001). Substance use among gay and lesbian adolescents. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 41, 1-15.
- Paul, J. P. (1984). The bisexual identity: An idea without social recognition. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 9, 45-63.
- Pelsma, D., & Krieshok, T. (2003). School counseling. In M. A. Richard & W. G. Emener (Eds.), *I'm a people person: A guide to human service professions* (pp. 187-197). Springfield, IL: C. C. Thomas.
- Phillips, J. C., & Fischer, A. R. (1998). Graduate students' training experiences with lesbian, gay, and bisexual issues. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 26, 712-734.
- Pisha, S. (1996). Visible and proud. Harvard Educational Review, 66, 192-197.
- Pollock, S. L. (2006). Counselor roles in dealing with bullies and their LGBT victims. *Middle School Journal*, 38, 29-36.
- Ponse, B. (1978). *Identities in the lesbian world: The social construction of self.* London: Greenwood Press.

- Pope, M. (2003). Sexual minority youth in the schools: Issues of desirable counselor responses. St. Louis: University of Missouri–St. Louis.
- Powell, R. E. (1987). Homosexual behavior and the school counselor. *The School Counselor*, 34, 202-208.
- Price, J. H., & Telljohann, S. K. (1991). School counselors' perceptions of adolescent homosexuals. *Journal of School Health*, 61, 433-438.
- Prothrow-Stith, D. (1991). Deadly consequences (pp. 48-65). New York: Harper/Collins.
- Putnam v. Board of Education of Somerset Independent Schools, Et Al, C.A. No. 00-145.
- Ramelli and Donovan v. Poway Unified School District, San Diego Superior Court.
- Reed, D. B. (1992). Gay youth in American public high schools: Invisible diversity. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the University Council for Educational Administration, Minneapolis, MN.
- Reed, D. B. (1993). *High school gay youth: Invisible diversity*. Prepared for presentation at the 1993 annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Reed, D. B. (1994). *The sexualized context of American public schools*. Prepared for presentation at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, Louisiana.
- Regan, C., & Fogarty, K. (2006, October). *Understanding sexual minority adolescents* (pp. 1-5). Gainesville, FL: University of Florida.
- Remafedi, G., French, S., Story, M., Resnick, M. D., & Blum, R. (1998). The relationship between suicide risk and sexual orientation: Results in a population-based study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 1, 57-60.
- Remafedi, G., Resnick, M., Blum, R., & Harris, L. (1992). Demography of sexual orientation in adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 89, 714-721.
- Renold, E. (2002). Presumed innocence: (Hetero)sexual, heterosexist and homophobic harassment among primary school girls and boys. *Childhood*, 9, 415-434.
- Rhee, S. S., (2004). School violence victimization, coping, social support, and health-risk behaviors of lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth: A report of recent high school graduates. *Dissertation Abstracts International, Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 65, p. 450.
- Rich, A. (1980). Compulsory heterosexuality and lesbian existence. Signs, 5, 631-660.

- Ricketts, W. (1986). Homosexuality in adolescence: The reification of sexual personalities. *Journal of Social Work & Human Sexuality*, 5, 35-49.
- Rienzo, B. A. (1987). What can be learned from controversial sex education programs. Journal of Sex Education and Therapy, 13, 58-62.
- Rilla, L. (1998). Guidelines for a catechesis on human sexuality. Momentum, 29, 65-66.
- Rivers, I. (2000). Social exclusion, absenteeism, and sexual minority youth. Support for Learning, 15, 13-18.
- Robinson, A. (2007). Homosexual or homoattractional? Re-evaluating our terminology. *Connections*, 31, 7.
- Robinson, K. E. (1994). Addressing the needs of gay and lesbian students: The school counselor's role. *The School Counselor*, 41, 327-332.
- Robinson, L. H. (1980). Adolescent homosexual patterns: Psychodynamics and therapy. *Adolescent Psychiatry*, 8, 422-436.
- Roeser, R. W., Eccles, J. S., & Sameroff, A. J. (2000). School as a context of early adolescents' academic and social-emotional development: A summary of research findings. *The Elementary School Journal*, 100, 443-471.
- Rofes, E. (1989). Opening up the classroom closet: Responding to the educational needs of gay and lesbian youth, *Harvard Educational Review*, 59, 444-450.
- Ronald D. ex rel. Timothy D. v. Titusville Area School District, 159 F. Supp. 2d 857 (W.D. Pa., 2001).
- Rosario, M., Hunter, J., & Gwadz, M. (1997) Exploration of substance use among lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth: Prevalence and correlates. *Journal of Adolescence*, 12, 454–476.
- Rotheram-Borus, M. J., Gillis, J. R., Reid, H. M., Fernandez, M. I., & Gwadz, M. (1997). HIV testing, behaviors, and knowledge among adolescents at high risk. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 20, 206-225.
- Rotheram-Borus, M. J., Hunter, J., & Rosario, M. (1994). Suicidal behavior and gayrelated stress among gay and bisexual male adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 9, 498-508.
- Rotheram-Borus, M. J., Rosario, M., Meyer-Bahlburg, H. F. L., Koopman, C., Dopkins, S. C., et al. (1994). Sexual and substance use acts of gay and bisexual male adolescents in New York City. *Journal of Sex Research*, 31, 47-57.

- Rudolph, J. (1989). Effects of a workshop on mental health practitioners' attitudes toward homosexuality and counseling effectiveness. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 68, 81-85.
- Russell, S. T. (2003). Sexual minority youth and suicide risk. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 46, 1241-1257.
- Russell, S. T., & Joyner, K. (2001). Adolescent sexual orientation and suicide risk: Evidence from a national study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91, 1276-1281.
- Russell, T. G. (1989). AIDS education, homosexuality, and the counselor's role. *The School Counselor*, 36, 333-337.
- Ryan, C., & Futterman, D. (1997). Lesbian and gay youth: Care and counseling. Adolescent Medicine-State of the Art Reviews, 8, 221.
- Sadowski, M. (2001, September/October). Sexual minority students benefit from school-based support-where it exists. *Harvard Education Letter*. Retrieved May 24, 2007, from http://www.edletter.org/past/issues/2001-so/sexualminority.shtml
- Safe Schools Coalition of Washington. (1995). Safety Schools Anti-Violence Documentation Project. Seattle: Author.
- Safe Schools Coalition of Washington State. (1999). Safe Schools Report of the Anti-Violence Documentation. Seattle: Author.
- Safren, S. A., & Heimberg, R. G. (1999). Depression, hopelessness, suicidality, and related factors in sexual minority and heterosexual adolescents. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67, 859-866.
- Sanders, G. L., & Kroll, I. T. (2000). Generating stories of resilience: Helping gay and lesbian youth and their families. *Journal of Marriage and Family Therapy*, 26, 433-442.
- Sanders, S. A., Reinisch, J. M., & McWhirter, D. P. (1990).
 Homosexuality/Heterosexuality: An overview. In S. A. Sanders, J. M Reinisch, & D. P. McWhirter (Eds.), Homosexuality/
 Heterosexuality: Concepts of sexual orientation (pp. xviiii-xxvii). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Satcher, J., & Leggett, M. (2007). Homonegativity among professional school counselors: An exploratory study. *Professional School Counseling*, 11, 10-16.
- Savin-Williams, R. C. (1994). Verbal and physical abuse as stressors in the lives of lesbian, gay male, and bisexual youths: Associations with school problems, running

- away, substance abuse, prostitution, and suicide. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62, 261-269.
- Savin-Williams, R. C. (1995). An exploratory study of pubertal maturation timing and self- esteem among gay and bisexual male youths. *Developmental Psychology*, 31, 56-64.
- Savin-Williams, R. C., & Cohen, K. M. (2007). Development of same-sex attracted youth. In I. H. Meyer, & M. E. Northridge (Eds.) *The health of sexual minorities: Public health perspectives on lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender populations* (pp. 3-26). New York: Springer.
- Savin-Williams, R. C., & Diamond, L. M. (1999). Sexual orientation. In W. K. Silverman & T. H. Ollendick (Eds.), *Developmental issues in the clinical treatment of children* (pp. 241-258). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Sax, L. J., Gilmartin, S. K., Lee, J. J., & Hagedorn, L. S. (2003, May). Using Web surveys to reach community college students: An analysis of response rates and response bias. Paper presented at the 43rd Annual Meeting of the Association for Institutional Research, Tampa, FL.
- Schneider, S. G., Farberow, N. L., & Kruks, G. N. (1989). Suicidal behavior in adolescent and young adult gay men. Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 19, 381-394.
- Schwartz, W. (1994, October). Improving the school experience for gay, lesbian, and bisexual students. *ERIC Clearinghouse on Urban Education*, 101, 3-4.
- Sears, J. T. (1988, April). Attitudes, experiences, and feelings of guidance counselors in working with homosexual students: A report on the quality of school life for Southern gay and lesbian students. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Sears, J. T. (1991). Educators, homosexuality, and homosexual students: Are personal feelings related to professional beliefs? *Journal of Homosexuality*, 22, 29-79.
- Seattle Commission on Children and Youth. (1988). Report on gay and lesbian youth in Seattle. Seattle, WA: Department of Human Resources.
- Seidmann, S. N., & Rieder, R. O. (1994). A review of sexual behavior in the United States. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 151, 330-341.
- Setoodeh, R. (2008, July 28). Young, gay and murdered. Newsweek, pp. 40-46.
- Shaffer, D., Fisher, P., Parides, M., & Gould, M. (1995). Sexual orientation in adolescents who commit suicide. Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior, 25, 64-71.

- Shidlo, A., & Schroeder, M. (2002). Changing sexual orientation: A consumers' report. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 33, 249-259.
- Smith, M. A., & Leigh, B. (1997, November). Virtual subjects: Using the internet as an alternative source of subjects and research environment. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 29*, 496-505.
- Smith, S. D., Dermer, S. B., & Astramovich, R. L. (2005). Working with nonheterosexual youth to understand sexual identity development, at-risk behaviors, and implications for health care professionals. *Psychological Reports*, 96, 651-654.
- Snider, K. (1996). Race and sexual orientation: The (im)possibility of these intersections in educational policy. *Harvard Educational Review*, 66, 294-302.
- Stone, C. B. (2003/April). Counselors as advocates for gay, lesbian, and bisexual youth:

 A call for equity and action. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*,
 31, 143-155.
- Striepe, M. I., & Tolman, D. L. (2003). Mom, Dad, I'm straight: The coming out of gender ideologies in adolescent sexual-identity development. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 32, 523-530.
- Sue, D. W., Bernier, J. E., Durran, A., Feinberg, L., Pedersen, P., Smith, E. J., et al. (1982). Position paper: Cross-cultural counseling competencies. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 10, 45-52.
- Sullivan, M., & Wodarski, J. S. (2002). Social alienation in gay youth. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 5, 1-17.
- Tasker, F., & McCann, D. (1999). Affirming patterns of adolescent sexual identity: The challenge. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 21, 30-54.
- Telljohann, S. K., & Price, J. H. (1993). A qualitative examination of adolescent homosexuals' life experiences: Ramifications for secondary school personnel. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 26(1), 41-56.
- Tharinger, D., & Wells, G. (2000). An attachment perspective on the developmental challenges of gay and lesbian adolescents: The need for continuity of care giving from family and schools. *School Psychology Review*, 29, 158-172.
- Theno v. Tonganoxie Unified School District, No. 464, 2005 WL 3434016, (D. Kan. 2005).
- Thompson, S. J., & Johnston, L. (2003). Risk factors of gay, lesbian, and bisexual adolescents: Review of empirical literature and practice implications. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 8, 111-128.

- Thurlow, C. (2001). Naming the "outsider within": Homophobic pejoratives and the verbal abuse of lesbian, gay and bisexual high-school pupils. *Journal of Adolescence*, 24, 25-38.
- Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1681-1688.
- Tresniowski, A., Driscoll, A., Thomas, C., Helling, S., & Breuer, H. (2009). Two boys, two towns, two tragedies: Bullied to death? *People*, 71, 75-76.
- Troiden, R. R. (1989). The formation of homosexual identities. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 17, 43-73.
- Unks, G. (1993/1994). Thinking about the homosexual adolescents. *The High School Journal*. 77, 1-6.
- Uribe, V. (1994). The silent minority: Rethinking our commitment to gay and lesbian youth. *Theory Into Practice*, 33, 167-172.
- U. S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2007, November). Occupational employment projections to 2016. *Monthly Labor Review*. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/emp
- van Wormer, K., & McKinney, R. (2003). What schools can do to help gay/lesbian/bisexual youth: A harm reduction approach. *Adolescence*, 38, 409-420.
- van Wormer, K., Wells, J., & Boes, M. (2000). Social work with lesbian, gays, and bisexuals: A strengths perspective. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Varjas, K., Gray, E., Mahan, W., Meyers, J., Dew, B., Marshall, M., et al., (2007). Urban service providers' perspective on school responses to gay, lesbian, and questioning students: An exploratory study. *Professional School Counseling*, 11, 113-119
- Wallis, A., & VanEvery, J. (2000). Sexuality in the primary school. *Sexualities*, 3, 409-423.
- Webb, M. A. (2004). An examination of the protective properties of pre-adolescent gender role nonconforming behavior in the development of resilient lesbian young adults. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 64 (12-B) pp. 6360.
- Weiler, E. M. (2003). Making school safe for sexual minority students. *Principal Leadership Magazine*. Retrieved May 24, 2007, from http://www.nasponline.org/resources/principals/nassp_glbqt.aspx

- Weiler, E. M. (2004). Legally and morally, what our gay students must be given. *Educational Digest*, 69, 38-43.
- What is Title IX? Retrieved January 28, 2008, from http://www.american.edu/sadker/titleix.htm
- Witt, V., & Green, L. (2002). Reading, writing, and . . . sex education. *Principal*, 81, 32-33.
- Wu, P., Hoven, C. W., Liu, X., Cohen, P., Fuller, C. J., & Shaffer, D. (2004). Substance use, suicidal ideation and attempts in children and adolescents. *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior*, 34, 408-420.
- Zera, D. (1992). Coming of age in a heterosexist world: The development of gay and lesbian adolescents. *Adolescence*, 27, 849-854.